

Transcriptional analysis of the role of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes in acute neural herpes simplex virus infection

David C. Tscharke BSc (Hons)

Infectious Diseases Laboratories Institute of Medical and Veterinary Science

and

Department of Microbiology and Immunology University of Adelaide

Adelaide, SA, Australia

A thesis submitted to the University of Adelaide in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

April 1997



Dedicated to the memory of

Elfriede Muetzelfeldt

(1914 - 1996)

1 John 5:4 This is the victory... even our faith.

Contents

| Abstract | | v |
|-------------|---|-------------|
| Declaration | of Originality | vi |
| Acknowled | gements | / ii |
| Abbreviatio | ons vi | iii |
| Manuscript | s and Presentations Arising | xi |
| CHAPTER | 1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW | 1 |
| 1.1 Hernes | sviridae | 1 |
| 1.1.1 | General properties and characteristics | 1 |
| 1.1.2 | Alphaherpesvirinae | 2 |
| 1.1.3 | Betaherpesvirinae | 3 |
| 1.1.4 | Gammaherpesvirinae | 4 |
| 1.1.5 | Other comments on herpesvirus classification | 5 |
| 1.2 Herpe | s simplex virus (HSV) | 6 |
| 1.2.1 | History | 6 |
| 1.2.2 | Clinical aspects | 7 |
| 1.2.3 | Terminology associated with the genome, genes and proteins | 9 |
| 1.2.4 | The herpes simplex virus virion 1 | 10 |
| 1.2.5 | Productive replication cycle 1 | 12 |
| | 1.2.5.1 Virus attatchment, penetration and translocation to the nucleus | 12 |
| | 1.2.5.2 Viral gene expression 1 | 14 |
| | 1.2.5.3 Replication of the genome 1 | 15 |
| | 1.2.5.4 Virion assembly and egress 1 | 17 |
| 1.2.6 | HSV Pathogenesis 1 | 19 |
| | 1.2.6.1 Anatomy 1 | 19 |
| | 1.2.6.2 Primary infection | 20 |
| | 1.2.6.3 Latency and reactivation | 22 |
| | Structure of latent DNA | |
| | Latency associated transcripts | |
| | Does HSV DNA persist in a single form? | |
| | Latency outside of sensory ganglia | |
| | 1.2.6.4 Recurrence | 27 |
| 1.3 Immu | nity to herpes simplex virus infections | 28 |
| 1.3.1 | Non-adaptive defences | 30 |
| | 1.3.1.1 Macrophages | 30 |
| | 1.3.1.2 Neutrophils | 31 |
| | 1.3.1.3 Natural killer cells | 32 |

| | 1.3.1.4 α/β Interferon 3 | 33 |
|-----------|--|----|
| | 1.3.1.5 Genetics of natural resistance 3 | 33 |
| 1.3.2 | Humoral immunity | 34 |
| | 1.3.2.1 Role of antibody in HSV infections | 34 |
| | 1.3.2.2 Functions of non-neutralizing anti-HSV antibody | 36 |
| | 1.3.2.3 Antibody in human HSV infections | 38 |
| 1.3.3 | T lymphocyte mediated immunity | 39 |
| | 1.3.3.1 Major histocompatibility complex: T cell subsets and their | |
| | regulation | 40 |
| | 1.3.3.2 Relative roles of HSV-specific CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes | 43 |
| | 1.3.3.3 Analysis of HSV-specific T lymphocytes by function | 44 |
| | Delayed type hypersensitivity | |
| | Cytotoxic T lymphocytes | |
| | Other functions of HSV-specific T lymphocytes. | |
| | 1.3.3.4 The role of cytokines and helper T cell subsets | 53 |
| | 1.3.3.6 T lymphocytes and ganglionic HSV infections | 55 |
| | | |
| 1.4 Aims | | 58 |
| | | |
| | | 50 |
| CHAPTER | 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 39 |
| | | 59 |
| 2.1 Mater | ials | 59 |
| 2.1.1 | Mice | 59 |
| 2.1.2 | Virus | 60 |
| 2.1.3 | Anti-CD8 monocional antibody | 60 |
| 2.1.4 | Oligonucleotides | 61 |
| 2.1.5 | Solutions, gel mixes and miscentaneous reagents | 01 |
| 2.2 Mathe | ode | 66 |
| 2.2 Metho | Inoculation of mice | 66 |
| 2.2.1 | 2.2.1.1.7 osteriform model | 66 |
| | 2.2.1.1 Zostemenn model | 67 |
| 222 | In vive depletion of CD8 ⁺ cells by anti-CD8 treatment | 67 |
| 2.2.2 | Removal of tissue samples from mice | 68 |
| 2.2.3 | 2.2.3.1 Sensory ganglia | 68 |
| | 2.2.3.1 Densory gauging in the second s | 68 |
| | 2.2.3.2 Druming tympi nodes to the termination of term | 68 |
| 224 | Extraction of RNA | 69 |
| 2.2.+ | DNase treatment of RNA samples | 70 |
| 2.2.5 | RT-PCR to detect known mRNAs | 70 |
| 2.2.0 | Polyacrylamide minigel electrophoresis and electroblotting | 72 |
| 2.2.7 | Dot blotting | 73 |
| 2.2.0 | Generation of radio-labelled DNA probes | 74 |
| 2.2.9 | 2 2 9 1 Oligonucleotide probes | 74 |
| | 2 2 9 2 R andom primed probes | 75 |
| 2210 | DNA hybridizations with oligonucleotide probes | 76 |
| 2.2.10 | DNA hybridizations with random primed probes | 77 |

| 2.2.12 Northern blot hybridization | 78 78 30 81 81 84 86 86 86 87 88 88 |
|--|--|
| 2.2.10.5 DIVA sequence construction and database searcher in a sequence construction and database searcher is a sequence searcher is a sequence searcher is a sequence searcher is a seq | 90 |
| CHAPTER 3. EFFECT OF DEPLETING CD8 ⁺ CELLS ON CYTOKIN mRNA LEVELS IN HSV INFECTED GANGLIA | VE 92 |
| 3.1 Generation of experimental material | 93 |
| 3.2 Development of a semi-quantitative RT-PCR method | 93 |
| 3.3 Cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia | 95 |
| 3.4 Verification of CD8 ⁺ cell depletion | 96 |
| 3.5 CD8 ⁺ cell depletion increases HSV replication | 97 |
| 3.6 CD8 ⁺ cell depletion alters cytokine mRNA levels in HSV infected ganglia | 98 |
| 3.7 Cytokine expression five days after infection | 99 |
| 3.8 Discussion | 100 |
| CHAPTER 4. DEVELOPMENT AND VERIFICATION OF mR DIFFERENTIAL DISPLAY | NA 105 |
| 4.1 Basis of DD and considerations on the choice of primers | 106 |
| 4.2 Choice of gels for use in DD | 108 |
| 4.2 Optimization of RT-PCR conditions for DD | 111 |
| 4.3 Reliability of DD | 113 |
| 4.4 Cloning differentially displayed cDNAs | 115 |
| | |

| 4.4.1 The "shot gun" approach | 115 117 119 | |
|---|--------------------------|--|
| 4.5 Validation of DD in an <i>in vivo</i> setting 122 | | |
| 4.6 Summary | 124 | |
| CHAPTER 5. AN mRNA DIFFERENTIAL DISPLAY BASED ANALY OF THE ROLE OF CD8 ⁺ T CELLS IN HSV INFECT SENSORY GANGLIA | SIS ED 125 | |
| 5.1 Differential display of RNA from HSV infected ganglia of immunocompe and CD8 ⁺ cell depleted mice | etent 125 | |
| 5.2 Northern blot analyses based on DD clones | 126 126 129 | |
| 5.3 DNA sequence analyses of DD clones | 129 | |
| 5.4 Discussion | 131 | |
| CHAPTER 6. CONCLUDING DISCUSSION | 136 | |
| References | 141 | |

Abstract

CD8⁺ T cells have a crucial role in clearance of herpes simplex virus (HSV) from the peripheral nervous systems of infected mice, but the mechanism of this protection is not known. To approach this problem, comparative transcriptional analyses of sensory ganglia from (i) HSV infected immunocompetent mice and (ii) HSV infected mice depleted of CD8⁺ cells were done. Two types of analysis were undertaken. The first was directed at mRNAs encoding molecules of known importance in immunity and the second utilized mRNA differential display, a non-directed method for identifying differentially expressed genes. The directed analyses examined the effect of CD8⁺ cell depletion on IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10 and IFN- γ mRNA levels in ganglia of mice at the peak (day five) or the recovery phase (day seven) of HSV infection. Transcription of each cytokine tested was upregulated in sensory ganglia in response to HSV infection. IL-4 mRNA levels were increased by the depletion of CD8⁺ cells both at day five and day seven, raising the possibility that overexpression of IL-4 may be detrimental to clearance of HSV. IL-2 and IL-6 mRNAs were more abundant in the CD8⁺ cell depleted mice at day five and day seven, respectively. The remaining cytokine transcripts were not significantly affected by CD8⁺ cell depletion. Notably, mRNA for IFN- γ , a candidate effector of CD8⁺ T cell function, was not altered. An mRNA differential display based analysis was developed, with the aim of detecting transcripts whose abundance in HSV infected sensory ganglia is dependent on the presence (or absence) of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. Nine such mRNAs were found and partial cDNAs of five of these were cloned. Northern blotting confirmed that two of the differential display clones, designated CC28 and CT03, represented mRNAs that were more abundant in HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent mice compared with CD8⁺ cell depleted mice. Nucleic acid sequence analyses disclosed that CC28 contains an as yet unreported sequence and CT03 is likely to represent mRNA for the α subunit of G_{olf}, a heterotrimeric G protein, not found before in sensory nerve ganglia.

Declaration of Originality

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I consent to this thesis being made available for loan and photocopying.

David C. Tscharke



Acknowledgements

My thanks goes firstly to my supervisor, Dr Tony Simmons, for his encouragement, teaching, guidance and support during my PhD candidature, and for fostering my interest in research from the day I wandered into his laboratory as an undergraduate, seven years ago.

I acknowledge the enormous impression made on me and my approach to science and life in general, by everyone who has worked in the Herpesvirus Research Laboratory over the last four years. I also thank them for their help, much of which I am sure I took for granted. My working environment was enhanced by many people in the Division of Medical Virology (now known as the Infectious Diseases Laboratorics). I am especially grateful for the support and friendship of Jane Arthur, Charli Bayley, Rory Bowden, Adam Davis, John Karlis and Lidia Mathews.

A number of individuals and groups made direct contributions to this thesis or the work therein. I acknowledge the assistance of: Mark Fitz-Gerald and Peta Grant of the IMVS photographic unit, for digitizing images and printing figures; the staff of the basement animal house, IMVS, for looking after my mice and rats; and Lidia Mathews, for growing and titrating virus working stocks, organizing numerous bits and pieces and for proof reading. I thank all the people who have taken the time to teach me, or share their knowledge. In addition, I thank the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) of Australia for funding me via a Dora Lush (Biomedical) Postgraduate Research Scholarship.

My deepest gratitude goes to my family and particularly my parents for their love, encouragement, patience and understanding. I also thank my friends for their support, friendship and for bringing me back to the real world occasionally.

Solo Deo Gratia

Abbreviations

| ~ | approximately |
|----------------|---|
| > | greater than |
| < | less than |
| ⁰ C | degrees Celsius |
| Ab | antibody |
| ADCC | antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity |
| AIDS | acquired immune deficiency syndrome |
| α/β IFN | α and β interferon |
| bp | base pair |
| CD | cluster of differentiation (eg. CD8) |
| cDNA | complementary DNA |
| Ci | curie |
| CMV | cytomegalovirus |
| CNS | central nervous system |
| CPM | counts per minute |
| CRE | cAMP responsive element |
| CTL | cytotoxic T lymphocyte |
| dATP | deoxyadenosine-5'-triphosphate |
| dCTP | deoxycytidine-5'-triphosphate |
| DD | mRNA differential display |
| dGTP | deoxyguanosine-5'-triphosphate |
| DNA | deoxyribonucleic acid |
| dNTP | deoxynucleotide, either dATP, dCTP, dGTP or dTTP |
| DTH | delayed type hypersensitivity |
| DTT | dithiothreitol |
| dTTP | deoxythymidine-5'-triphosphate |
| EBV | Epstein-Barr virus |
| EDTA | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| G+C (%) | guanosine and cytosine content in a nucleic acid sequence |
| g/1 | gram per litre |
| GAPDH | glyceradehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase |

viii

| H-2 | murine major histocompatibility complex |
|---------------|--|
| hr | hour |
| HSV | herpes simplex virus |
| HSV pol | HSV polymerase |
| HSV-1 (or -2) | herpes simplex virus type 1 (or type 2) |
| ICP | infected cell polypeptide (eg. ICP4) |
| ICTV | International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses |
| IFN-γ | interferon-y |
| Ig | immunoglobulin |
| IL | interleukin (eg. IL-2 = interleukin-2) |
| kb | kilobase pair |
| LATs | latency associated transcripts |
| Μ | moles per litre (molar) |
| mA | milliamperes |
| mAb | monoclonal Ab |
| mg | milligram |
| MHC | major histocompatibility complex |
| min | minute |
| ml | millilitre |
| mm | millimetre |
| mM | millimole per litre (millimolar) |
| mmol | millimol |
| mol | moles |
| MOPS | 3-[N-Morpholino] propanesulphonic acid |
| mRNA | messenger RNA |
| μCi | microcurie |
| μg | microgram |
| μl | microlitre |
| μΜ | micromole per litre (micromolar) |
| NCBI | National Centre for Biological Information (USA) |
| ng | nanogram |
| NK cells | natural killer cells |

ix

| nm | nanometre |
|----------|--------------------------------------|
| OD | optical density |
| ORF | open reading frame |
| PBS | phosphate buffered saline |
| PCR | polymerase chain reaction |
| pfu | plaque forming units |
| pmol | picomole |
| ® | registered trademark |
| RNA | ribonucleic acid |
| rRNA | ribosomal RNA |
| RT | reverse transcription |
| SDS | sodium dodecylsulphate |
| sec | second |
| TCR | T cell receptor |
| TEMED | N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine |
| Th cells | helper T cells |
| Th1 | type 1 helper T cells |
| Th2 | type 2 helper T cells |
| TNF | tumour necrosis factor |
| Tris | Tris(hydroxymethyl)Aminomethane |
| u | units |
| UV | ultraviolet |
| v | version |
| V | Volts |
| VP | virion polypeptide (eg. VP16) |
| W | Watts |
| www | world wide web |
| ×g | times gravity |

Manuscripts and Presentations Arising

Manuscripts in preparation:

Tscharke DC, Simmons A. A strategy for purifying and cloning differential display cDNAs.

Tscharke DC, Simmons A. Use of differential display to study anti-viral CD8⁺ T lymphocyte function in sensory nerve ganglia.

Tscharke DC, Simmons A. CD8⁺ cell depletion alters cytokine gene expression in the peripheral nervous systems of herpes simplex virus infected mice.

Conference presentations:

D. Tscharke and A. Simmons. Detection of mRNA transcripts associated with CD8⁺ T cell activity in the peripheral nervous systems of HSV infected mice, using RT-PCR based differential display. Poster presented at the 19th International Herpesvirus Workshop, Vancouver, Canada, 1994.

D. Tscharke, A. Simmons. CD8⁺ cell depletion alters cytokine gene expression in the peripheral nervous systems of herpes simplex virus infected mice. Poster presented at the First Congress of the Federation of Immunological Societies of Asia-Oceania (FIMSA), Adelaide, Australia, 1996.

D. Tscharke, R. Wilkinson and A. Simmons. mRNA differential display identifies a novel cellular transcript modulated by CD8⁺ T cells in HSV infected sensory ganglia. Abstract submitted for presentation at the 22nd International Herpesvirus Workshop, San Diego, CA, USA, 1997.

1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW



1.1 Herpesviridae

Herpesviruses are a diverse family of viruses, whose members can be found associated with at least one species in all of the vertebrate classes. The first herpesvirus probably arose relatively early in evolutionary history as evidenced by the complex relationships between current herpesviruses and their natural hosts, indicative of long periods of co-evolution, and the wide distribution of this family of viruses amongst vertebrates.

1.1.1 General properties and characteristics

The current criteria for inclusion of a virus into the family *Herpesviridae*, as defined by the Sixth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), is largely based on virion morphology (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). Distinguishing features of herpesvirus virions include (i) a core containing a linear double stranded DNA genome of at least 120 kb (Furlong *et al.*, 1972); (ii) an icosahedral capsid surrounding the core comprised of 162 capsomers and approximately 100 nm in diameter (Wildy and Watson, 1963); (iii) a lipid envelope derived from the host cell and containing viral proteins (Stannard *et al.*, 1987); and (iv) an amorphous material composed of viral proteins existing between the capsid and the envelope termed the tegument (Morgan *et al.*, 1968).

In addition to the virion architecture, herpesviruses share a number of other biological properties. These include replication in the nucleus of an infected cell using a wide range

of virally encoded enzymes, a lytic infection cycle *in vitro* and the ability to establish and maintain a latent infection, which is characterized by highly restricted viral gene expression, in infected hosts (Roizman *et al.*, 1995).

98 17

The ICTV has further subdivided the family *Herpesviridae* into three subfamilies, *alphaherpesvirinae*, *betaherpesvirinae* and *gammaherpesvirinae*, based on biological properties. A formal binomial nomenclature for the herpesviridae is not used and the current convention is that herpesviruses are named according to their natural host, followed by the virus family (or in some cases sub-family) name and finally an arabic number assigned according to the chronology of isolation (Roizman, 1996). Despite this convention, where they exist, common names for herpesviruses are still widely in use (for example, human herpesvirus 1 is generally referred to as herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1), ictalurid herpesvirus 1 is more commonly called channel catfish herpesvirus).

1.1.2 Alphaherpesvirinae

Alphaherpesviruses infect a broad range of hosts, have a rapid replication cycle and spread quickly in culture. In addition these agents are able to establish latent infections in sensory ganglia. There are as yet no genetic attributes that distinguish this sub-family (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). These viruses have a preference for growth in cells of ectodermal origin, which predominate in a variety of tissues including skin, pharyngeal and genital mucosa, nervous system, eyes and adrenal medulla, but may grow in many cell types under appropriate conditions (Wildy *et al.*, 1982).

2

There are two genera in the subfamily, *Simplexvirus* and *Varicellovirus*, each with a distinctive genome structure and different disease progressions. *Simplexviruses*, the type species of which is HSV-1, generally cause primary disease at the inoculated skin or mucosal surface, followed by spread to the peripheral nervous system where latency is established. Thereafter, latency may be interrupted by sporadic reactivation of productive infection. Human diseases caused by viruses in this genus include lesions commonly termed "cold sores" and genital herpes. *Varicelloviruses*, of which varicella-zoster virus (or human herpesvirus 3) is the type species, cause disseminated primary infections, but recurrences are restricted to a single dermatome. In human varicella-zoster virus infections, the primary and recurrent diseases are more commonly known as "chicken pox" and "shingles", respectively.

1.1.3 Betaherpesvirinae

In contrast to the alphaherpesviruses, members of the subfamily *betaherpesvirinae* have a highly restricted host range, a long replication cycle and their infections in culture progress slowly. This subfamily of viruses can persist in a latent state in lymphoreticular cells and sometimes in secretory glands and kidneys (Wright, 1973; Roizman *et al.*, 1995).

Three genera, *Cryptomegalovirus*, *Muromegalovirus* and *Roseolovirus*, have been defined on the basis of genome structure and in the case of the latter, an ability to be isolated from lymphocytes. According to the latest report of the ICTV, each genus has only a single member assigned to it. Species of *Cryptomegalovirus* and *Roseolovirus* are able to cause human diseases, these viruses are cytomegalovirus (CMV or human herpesvirus 5) and human herpesvirus 6 respectively (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). A recently defined herpesvirus, human herpesvirus 7, which is very similar to human herpesvirus six, is unofficially considered to be a member of the *Roseolovirus* genus. Human infections with these virus are generally subclinical, however where the host is immunocompromised the consequences may be grave. Another clinical problem caused by a betaherpesvirus is congenital malformation of babies born to mothers following an episode of productive cytomegalovirus infection during pregnancy.

1.1.4 Gammaherpesvirinae

The one feature that all gammaherpesviruses have in common is the ability to replicate in lymphoblastoid cells *in vitro*. Generally either B or T lymphocytes can be infected by these viruses, but rarely both, and such lymphocytic infections may be non-productive. Gammaherpesviruses like betaherpesviruses, have a narrow host range, often restricted to the family or order of which the natural host is a member (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). Latency is frequently established in lymphoid tissue and may require limited viral gene expression to maintain the genome as a circular episome (Adams and Lindahl, 1975).

The subfamily *gammaherpesvirinae* has two genera, *Lymphocryptovirus* and *Rhadinovirus*. Each has a characteristic genome structure and the former can establish latent infections in B lymphocytes, but this property is not exclusive (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). The type species of the genus *Lymphocryptovirus* is human herpesvirus 4, also known as Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), and is a common cause of infectious mononucleosis or "glandular fever" in humans (Henle *et al.*, 1968). EBV is also associated with two human cancers, Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma and can immortalize cells in culture (Pattengale *et al.*, 1973), indicating a possible etiological link between EBV and neoplasia. The genus *Rhadinovirus* has a single member, ateline herpesvirus 2, the natural host of which is a species of New World monkey. A newly identified herpesvirus, human herpesvirus 8 (also known as Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus), is also considered to be a gammaherpesvirus.

1.1.5 Other comments on herpesvirus classification

In original classifications of herpesviruses, the definition of groups was dependent on clinical findings and these groupings were modified to incorporate the physicochemical properties of virions, after techniques such as electron microscopy became available. With the vast amount of work done to characterize the biological properties and ultimately the genomes of many herpesviruses, their taxonomy has become more refined. In the most recent report of the ICTV, the subdivision of herpesviruses is based both on biological properties and DNA sequence data, but in a few cases these sets of information do not agree. Arriving at workable decisions about how such ambiguities are best resolved is a challenge which faces all contemporary taxonomists. In addition to the many herpesviruses that have been definitely assigned and others which remain unassigned at either the subfamily or genus levels. The number of these viruses is likely to remain high because, while new data about many viruses will allow their assignment, still more hitherto unknown herpesviruses will be discovered.

5

1.2 Herpes simplex virus (HSV)

Based originally on serology, two subtypes of herpes simplex virus, type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2), have been defined (Schneweis, 1962). The formal designations of HSV-1 and 2 are human herpes virus 1 and 2 respectively, and they are in the *alphaherpesvirinae* subfamily and the *Simplexvirus* genus (Roizman *et al.*, 1995). The two types of HSV produce very similar infections *in vivo* and *in vitro* and their genomes have approximately 50% homology (Kieff *et al.*, 1972). Herpes simplex viruses are the only human herpesvirus to include the term "herpes" in their common name, and in 1970 when herpesviruses as a group were assigned the taxonomic rank of genus, HSV-1 was the type species for the entire group (Wildy, 1973).

ŧŝ.

1.2.1 History

"Herpes" has been known as a medical term for at least two and a half millennia, but over that time has been used to describe a variety of skin conditions (Beswick, 1962). The original form of the word was the Greek, $\epsilon \rho \pi \eta s$, the meaning of which translates as "the creep", and was used to refer to spreading skin diseases. According to Wildy, the current usage of the term was probably established by Willan and Bateman in 1814 in a book entitled *A practical synopsis of cutaneous diseases according to the arrangement of Dr. Willan* (Wildy, 1973). The first experimental transmission of a herpes simplex virus was to humans by Vidal in 1873 and transfer to another species was first achieved by Grüter, using the cornea of rabbits, in 1911. Nearly 30 years was to elapse before Burnet and Williams published their seminal article in which they proposed the current paradigm of HSV pathogenesis (Burnet and Williams, 1939). Stated briefly, the proposal was that, following primary infection, HSV remains quiescent in the body between sporadic recurrences of disease. In the same article, Burnet and Williams noted the paradox of recurrent herpetic disease occurring in the face of well developed anti-HSV immunity, still a relevant issue today.

1.2.2 Clinical aspects

HSV disease is endemic in every nation on earth and is highly prevalent in most, if not all communities. The large number of people affected by HSV makes it a highly significant pathogen. Primary infection commonly occurs in the first three years of life and is the result of close physical contact with another person, themselves undergoing an acute infection (primary or recurrent), which is not necessarily clinically apparent. HSV was isolated from nearly 1% of all pregnant women and nursery staff at a single time in one report (Hatherly *et al.*, 1980); and a recent study of over 100 women with known genital herpes reported that nearly 51% of this population had shed virus asymptomatically at some time in an approximately 100 day period (Wald *et al.*, 1995).

The most common diseases caused by HSV of either type are primary and recurrent orofacial and genital lesions. HSV-1 and HSV-2 tend to be associated with infections around the mouth and genitalia, respectively, but these associations are far from exclusive. HSV has the ability to cause a variety of other infections when the skin barrier is broken, examples of which include herpetic whitlow, an infection under the fingernail and herpes gladiatorum which presents as a rash on the trunk, temple, ear or forehead and is most prevalent among wrestlers and rugby players (Becker, 1992). Although these conditions cause much morbidity, there are a number of much more severe infections caused by HSV. Herpetic keratitis may lead to blindness as a result of recurrent episodes of corneal scarring (Pavan-Langston, 1984) and is thought to have a significant immunopathological component (Missotten, 1994; Babu *et al.*, 1995). Neonates infected *in utero*, or more commonly in the birth canal, may develop disseminated HSV infections with a fatal outcome because their poorly developed immune systems fail to adequately fight the viral challenge (Stagno and Whitley, 1985). Perhaps the least understood complication of herpes simplex is herpes encephalitis, which strikes unpredictably during primary or recurrent infections and is rapidly fatal unless treated promptly (Whitley *et al.*, 1982). In addition to these syndromes, severe herpetic diseases in immunocompromised patients (Whittaker and Hardson, 1978; Whorton *et al.*, 1983) are clinical issues of growing importance, owing to the current prevalence of AIDS, and increasing numbers of individuals (eg. transplant recipients) undergoing treatments requiring immunosuppression.

A development which had a massive impact on the way HSV diseases are treated was the discovery of the antiherpetic agent, 9-(2-hydroxyethoxymethyl)guanine, also known as acyclovir (Elion *et al.*, 1977; Schaeffer *et al.*, 1978). Acyclovir is a nucleoside analogue that, when converted to its active form by a virally encoded enzyme (thymidine kinase), is able to terminate HSV DNA replication (Elion *et al.*, 1977). The use of this drug has saved countless lives from otherwise fatal herpes infections and reduced the suffering of many people with recurrent lesions. Unfortunately, acyclovir is not a panacea. In most cases it must be administered at the very onset of clinical symptoms to be of value and acyclovir resistant viral mutants have already been described (Coen and Schaffer, 1980; Crumpacker

et al., 1982; Coen, 1994; Hwang et al., 1994). Further, patients rescued from herpes encephalitis with acyclovir may not escape permanent neural damage (Barthez Carpentier et al., 1995).

1.2.3 Terminology associated with the genome, genes and proteins

The approximately 152 kb genome is divided into two segments, termed long and short (L and S), which are roughly 126 kb and 26 kb respectively. Both segments comprise unique regions of DNA, designated U_L and U_S , flanked by inverted repeats designated *ab* and *b'a'* for U_L , and *a'c'* and *ca* for U_S ; the "*a*" sequences are reiterated at the junction of the L and S segments and at the terminus of L, the number of iterations being different in different HSV strains (Sheldrick and Berthelot, 1974; Wadsworth *et al.*, 1975). The orientations of the long and short segments invert with respect to each other during virus replication, giving rise to four isomers which are equally abundant in all virus preparations (Hayward *et al.*, 1975; Clements *et al.*, 1976; Delius and Clements, 1976). The entire DNA sequence for one strain (strain 17) is known (GenBank accession X14112, (McGeoch *et al.*, 1985; McGeoch *et al.*, 1988; Perry and McGeoch, 1988; Dolan *et al.*, 1992)) and at least 80 genes or transcription units have identified (Roizman and Sears, 1996).

HSV open reading frames are numbered sequentially in the unique regions, and are referred to according to segment and number (eg. the gene encoding thymidine kinase is U_L23); genes in the repeats, being diploid, are generally named after their protein product (McGeoch and Schaffer, 1993; Roizman and Sears, 1996). Gene expression, at least in cell culture, follows an ordered pattern leading to alternate classification systems, in which genes are divided into classes with similar expression kinetics. Three main classes are defined, α (immediate early, IE) which are mainly regulatory genes; β (early, E) whose expression is dependant on α gene expression and are largely involved viral DNA replication; and γ (late, L) whose expression is dependent on viral DNA replication and generally encode virion structural proteins (Honess and Roizman, 1974). Some genes, especially those in the repeat regions, are more commonly referred to by their kinetic class and a number (eg. α 4). HSV proteins are often referred to with descriptive names related to function. Various nomenclatures have also been used and current convention is: non-glycosylated proteins present in the virion are designated VP (virion polypeptide) followed by a number; proteins found in infected cells are designated ICP (infected cell polypeptide) followed by a number; and glycoproteins by g and a capitalized letter (for example, VP16, ICP36 and gB respectively) (McGeoch and Schaffer, 1993; Roizman and Sears, 1996).

1.2.4 The herpes simplex virus virion

HSV has a characteristic virion structure shared by all herpesviruses, comprising a DNA core covered by a proteinaceous capsid that in turn is covered by an envelope; the space between the capsid and envelope is filled with proteins and is termed the tegument. At least 33 viral genes encode structural components of the virion, and some of these genes contribute more than one protein product to the virion (Haarr and Skulstad, 1994).

The core is composed mainly, if not entirely, of the DNA genome which has a G+C content of 68-69% and is predominantly linear and double stranded (Becker *et al.*, 1968; Kieff *et*

al., 1971; McGeoch *et al.*, 1988; Rixon, 1993). The exact conformation assumed by the genome in a mature virion is not known. One hypothesis is that the DNA is wound around a chemical plug (Furlong *et al.*, 1972), but recently Booy *et al* (1991) used computer enhanced cryoelectron microscopy to visualize the core and found no evidence for substances other than DNA.

Seven HSV proteins are thought to exist in natural capsids, but synthetic capsids can be assembled in a cell free system using only 5 proteins, VP5, VP19, VP23, VP22a, and the $U_L 26$ protease (Rixon, 1993; Newcomb *et al.*, 1994). Studies using viral mutants and degradative analyses of virions, indicate that VP5 is the major constituent of HSV capsomers, the basic units from which capsids are built (Weller *et al.*, 1987; Newcomb and Brown, 1989; Desai *et al.*, 1993).

The tegument contains at least as many proteins as the capsid and provides a source of viral products that can function as soon as the virus penetrates a new host cell. Some tegument proteins have had functions assigned to them while others remain less well understood. Examples of tegument proteins include, VP16, a transactivator of α gene expression (Stern *et al.*, 1989; O'Hare, 1993; Wu *et al.*, 1994); the product of U_L41, known as the virion host shut off (vhs) factor, which destabilizes mRNAs, reducing host protein synthesis (Nishioka and Silverstein, 1977; Read and Frenkel, 1983; Kwong and Frenkel, 1987; Kwong *et al.*, 1988); and VP18.8, a protein kinase capable of self phosphorylation but of unknown function (Cunningham *et al.*, 1992).

HSV acquires the lipid component of its envelope from the host cell and at least seven viral

glycoproteins are known to be inserted into the HSV-1 membrane (Stannard *et al.*, 1987; Spear, 1993). Three of these, gB, gD and gH, are essential for virus growth in culture and the majority are required for full infectivity *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Spear, 1993; Dingwell *et al.*, 1995; Roizman and Sears, 1996). Viral glycoproteins have long been considered important targets for immune recognition, for example antibodies raised against gB, gC, gD, gE, gH and gI are all able to neutralize virus infectivity (Simmons and Nash, 1985; Gompels and Minson, 1986; Eis-Hübinger *et al.*, 1993; Sanchez Pescador *et al.*, 1993; Burioni *et al.*, 1994; Ghiasi *et al.*, 1994).

1.2.5 Productive replication cycle

HSV grows rapidly in culture and the processes involved have been studied using many tools including electron microscopy, viral and cellular mutants and chemicals that block specific cellular functions. It is generally assumed that the mechanisms revealed by analysis of HSV infected cultures are reflected in all HSV-cell interactions, but there is evidence that this may not be the case for neurons *in vivo* (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). The replication of HSV can be broken into four main stages, namely (i) virus attatchment, penetration and translocation of nucleocapsids and tegument proteins to the nucleus, (ii) viral gene expression, (iii) replication of the genome, and (iv) virion assembly and egress.

1.2.5.1 Virus attatchment, penetration and translocation to the nucleus

Heparan sulphate moieties are the primary, but not exclusive, receptors for HSV and their almost ubiquitous distribution across cell types helps to explain the wide host range of the

virus (Wudunn and Spear, 1989; Shieh et al., 1992; Gruenheid et al., 1993). A variety of evidence implicates gC in the binding of HSV to cells via Heparan sulphate (Campadelli-Fiume et al., 1990; Herold et al., 1991). In spite of the apparent importance of gC for attachment of wild type HSV to cells, mutants devoid of gC retain infectivity, albeit at a much reduced efficiency. The mechanism of gC independent attachment of HSV is not known, but interactions between gD and Heparan sulphate residues (Herold et al., 1994) or another receptor (Johnson and Ligas, 1988) have been suggested. Following attachment, fusion between viral and cellular membranes occurs, releasing the tegument coated nucleocapsid into the cell (Morgan et al., 1968; Johnson et al., 1984). Studies with neutralizing antibodies and viral mutants have disclosed that three viral glycoproteins, gB, gD and gH are required for penetration (Sarmiento et al., 1979; Little et al., 1981; Fuller and Spear, 1987; Highlander et al., 1987; Cai et al., 1988; Desai et al., 1988; Ligas and Johnson, 1988; Fuller et al., 1989; Forrester et al., 1992). In addition to direct fusion, HSV can be endocytosed, but it is not known whether this mode of entry can lead to a productive infection (Holmes and Watson, 1961; Campadelli-Fiume et al., 1988). Having entered a cell, the nucleocapsid and at least some of the tegument proteins are transported to the nucleus where HSV replicates. Transport across the cytoplasm is most likely mediated by cellular cytoskeletal components (Kristensson et al., 1986) and access to the nucleus is via nuclear pores (Tognon et al., 1981). In the nuclei of infected cells, the genome circularizes (Roizman and Sears, 1987) with the aid of host factors, a virion component, or a both (Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985).

1.2.5.2 Viral gene expression

Transcription and translation of viral genes is very similar to that of cellular genes. Viral mRNAs are transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase II and are capped, methylated and polyadenylated (Bachenheimer and Roizman, 1972). As mentioned, HSV expression occurs as a sequential cascade with three stages, α , β and γ .

Alpha genes have been studied intensively because they are the instigators of acute infection and because they may be involved in reactivation from latency (Leib *et al.*, 1989b). Five α proteins are known, α 0, α 4, α 22, α 27 and α 47, two of which (α 4 and α 27) are essential for replication in culture (Preston, 1979b; Preston, 1979a; Sacks *et al.*, 1985; Sacks and Schaffer, 1987). The promoters for α genes contain elements not found in other viral genes and their transcription is dependent on a complex of viral and cellular transcription factors (Campbell *et al.*, 1984; Kristie and Roizman, 1987; O'Hare and Goding, 1988; O'Hare, 1993). Expression of α genes peaks two to four hours after infection, and is maintained at lower levels throughout infection (Honess and Roizman, 1974). The α proteins regulate expression of all classes of viral genes, including their own (Knipe, 1989; Hay and Ruyechan, 1992).

Beta gene expression is dependent on the action of α proteins and their synthesis is maximal between five and seven hours after infection (Honess and Roizman, 1974; Honess and Roizman, 1975). This class of genes can be further subdivided into two groups, namely β_1 genes, the expression of which overlaps that of α genes, but requires the presence of $\alpha 4$, and β_2 genes that are synthesised later (Roizman and Sears, 1996). Beta gene products, many of which are responsible for viral DNA replication, include the viral polymerase, the origin-binding protein and the helicase-primase, all of which are essential for HSV growth in culture (Challberg, 1986). Other β proteins have roles in nucleoside metabolism and although not required for growth in culture, may be important *in vivo*: for example the viral thymidine kinase is needed for replication of HSV in mouse neurons (Tenser *et al.*, 1979).

Gamma genes, the synthesis of which begins nine hours after infection, are mainly virion components. Like β genes, γ genes are divided into two groups with slightly different expression kinetics. Expression of genes in the first group (γ_1) is not dependent on viral DNA replication and precedes that of genes in the second group (γ_2). Expression of γ_2 genes is dependent on viral DNA synthesis and for this reason they are sometimes referred to as "true late genes". Examples of γ genes are those encoding the capsid subunits, glycoproteins and tegument proteins.

1.2.5.3 Replication of the genome

HSV DNA replication begins concurrently with β gene expression but the mechanisms employed by the virus are not fully understood. Three origins of replication have been identified, one in U_L (Ori_L), and a diploid origin (Ori_S) in the repeats flanking U_S (Hammerschmidt and Sugden, 1990). Mutational analyses indicate that none of the three origins are uniquely required for replication (Longnecker and Roizman, 1986; Polvino-Bodnar *et al.*, 1987; Igarashi *et al.*, 1993), and the reason why all three have been maintained, when any single origin will suffice is unclear. Circular genomes are present early in the replication process (Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985) and at later times, there are large masses of high molecular weight intermediates of viral DNA replication, in the form of head-to-tail concatemers (Ben-Porat *et al.*, 1976; Ben-Porat *et al.*, 1977; Jacob and Roizman, 1977; Jacob *et al.*, 1979; Jongeneel and Bachenheimer, 1981). Taken together, these results have been used to propose a rolling circle mechanism of HSV DNA synthesis. Such a mechanism is predicted to utilize circular DNA templates and to produce large concatemers of the genome, which are subsequently cleaved to yield unit length molecules (Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985; Garber *et al.*, 1993).

Four isomeric forms of the genome (in which the long and short segments are inverted with respect to each other) are generated during replication. Two of the four isomers could be formed by cleavage, at alternate junctions of long and short segments, of a concatemer of HSV genomes generated by rolling circle replication (Jacob *et al.*, 1979; Vlazny *et al.*, 1982). The other two isomers are not easily explained by the rolling circle model, and a role for homologous recombination has been suggested (Mocarski *et al.*, 1980; Smiley *et al.*, 1981; Mocarski and Roizman, 1982; Bruckner *et al.*, 1992; Dutch *et al.*, 1992). Recently two groups showed that in concatemers produced by HSV replication, adjacent monomers have the long segment inverted (Zhang *et al.*, 1994; Martinez *et al.*, 1996). Cleavage of these concatemers, at alternate junctions of long and short segments, could account for all four isomeric forms of the genome.

There are two other observations which suggest that a simple rolling circle model is inadequate to explain HSV DNA replication. First, rolling circle replication predicts a linear increase in new DNA over time, each genome taking 20-40 minutes to be made; in

contrast, a several hundred fold amplification of DNA is observed in HSV infected cells over a few hours. Second, replicative intermediates found in HSV infected cells are extensively branched and it is difficult to conceive how a simple rolling circle could produce so many of these structures (Martinez et al., 1996; Severini et al., 1996). Two models are currently favoured to explain HSV genomic replication in the light of these findings. The first is that theta-type replication begins from a circular template and homologous recombination takes place between a replicated viral repeat sequence and its as yet unreplicated counterpart, resulting in chasing rather than opposing replication forks, analogous to the replicative mechanism postulated for the 2µm plasmid of yeast (Futcher, 1986). Such a process would generate multimeric circles with long segments inverted, consistent with the observed concatemers (Hammerschmidt and Mankertz, 1991; Zhang et al., 1994). The second model proposes that after initial replication, new replication forks are produced by recombination between free termini (generated by cleavage) and a homologous internal sequence, as proposed for T4 bacteriophage (Mosig, 1987). This process produces masses of branched concatemers and has enough inherent recombination to account for concatemers in which 50% of monomers have inverted long regions (Martinez et al., 1996; Severini et al., 1996). Further work on the structure and accumulation of replicative intermediates and the roles of genes required for producing mature replicated HSV genomes is needed to resolve these issues.

1.2.5.4 Virion assembly and egress

Once synthesised, capsid proteins are transported to the nucleus where they are assembled. The mechanism of assembly is not known but capsids can be made in insect cells infected with recombinant baculoviruses carrying the structural components (Thomsen *et al.*, 1994). Recently a similar result has been achieved in a cell free system, indicating that the capsid proteins are capable of self-assembly (Newcomb *et al.*, 1994), but the production of mature capsids containing DNA requires the products of at least another eight genes (Roizman and Sears, 1996). Capsids are preformed and DNA is packaged into them at the same time as it is cleaved from replication intermediates (Vlazny *et al.*, 1982). Cleavage and packaging are directed by recognition of signals located in the "*a*" sequences of the viral genome (Varmuza and Smiley, 1985; Deiss *et al.*, 1986; Deiss and Frenkel, 1986).

Late in infection, accumulation of viral proteins and glycoproteins around and in the nuclear membrane causes patches of thickening visible by electron microscopy (Nii et al., 1968). Newly formed nucleocapsids are also associated with these patches and at least their initial envelopment, which is dependant on the presence of full length DNA in capsids (Vlazny et al., 1982), occurs at this membrane. The original mechanism proposed for HSV envelopment and release from infected cells suggests that capsids are enveloped and deenveloped as they pass through the nuclear membrane, and either re-enveloped by the endoplasmic reticulum and released by fusion of vesicles with the cell membrane, or acquire an envelope by budding through the cell membrane (Stackpole, 1969). Electronmicrographs of capsids associated with all of these membranes support this hypothesis, but because they are only snapshots, the fate of these capsids can not be divined (Nii et al., 1968; Schwartz and Roizman, 1969; Rixon et al., 1992). Indeed, in at least some studies, many of the capsids found to be adjacent to the plasma membrane are at least partially degraded (Whealy et al., 1991). An alternative hypothesis postulates that nucleocapsids acquire their envelope as they bud through the nuclear membrane and are then transported via the Golgi apparatus to the cell surface for release by exocytosis (Johnson and Spear, 1982). This second hypothesis is currently favoured but more evidence will be needed before a consensus is reached.

1.2.6 HSV Pathogenesis

1.2.6.1 Anatomy

HSV infections involve the skin or mucosal membranes and the peripheral (and occasionally central) nervous system. The cells responsible for collecting sensory information from the skin and communicating it to the central nervous system (CNS) are primary sensory neurons. Primary sensory neurons are large cells extending a single process that divides into two branches, one branch connecting with the CNS and the other extending to the skin (Ham, 1969b). Cell bodies of primary sensory neurons are collected together in structures known as ganglia. Two ganglia are involved in the sensory innervation of the face, these are the right and left trigeminal ganglia, lying beneath the brain. Sensory ganglia for the rest of the body reside inside the spinal column, two (right and left) at each vertebral level (Ham, 1969a), and are known as dorsal root ganglia. The area of skin innervated by a single ganglion is termed a dermatome. For example, in a human, the dermatome associated with the left ganglion inside the tenth thoracic vertebra is a band of skin at the same vertebral level, running around the left hand side of the trunk from anterior to posterior midline, and between five to ten centimetres wide. Almost every part of a primary sensory neuron is tended by glial cells; the cell body is surrounded by satellite cells and the neuronal fibres, or axons, are ensheathed by Schwann cells (Pannese *et al.*, 1972; Pannese, 1981). These two peripheral nervous system glial cell types are very similar to each other and closely related to CNS macroglia (Pannese, 1981). All the organs and cell types mentioned above play roles in natural HSV infections, and their properties and interactions define the environment in which the virus has evolved and is maintained.

1.2.6.2 Primary infection

HSV infection in a susceptible (ie. seronegative) human, begins with inoculation of broken skin or a mucosal surface by close contact with a source of virus. Epithelial cells are the primary site of viral replication, infected cells undergoing characteristic changes including condensation of chromatin, nuclear degeneration and finally death (Wagner and Roizman, 1969; Darlington and Granoff, 1973). Infected cells may fuse with neighbouring cells allowing the virus to be propagated without exposure to extracellular spaces, thus evading neutralization by antibodies (Simmons and Nash, 1987). The cell damage caused by infection leads to formation of vesicles full of infectious virus, cellular debris and inflammatory cells. As infiltration of leukocytes into the lesion proceeds, vesicles develop into pustules and finally, when the infection is controlled, scabs form. Symptomatic primary infection usually lasts for two to three weeks. Alternatively, primary HSV infections can be asymptomatic (Mertz, 1993).

During acute infection of the skin, viral particles gain access to sensory nerve endings and travel to neuronal cell bodies in ganglia. The hypothesis that HSV spreads to the nervous system via axonal flow was proposed in the 1920s (Goodpasture and Teague, 1923; Goodpasture, 1925) and further evidence has been collected over time, first in animal

models (Kristensson et al., 1971; Bastian et al., 1972; Baringer and Swoveland, 1973; Cook and Stevens, 1973) and more recently using in vitro culture systems (Ziegler and Herman, 1980; Lycke et al., 1984). Schwann cells can be productively infected by HSV and sequential infection of these cells may be an alternative, albeit minor, pathway of nervous system invasion (Johnson, 1964a; Wildy et al., 1982). Unenveloped nucleocapsids have been visualized in axons by electron microscopy, but it is not known whether these particles are infectious, or what direction they are travelling (Hill et al., 1972; Kristensson et al., 1974; Lycke et al., 1984; Penfold et al., 1994). Spread of virus between ganglionic neurons is thought to occur via the CNS as shown in infected trigeminal ganglia of mice (Tullo et al., 1982), or by a so called "round trip" to the skin where fresh nerves, and hence neurons become involved (Klein, 1976). There is other evidence that this spread occurs outside Isolated HSV antigen positive neurons are frequently visualized by ganglia. immunohistochemical staining of infected ganglia, but in contrast, spreading foci of infection are rare (Wildy et al., 1982). Additionally, satellite glia in ganglia appear to be resistant to HSV infection in vivo (Dillard et al., 1972; Cook and Stevens, 1973), whereas at least some glial cells in the CNS are permissive, and also may be in contact with, and able to spread virus to many nerves (Townsend and Baringer, 1978). In immunocompetent mice, primary sensory neurons can survive HSV infection, at least to the stage of late gene expression, unless the animal is overwhelmed by too high an inoculum of virus (Simmons et al., 1992b; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). In humans, it is not known whether productive neuronal infection is a common outcome, however it can occur in severe cases (Mok, 1971; Music et al., 1971), and is likely to be a prerequisite for herpes encephalitis. Both in human and experimental infections, latent infection is established in some primary sensory neurons as a result of HSV neuroinvasion (Stevens and Cook, 1971; Baringer and Swoveland, 1973; Stevens *et al.*, 1987; Arthur *et al.*, 1993). Additionally, the severity of primary skin and nervous system infections affects the number of neurons accessed by virus, and hence the number of latent sites (Walz *et al.*, 1976).

1.2.6.3 Latency and reactivation

The ability of HSV to establish and maintain latent infections contributes significantly to its success as a parasite. Latent infection in primary sensory neurons is characterized by maintenance of the viral genome in a non replicating state with highly restricted viral gene expression. No infectious virus can be isolated from homogenates of latently infected ganglia. However, this result can be reversed by a period of explant culture (Stevens and Cook, 1971). The ability to be reactivated by explantation has become a working definition of latent HSV infection, but the biological relevance of reactivation by such extreme measures is not known (Roizman and Sears, 1987; Ho, 1992). There are also in vivo models of reactivation, including severing of nerves (Walz et al., 1974; Ecob Prince et al., 1993), use of a variety of physical stimuli (Schmidt and Rasmussen, 1960; Blyth et al., 1976; Nesburn et al., 1977; Hill et al., 1978; Harbour et al., 1983; Hill et al., 1985; Bobrowski et al., 1991; Sawtell and Thompson, 1992; Fawl and Roizman, 1993) and some animals latently infected with HSV undergo regular spontaneous reactivations (Nesburn et al., 1967; Scriba, 1975; Stanberry et al., 1982; Berman and Hill, 1985; Stanberry, 1992). These models, and many more have been exploited extensively in studies aimed at elucidating the molecular basis of latency and reactivation.

22

Structure of latent DNA

The structure of latent HSV DNA is not known precisely. Restriction endonuclease analysis and Southern blotting has shown latent HSV genomes in animals and humans lack free termini (Rock and Fraser, 1983; Efstathiou *et al.*, 1986). In further analyses, most of the terminal fragments were shown to be fused, forming sequences similar to those at the junction region between short and long segments of the genome, and not deleted or integrated with host DNA. These data indicate that the genome is either circular, or a large concatemer (possibly integrated) (Rock and Fraser, 1985). Most, but not all HSV DNA from latently infected mice can be separated from host chromosomes by density gradient centrifugation and therefore, although the bulk of viral DNA is almost certainly episomal, integration of a small number of genomes cannot be excluded (Mellerick and Fraser, 1987). Finally, latent HSV DNA is bound by histones in much the same way as the cellular genome (Deshmane and Fraser, 1989).

Latency associated transcripts

Viral activity during HSV latency is limited to transcription from a small region of the genome. The major (most abundant) latency associated transcripts (LATs) were detected first by *in situ* hybridization studies and originate from the repeat regions of the long segment being antisense in part to the message for α 0 (Deatly *et al.*, 1987; Spivack and Fraser, 1987; Stevens *et al.*, 1987). RNA species related to LATs are made by both HSV types and at least two other alphaherpesviruses, bovine herpesvirus 1 (Rock *et al.*, 1987; Kutish *et al.*, 1990) and pseudorabies virus (Rock *et al.*, 1988; Cheung, 1989; Priola *et al.*, 1990) and therefore, are considered to play important roles in aspects of latency. This evolutionary argument for the significance of LATs seems to be at odds with the
demonstration that LAT deletion mutants are able to establish, maintain and reactivate from latency in vivo. However, reactivation is impaired in some models (Leib et al., 1989a; Steiner et al., 1989; Hill et al., 1990; Trousdale et al., 1991; Trowsdale et al., 1991). An understanding of LATs has been considered a vital step in understanding latency itself and the vast amount of work on their properties, promoters and potential functions has been reviewed extensively (Roizman and Sears, 1987; Stevens, 1989; Latchman, 1990; Garcia-Blanco and Cullen, 1991; Fraser et al., 1992; Ho, 1992). HSV-1 major LATs are a series of co-linear, non-polyadenylated RNAs for which, at least in vivo, no protein product has been detected. Larger, but less abundant RNAs (minor LATs) are transcribed during latency from the same region of the genome and it has been suggested that major LATs may be stable introns derived from minor LATs (Dobson et al., 1989; Farrell et al., 1991; Spivack et al., 1991). The reasons why HSV might employ such a strategy, and the roles of the putative spliced product and a stable intron are not clear. Major LATs do not encode obvious protein products, however they do contain two open reading frames (ORFs) and antibodies raised against a bacterial fusion protein made with one of these ORFs detected a protein in an in vitro latency system (Doerig et al., 1991). The product remains undetected during latency in vivo, but this protein may function briefly or in low copy number in the establishment or reactivation phases. Other potential ORFs have been identified within the region from which minor LATs arise and the expression of one such ORF (ORF P) has been shown, but only in viral mutants lacking active $\alpha 4$ genes (Lagunoff and Roizman, 1994; Lagunoff and Roizman, 1995). Roles for the product of ORF P during latency have yet to be defined. In the absence of a protein product, LATs may function as structural RNAs. For example, anti-sense regulation of $\alpha 0$ by LATs has been suggested (Stevens et al., 1987). There is no evidence of α gene dysregulation in experiments with

.

LAT deficient viruses, but the large number of LAT copies, estimated at between 20 and 50,000 per cell (Wagner *et al.*, 1988a; Wagner *et al.*, 1988b), makes the structural RNA hypothesis attractive. In searching for possible functions, links have been made between LATs, cellular cAMP levels and reactivation. A number of physiological stimuli which induce reactivation also affect cellular cAMP levels and a cAMP responsive element (CRE) has been discovered in one of the LAT promoters (Leib *et al.*, 1991; Rader *et al.*, 1993). The association of cAMP with reactivation has been strengthened by experiments showing that inducers of high cAMP levels were able to accelerate reactivation in explanted ganglia (Foster *et al.*, 1989; Sainz de la Maza *et al.*, 1989; Leib *et al.*, 1991) and in an *in vitro* model of latency (Rodriguez *et al.*, 1991). However the *in vivo* significance of these observations is not known. There is no evidence to suggest that LAT copy number is related to reactivation and at least one other HSV gene has a CRE in its promoter (Deb *et al.*, 1994). In spite of huge amounts of work on LATs *in vitro* and *in vivo*, their function remains unknown.

ų,

Does HSV DNA persist in a single form?

Many models of HSV latency are based on the premise that viral DNA persists in a single form. Several lines of evidence suggest that this may not be the case. First, attempts to quantify the number of latent genomes have produced results in the order of tens to hundreds of copies of HSV per neuron (Efstathiou *et al.*, 1986; Simmons *et al.*, 1992a). These data are difficult to reconcile with the observation that latency can be established experimentally in the absence of HSV DNA replication (Clements and Stow, 1989; Coen *et al.*, 1989; Leib *et al.*, 1989a; Steiner *et al.*, 1990; Speck and Simmons, 1991; Speck and Simmons, 1992). If a single type of latency exists, either viral DNA can be replicated in the absence of detectable viral gene expression or the number of latently infected sites has been grossly underestimated. Second, studies using in situ polymerase chain reactions (PCRs) to localize viral DNA indicate some HSV genomes are transcriptionally silent, while others produce LATs (Ramakrishnan et al., 1994; Mehta et al., 1995). Finally, in a rabbit model of HSV latency where two types of reactivation can be demonstrated (spontaneous and induced), some mutations in the LAT region affect one but not both types of reactivation (Hill et al., 1990). These data indicate that there are two pathways of reactivation, possibly originating from two types of latency. Experiments to address the issue of genome copy number have shown that HSV DNA is not distributed evenly amongst all LAT positive neurons; roughly ten fold more genomes persist per cell at sites where acute infection precedes latency, compared with sites where productive infection was not detected (Simmons et al., 1992a). These results show that there are indeed two patterns of HSV DNA persistence, one characterized by high and another by low copy number. The biological significance, transcriptional status and reactivation criteria of these forms of persistence remain unclear, but the path by which some neurons come to harbour hundreds of copies of the genome is of interest. Slobedman et al (1994) used a thymidine kinase deficient (therefore replication defective in neurons) mutant of HSV to demonstrate that the high genome copy number form of latency could only be established by viruses able to productively infect neurons. These results implicate productive neuronal infection in production of high genome copy number latency, leading to the hypothesis that some neurons undergo an aborted productive infection with HSV, and survive carrying many copies of the genome (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). In support of this idea, it has been shown that many neurons can withstand acute viral infection at least to the stage of γ gene expression, but only in the presence of intact immunity (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). Other models cannot be ruled out, the assumption that all persistent HSV DNA is in neurons needs definitive proof, although the current understanding is supported by *in situ* PCR reports (Ramakrishnan *et al.*, 1994; Mehta *et al.*, 1995). Also the absolute number of latent sites needs to be defined and amplification of viral sequences by cellular enzymes remains a possibility.

Latency outside of sensory ganglia

Persistence of HSV DNA has been observed in a variety of sites other than sensory ganglia including autonomic ganglia (Price and Schmitz, 1978; Warren *et al.*, 1978), adrenal medulla (Cook and Stevens, 1976), eyes (Sabbaga *et al.*, 1988; Claoue *et al.*, 1990) and skin (Scriba, 1977; Hill *et al.*, 1980; Clements and Subak-Sharpe, 1988; Simmons *et al.*, 1996), but the significance of these observations, and in some cases the ability of virus to be reactivated is questionable. There is little doubt however, that neuronal latency in sensory ganglia plays a pivotal role in HSV pathogenesis and is an important reservoir of infection.

1.2.6.4 Recurrence

Recurrent HSV infection occurs when latent virus in sensory ganglia is reactivated, spreads via axons to the skin and initiates a new episode of cutaneous infection; if this infection becomes clinically apparent it is termed a recrudescence. Reactivation in sensory neurons may not necessarily lead to recurrence because the latter requires transport of infectious virus to the periphery and infection of the skin (Wildy *et al.*, 1982). Likewise recrudescence is not an inevitable consequence of recurrence, as indicated by studies

demonstrating asymptomatic shedding of HSV in various human populations (Rattray *et al.*, 1978; Mertz *et al.*, 1992; Mertz, 1993). The role played by the immune system in preventing the progression from reactivation to recurrence and recrudescence is not defined. Immunosuppression increases the frequency and severity of recrudescence (Bagdades *et al.*, 1992), yet recurrences occur in spite of apparently intact specific antiherpetic immunity (Burnet and Williams, 1939). Also the administration of neutralizing antibody can prevent seeding of infection in the skin from nerves, but antibody levels several fold higher than normal are required for this protection (Simmons and Nash, 1985).

Recrudescent HSV lesions are usually confined to the same dermatome as the primary lesion, but are frequently at a different site. For example, primary orofacial lesions are often inside the mouth, while recrudescences following such an infection are frequently at the mucocutaneous junctions of the lips. Likewise primary genital lesions of women often involve the cervix, but recurrences are usually on the skin of the vulva (Corey *et al.*, 1983). Neither the reasons for, nor significance of the disparity between the locations of primary and recurrent lesions are understood. However, the fact that it is frequently observed indicates that spread of virus in the peripheral nervous system (possibly by productive neuronal infection) during the initial infection, may play a significant role in HSV pathogenesis.

1.3 Immunity to herpes simplex virus infections

The immunobiology of HSV infections has been studied extensively using *in vivo* models in animals, and *ex vivo* and *in vitro* systems based on human cells. Each of these systems

has strengths and limitations, and comparisons of data between them is difficult. Animal models have had great value in answering basic questions about the nature of immune responses to HSV and mouse models stand out as the most frequently used. Reasons for the popularity of mouse models include fidelity to natural disease in humans (depending on route of inoculation), availability of well characterized inbred strains and immunological reagents, cost and ease of handling. Experiments using human cells *in vitro* have been instrumental in demonstrating the existence of a variety of immune responses in natural HSV infections and, in general, responses defined originally in animal models have also been found to be active in humans.

Any breakdown of the immune system into discrete parts is artificial because of the integrated nature of the system itself. The way in which the immune response is generally divided is firstly into non-adaptive and adaptive immunity, and adaptive immunity is then divided into humoral and cell mediated immunity. This view is largely historically based and persists despite evidence that non-adaptive immunity and adaptive immunity share many of the same mediators, and humoral responses are as reliant on cells (and in most cases T cells) as the so called cell mediated responses. However the immense complexity of immune responses necessitates division of the whole system in smaller pieces and the divisions stated above have served immunology well. For these practical reasons, the divisions mentioned above form the basic structure of the following discussion of HSV immunity.

29

1.3.1 Non-adaptive defences

Non-adaptive defence mechanisms are the first obstruction to successful infection that is encountered by any pathogen. Experimental inoculation of the skin with HSV is dependent on the use of physical trauma in nearly all models, indicating the strength of unbroken skin as a barrier to infection. Once the skin has been breached, other defences are encountered, including macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer (NK) cells, complement, and α and β interferons (α/β IFN). Evidence has been found for the activity of each of these mediators in resistance to HSV infection.

1.3.1.1 Macrophages

Macrophages have long been considered an important component of the anti-HSV response. Suckling mice are very susceptible to intraperitoneal HSV infection when compared with adults and partial protection against lethal challenge can be adoptively transferred to young mice by adult macrophages (Johnson, 1964b; Hirsch *et al.*, 1970). In addition, injection of anti-macrophage serum or silica particles with an intraperitoneal inoculum of HSV markedly reduces survival rates in adult mice (Zisman *et al.*, 1970). Two studies have used ⁸⁹Sr treatment which reduces the levels of circulating bone marrow derived cells (including monocytes and NK cells) without affecting tissue macrophages. Both studies used intraperitoneal inoculation of virus, but different strains of virus and inbred mice were used and conflicting results were reported (Lopez *et al.*, 1980; Morahan *et al.*, 1986). These reports highlight the difficulty in drawing general conclusions about the mechanisms of resistance to infection from experiments done using a single animal or

viral genetic background. In humans, age related resistance to HSV has been reported but the extent to which macrophage maturation contributes to this phenomenon is uncertain. As with mice, monocytes and macrophages derived from neonatal humans are more susceptible to infection *in vitro* than those from adults (Wu and Morahan, 1992). In addition, the ability of some HSV strains to replicate in macrophages has been linked to pathogenicity in the mouse intraperitoneal model (Ben-Hur *et al.*, 1988). However, because the infection that follows intraperitoneal inoculation with HSV is not similar to natural human diseases, the relevance of these findings to HSV infections in humans is unknown. As well as their role in natural resistance, macrophages collaborate with cells of the adaptive immune system and these responses are discussed below, with other aspects of cell mediated immunity.

1.3.1.2 Neutrophils

Neutrophils infiltrate HSV infections of the cornea and are the predominant cell type in resulting lesions (Doymaz and Rouse, 1992a; Niemialtowski and Rouse, 1992). Further, neutrophils are able to adhere to HSV infected cells and phagocytose antibody coated virions *in vitro* (Van Strijp *et al.*, 1988; Van Strijp *et al.*, 1989; Van Strijp *et al.*, 1991). Recently it was shown that depletion of neutrophils *in vivo*, resulted in enhanced viral growth in a mouse model of HSV eye infection (Tumpey *et al.*, 1996). However, to date, there has been no work on the role of neutrophils in human HSV infections.

1.3.1.3 Natural killer cells

NK cells are a heterogeneous population comprising subgroups which differ in ⁸⁹Sr sensitivity, expression of surface markers including asialo-Gm₁ and their targets for lysis (Lust et al., 1981; Minato et al., 1981). This heterogeneity is also observed in populations able to cause natural lysis of HSV infected cells (Colmenares and Lopez, 1986). A number of experiments done to determine the role of NK cells in resistance of mice to HSV have been reported, but these have all used ⁸⁹Sr or anti-asialo-Gm₁ antibody (Ab) to deplete NK cells, measured lysis of a single infected cell type or a combination of these methods. The heterogeneity of NK cells makes these experiments hard to interpret and further complications include the non-specificity of depleting agents, use of single mouse genetic backgrounds and use of intraperitoneal infections. Not surprisingly, conflicting conclusions have been drawn from these studies, some investigators finding that NK cells are involved in resistance to HSV (Lopez et al., 1980; Habu et al., 1984; Rager-Zisman et al., 1987) and others finding the opposite (Bukowski and Welsh, 1986; Morahan et al., 1986). The role of NK cells in humans is similarly unclear. There are reports of patients with severe HSV infections and significantly lower NK function than the general population (Ching and Lopez, 1979; Lopez et al., 1983; Biron et al., 1989). T lymphocyte deficiency was generally ruled out by the authors as a cause of susceptibility to infection in these studies, but the patients may have had other undefined immunodeficiencies contributing to severe disease.

32

1.3.1.4 α/β Interferon

 α/β IFN is released by cells infected by many viruses including HSV and is thought to help activate cells involved in non-adaptive immunity (Bukowski and Welsh, 1986; Domke-Opitz *et al.*, 1986; Straub *et al.*, 1986). α/β IFN limits HSV growth *in vitro* and all studies using HSV infected mice have concluded that depletion of α/β IFN results in a more exaggerated disease (Gresser *et al.*, 1976; Zawatsky *et al.*, 1982; Bukowski and Welsh, 1986). Again, these experiments were carried out using intraperitoneal inoculation of virus and the human α/β IFN response has yet to be characterized.

1.3.1.5 Genetics of natural resistance

A different approach to the investigation of host responses to infection is the identification of host genetic elements that confer resistance or susceptibility. The first work of this nature was done using the intraperitoneal model of HSV infection and disclosed that mouse strains fell into three groups: resistant, moderately susceptible and susceptible. Resistant mice could survive approximately six orders of magnitude more virus than susceptible mice, and the trait was dominantly inherited (Lopez, 1975). The ability of mice to survive in this model was subsequently found to be controlled by two autosomal loci, and the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), a large cluster of genes involved in the regulation of adaptive immunity, was not involved (Lopez, 1980). Using survival as the only measure of resistance to infection, especially after intraperitoneal inoculation of virus, may not provide information relevant to human disease, which is generally self limited. The distribution of susceptibility to HSV amongst inbred mouse strains is the same after cutaneous inoculation as that described for intraperitoneal models, but the genetics of resistance differ (Simmons and La Vista, 1989). Following cutaneous infection, neuroinvasion is delayed in resistant C57BL/10 mice when compared with BALB/c mice, and this effect is under complex control with possibly four independent loci involved (Simmons and La Vista, 1989). In contrast, survival in this model was determined by a single locus, highlighting that the use of death as an endpoint may be misleading.

1.3.2 Humoral immunity

1.3.2.1 Role of antibody in HSV infections

The observation that mice born to immune mothers were themselves immune to a normally lethal dose of virus was the first evidence that immunity to HSV could be passively transferred (Berry and Slavin, 1943). In subsequent experiments, it was demonstrated that the natural mode of transfer was largely mammary, and the effect could be mimicked by the administration of serum from HSV infected rabbits (Berry and Slavin, 1943). By 1946 there were five reports in the literature relating to the ability of passively transferred anti-HSV Ab to reduce mortality after experimental inoculation of young mice (Evans *et al.*, 1946). These experiments were repeated and refined by various workers, and the use of specific antiserum in the treatment or prophylaxis of human neonatal HSV infections was suggested (Luyet *et al.*, 1975; Baron *et al.*, 1976). This work demonstrates that passively transferred Ab can provide some protection against a lethal viral challenge, but the role of natural Ab responses in fighting herpetic disease was not approached.

The significance of work which aims to show the importance of natural Ab responses using passive transfer experiments is questionable as unphysiologically high doses of serum (Cheever and Daikos, 1950; Notkins, 1974) or monoclonal Abs (mAbs) (Dix *et al.*, 1981; Balachandran *et al.*, 1982) have, in general, been administered at times earlier than Ab naturally appears. Where more physiological amounts of Ab are used, they fail to protect mice from infection *in vivo*, even when transferred early (Oakes, 1975). Administration of anti-HSV Ab to immunocompromised mice reduced disease, but ultimately failed to eliminate infection (Oakes and Rosemond-Hornbeak, 1978; Nagafuchi *et al.*, 1979; Openshaw *et al.*, 1979; Kapoor *et al.*, 1982b; Kino *et al.*, 1982), except in studies where intraperitoneal inoculation (Worthington *et al.*, 1980), or certain high titre mAbs (Eis-Hübinger *et al.*, 1993) were used. These findings indicate that although Ab is potentially useful therapeutically, it is probably not the primary agent of anti-HSV immunity.

B lymphocyte suppressed mice are a useful tool for examining the role of natural Ab responses (Lawton *et al.*, 1972). B cell suppressed mice have normal cellular immune responses but do not produce antiviral Ab and, in spite of this deficiency, they recover from HSV infection normally (Kapoor *et al.*, 1982a). Cutaneous HSV infection was not found to be greater in B cell suppressed mice when compared with immunocompetent mice, but there was evidence that acute and latent ganglionic infections were enhanced (Kapoor *et al.*, 1982a). Simmons and Nash (1987) confirmed these results and extended them, showing that following a primary infection, immunity to reinfection was not compromised by B lymphocyte suppression unless high doses of virus were used. The apparent inability of Ab to combat HSV infection in the skin, while providing some protection from neural infection, had also been noted in passive immunization experiments (Kapoor *et al.*, 1982b).

HSV can be transmitted by cell fusion *in vitro*, allowing viral spread in the presence of neutralizing antiserum (Stoker, 1958; Ennis, 1973a; Hooks *et al.*, 1976). In addition there is histological evidence that HSV spreads via cell fusion in the skin but not nervous system, providing an explanation of the differential efficacy of Ab at these two sites (Simmons and Nash, 1987). Virus is also likely to be exposed to neutralizing Ab when infecting nerve endings, and when cutaneous infection is seeded from nerves, as must occur during recurrence (Simmons and Nash, 1985). From the above it can be concluded that Ab plays a supporting role in anti-HSV immunity and most likely acts predominantly by neutralizing extracellular virus, reducing spread of infection to and within the nervous system.

1.3.2.2 Functions of non-neutralizing anti-HSV antibody

Neutralization is not the only mechanism by which anti-herpetic Ab may act. Activation of cytotoxic cells by antibody-antigen complexes leading to lysis of infected cells, known as antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), has strong support from some workers (Kohl, 1991; Kohl, 1992). Interactions of antibodies with other mediators can be stopped by removing a portion of the Ab molecules by proteolytic digestion (forming fragments called $F(ab')_2$) without damaging the neutralizing potential of the serum. Anti-HSV $F(ab')_2$ fragments are not as effective in transferring protection against herpetic infection to mice as full Ab molecules, and two studies ruled out the action of complement components which can also act with Ab to lyse infected cells (McKendall *et al.*, 1979; Oakes and Lausch, 1981; Hayashida *et al.*, 1982). Further data interpreted to support ADCC is that passively transferred antibody is most efficacious in the presence of leukocytes, either endogenous (Oakes, 1975; Oakes and Rosemond-Hornbeak, 1978), or transferred with

serum into immunocompromised mice (Rager-Zisman and Allison, 1976; Kohl and Loo, 1982). All the evidence for ADCC (i) relies on passive transfer experiments, the pitfalls of which have already been stated, and (ii) proposes a role for antibody in virus clearance from cutaneous lesions which heal normally in the absence of Ab. Additionally, evidence for the importance of the various cell types thought to mediate ADCC (NK cells, neutrophils and macrophages) is far from conclusive. Therefore, although ADCC can be demonstrated experimentally, the contribution made by this response in natural infections is probably minor.

Another possible mechanism of Ab action is manifest only in the nervous system, where there is an established role for naturally produced anti-HSV antibody (Simmons et al., 1992b and see above). Infection of cells of neuronal origin with a sinbis, rabies and measles viruses can be halted or even cleared by Ab in the absence of any other immune mediators (Levine et al., 1991; Dietzschold et al., 1992; Schneider Schaulies et al., 1992 respectively). In some cases the antibodies are able to downregulate viral gene expression at the level of transcription and, so far, all mAbs found to be active against infected neurons in vitro are protective when administered in vivo, as reviewed by Dietzschold (1993). HSV infection can be down-regulated in vitro by non-neutralizing mAbs directed against gB and gE (Oakes and Lausch, 1984). The cause of viral down-regulation has yet to be defined but was dependent on the constant presence of mAbs. As demonstrated for other viruses, mAbs active against HSV in vitro were found to be protective in vivo (Rector et al., 1982; Oakes and Lausch, 1984). More evidence is required before this response can be considered significant. It may be relevant in this context that infiltrating B cells can be found in ganglia as early as four days after cutaneous inoculation (Cook and Stevens, 1983). At this time there are HSV infected neurons, but probably little extracellular virus amenable to neutralization (Tullo *et al.*, 1982; Simmons and Nash, 1987).

1.3.2.3 Antibody in human HSV infections

In contrast to the large body of evidence suggesting that exogenously supplied polyclonal or monoclonal Ab can ameliorate disease in experimentally infected mice, the efficacy of antibody therapy in human disease has not been shown convincingly (Kohl, 1992). Although most clinical evidence in this field is discouraging, recent work to identify new target epitopes (Fuller and Spear, 1987; Staats et al., 1991; Eis-Hübinger et al., 1993) and new technologies for producing mAbs, such as phage display recombinatorial antibody libraries (Burioni et al., 1994; Cattani et al., 1995; Sanna et al., 1995) may provide ways forward. The natural role of antibody in fighting herpetic disease in humans is also not well There are two reports of patients with Bruton's (or x-linked) defined. agammaglobulinemia, a purely B cell defect, and unusually severe HSV infections, however each case was complicated with other viral infections and immune system anomalies (Kohl, 1992). Other evidence from the literature suggests that uncomplicated Bruton's does not affect the healing of cutaneous herpetic lesions (Merigan and Stevens, 1971). A number of studies have been done that attempted to link severity of neonatal disease with low levels of circulating Ab, but the results thus far are conflicting (Kohl, 1992). Passive transfer of Ab from immune mothers has been cited as a reason why babies exposed during birth to HSV from recurrent, rather than primary, infections are at less risk of neonatal herpes (Kohl, 1992). However this interpretation of the data is not conclusive because recurrent lesions are associated with less viral shedding than primary lesions (Corey *et al.*, 1983). In view of the above considerations, it is likely that in humans, as in mice, antibody plays a supporting rather than primary role in anti-herpetic immunity.

1.3.3 T lymphocyte mediated immunity

There is little doubt that T lymphocytes contribute significantly to anti-HSV immunity in mice and humans. Evidence that cell mediated immunity is active against HSV started to accumulate approximately 25 years ago. Zisman *et al* (1970) showed that mice treated with anti-lymphocyte serum are compromised in their ability to survive intraperitoneal HSV infections. Independent groups demonstrated that HSV infections *in vitro* could be reduced by addition of immune cells to cultures and that this effect was not attributable to antibody (Ennis, 1973a; Lodmell *et al.*, 1973). Subsequently Ennis (1973b) used the cells shown to be effective *in vitro* to protect mice from an otherwise lethal challenge with HSV. However, these early experiments were neither able to accurately define the relevant cell types nor give mechanistic insights.

The availability of mice depleted of thymocytes, either through the use of anti-thymocyte serum or because of a congenital defect (nude mice), allowed more definitive experiments demonstrating that T lymphocytes are an essential component of cellular anti-HSV responses to be done (Oakes, 1975; Walz *et al.*, 1976). Significantly, resistance could be transferred using HSV-immune splenocytes to these susceptible mice (Oakes, 1975; Nagafuchi *et al.*, 1979; Kapoor *et al.*, 1982b) or mice subjected to general immunosuppressive regimes (eg. cyclophophamide treatment) (Rager-Zisman and Allison, 1976). However, the protection was abrogated if the spleen cells were depleted of

thymocytes (Oakes, 1975; Rager-Zisman and Allison, 1976; Nagafuchi *et al.*, 1979). More recently, studies of HSV infections in MHC congenic mice, which differ genetically only at a region known to control T cell responses, disclosed that some variations at this locus confer susceptibility, further implicating T cell mediated immunity in resistance to HSV (Simmons, 1989). Additionally, transgenic mice unable to make functional T lymphocytes are compromised in their ability to survive HSV infections (Manickan and Rouse, 1995).

Corey *et al* (1978) noted an inverse correlation between the peak of peripheral blood lymphocyte proliferation in response to HSV and the length of virus shedding in patients experiencing primary genital herpes simplex. Additionally, severe and life threatening HSV infections are largely restricted to patients with profound deficiencies in cellular immunity, providing strong evidence that T lymphocytes play a crucial role in human antiherpetic immunity (Merigan and Stevens, 1971; Schmid and Rouse, 1992; Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). Uncontrolled recurrence of latent infection is not uncommon following kidney transplantation and the associated immunosuppressive therapy (Naraqi *et al.*, 1977; Pass *et al.*, 1979). Similarly, infection with the human immunodeficiency virus is associated with increased severity of HSV disease (Siegal *et al.*, 1981; Quinnan *et al.*, 1984).

1.3.3.1 Major histocompatibility complex: T cell subsets and their regulation

The MHC is a large cluster of genes involved in the regulation of mammalian adaptive immunity and the murine and human MHCs are known as H-2 and HLA, respectively. In mice and humans, the MHC is naturally highly polymorphic. Inbred mouse strains provide well characterized populations of animals with identical MHC genes, each designated a H-2

haplotype. MHC gene products are cell surface glycoproteins and, based on structure and function, they can be divided into two major classes, class I and class II. Class I products involved in adaptive immunity are encoded mainly in the H-2K, D and L loci, and HLA-A, B and C loci of mice and humans respectively. Relevant class II regions include H-2I in mice and HLA-DP, DQ and DR in humans. The significance of MHC products in adaptive immunity is that they are required to display antigenic epitopes at the cell surface for recognition by T lymphocytes. As determined by x-ray crystallography, the gross structures of both classes of MHC products are similar. The distal portion of an MHC molecule contains a groove (of which the sides are defined by two α -helices and the floor by a series of anti-parallel β -sheets) that binds an antigenic peptide such that it is available to interact with receptors on T cells (Bjorkman et al., 1987; Madden et al., 1991; Fremont et al., 1992; Brown et al., 1993; Fremont et al., 1996). Antigen receptors on T cells (TCRs) are thought to recognize both the peptide and parts of the presenting MHC molecule (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988; Bentley et al., 1995; Fields et al., 1995). A cognate interaction occurring between an MHC-peptide complex and a TCR is essential but not sufficient for T cell activation; a number of additional molecular interactions between the antigen presenting cell and the T cell are required (Dustin and Springer, 1991). One of these interactions is the binding of either CD4 or CD8 (expressed on the T cell) to an MHC product at a site independent to that which contacts the TCR (Littman, 1987). CD8 and CD4 are not co-expressed on mature T cells and interact exclusively with class I and class II MHC products respectively (Swain, 1981; Marrack et al., 1983; Swain, 1983; Littman, 1987). As a result, T cells can be divided into two populations, CD8⁺ and CD4⁺, which recognize epitopes presented in the context of class I and class II MHC products respectively (Kappler and Marrack, 1976; Marrack and Kappler, 1987). Thus the population of T cells responding to a given epitope is restricted according to the MHC product with which the epitope is associated (Swain, 1983; Townsend and Bodmer, 1989). Classically, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes were considered to be involved in regulating and enhancing all facets of adaptive immunity and were termed helper T (Th) cells. CD8⁺ T lymphocytes were thought to kill infected, or otherwise aberrant, cells and were termed cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). It is now clear that this association between phenotype and function is not absolute and either subset of T cell can have multiple activities even at the level of individual cells (Yasukawa and Zarling, 1984b; Johnson et al., 1990). Another dogma that has been breaking down recently, is the concept that class I and class II MHC products present only endogenously and exogenously derived antigens (with respect to the antigen presenting cell), respectively. Investigations into the pathways of antigen processing and MHC assembly led to this model (Brodsky and Guagliardi, 1991), but it now seems that the processing pathways are less discrete than originally thought (Weiss and Bogen, 1991; Malnati et al., 1992; Pfeifer et al., 1993; Kovacsovics Bankowski and Rock, 1995) and viral proteins are included in the list of antigens which contradict the dogma (Bohm et al., 1995; Oxenius et al., 1995). During development of the immune system, T cells that recognize only non-self peptides complexed to self MHC products survive (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988). A consequence of this process is that mature T cells recognize antigens presented only by MHC molecules from a syngeneic background (Shevach and Rosenthal, 1973; Zinkernagel and Doherty, 1974), hence the usefulness of inbred animals when studying T lymphocyte mediated immunity.

1.3.3.2 Relative roles of HSV-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes

The relative importance of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in murine anti-HSV immunity has been a contentious issue and, while primacy of each subset been proposed (Nagafuchi et al., 1982; Larsen et al., 1983; Sethi et al., 1983; Bonneau and Jennings, 1989; Manickan and Rouse, 1995; Manickan et al., 1995b), other workers have favoured complementary roles for CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells (Howes et al., 1979; Larsen et al., 1984; Nash et al., 1987; Smith et al., 1994). The majority of inquiries into the relative roles of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells have used adoptive transfers and demonstrate only that the T cell subset in question can be used therapeutically or prophylactically against HSV infection (Simmons et al., 1992b). In addition, results gained with adoptive transfers are affected by the way in which donor animals were immunized and the degree of in vitro manipulation or culturing of cells before transfer (Larsen et al., 1984). Information has also been gained using immunization protocols that preferentially prime one subset of T cells (Nash et al., 1981a; Martin et al., 1987; Mishkin et al., 1992; Mercadal et al., 1993; Manickan et al., 1995a; Manickan and Rouse, 1995; Manickan et al., 1995b). These experiments disclose more about the value of the particular immunization than the relative value of T cell subsets in a natural infection. Finally, the effects of depleting mice, in vivo, of lymphocyte subsets, by injection of subset-specific mAbs, have been studied. This work is most likely to provide useful information about natural immunity to HSV, with the caveat that compensatory immune mechanisms are likely to be developed in T cell depleted animals. In two reports, each on a different genetic background, the effect of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cell depletions on HSV infection was compared, and each subset was shown to contribute to the elimination of infectious virus (Nash et al., 1987; Smith et al., 1994). In contrast, results of a series of experiments with transgenic mice lacking either $CD4^+$ or $CD8^+$ cells, were interpreted as suggesting that $CD8^+$ T lymphocytes are dispensable in immunity to HSV (Manickan and Rouse, 1995). However, zosteriform lesion formation, which is a crude clinical marker, was used to judge the level of infection in these experiments. Additionally, mice of the haplotype used do not adequately generate HSV-specific $CD8^+$ T cells in the absence of $CD4^+$ cells (Jennings *et al.*, 1991), complicating the interpretation of data gained with $CD4^+$ cell deficient mice. $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells are present in HSV infected tissues of mice (Chan *et al.*, 1989; Cantin *et al.*, 1995; Shimeld *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 1996) and humans (Cunningham *et al.*, 1985; Sobel *et al.*, 1986). In human skin lesions, $CD4^+$ cells are present in higher numbers than $CD8^+$ cells, particularly early in infection, but the antigen specificity and activation stage of these lymphocytes is unknown (Cunningham *et al.*, 1985). Viewing the literature as a whole, it seems likely that $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T lymphocytes contribute to anti-HSV immunity.

1.3.3.3 Analysis of HSV-specific T lymphocytes by function

Historically, HSV-specific T lymphocytes have been subdivided and characterized primarily according to measurable effector functions, rather than surface phenotype. There are two easily measurable anti-HSV cell mediated effector mechanisms, namely delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) and lysis of infected cells by CTLs (Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). Both mechanisms have been useful as functional markers for different subsets of T cells but, as will be discussed, they are clearly not the only anti-viral responses, and their *in vivo* relevance has yet to be adequately demonstrated.

Delayed type hypersensitivity

DTH is an assay used to measure the recruitment and activation of macrophages, or other non-specific effector cells, by antigen activated T cells via the secretion of cytokines. *In vivo*, DTH can be observed as local inflammation at a site of secondary antigen challenge (Nash *et al.*, 1980a). Secretion of anti-viral cytokines, for example interferon- γ (IFN- γ), in addition to activation of macrophages may contribute to clearance of virus (Blanden, 1971). However it must be noted that cytokine expression is not limited to responses measurable as DTH and DTH can be mounted, albeit less efficiently, in the absence of interferon- γ (Bouley *et al.*, 1995).

DTH responses to HSV have been shown in humans (Anderson and Kilbourne, 1961) and experimentally infected mice (Nash *et al.*, 1980a) and guinea pigs (Lausch *et al.*, 1966). If a mouse ear pinna is used as the challenge site, the amount of inflammation, and hence strength of a DTH response, can be assessed by measuring ear thickness using a screw gauge micrometer (Nash *et al.*, 1980a). DTH to HSV can be transferred with draining lymph node cells from cutaneously infected mice to naive mice, provided that donor and recipient are H-2 matched at the class II locus, implicating CD4⁺ cells in this response (Nash *et al.*, 1981b). In agreement with this finding, cell populations enriched for CD4⁺, but not CD8⁺, T cells are able to transfer DTH (Nash and Gell, 1983; Larsen *et al.*, 1984) and depletion *in vivo* of CD4⁺ but not CD8⁺ cells abrogates DTH in mice (Nash *et al.*, 1987). In some models, adoptive transfer of cells that mediate DTH has been correlated with protection, as measured by reduction of virus titres in skin, after HSV challenge (Nash *et al.*, 1981b; Nash and Gell, 1983). Further, in mice immunized with certain HSV glycoproteins, protection against disease has been equated with induction of DTH (Schrier *et al.*, 1983). However, there are data to suggest that the ability of mice to mount a DTH response to HSV may not be a good measure of protective anti-viral immunity, or even CD4⁺ T cell mediated immunity. First, tolerance to DTH can be selectively induced by intravenous inoculation of virus, without compromising virus clearance (Nash *et al.*, 1981a). Second, CD4⁺ splenocytes taken from mice immunized by the intraperitoneal route and transferred directly to naive syngeneic mice are very poor producers of DTH, but are protective against an HSV challenge (Larsen *et al.*, 1984). Finally, mice immunized with HSV α 4 (ICP4) generated DTH responses to whole virus, but not protective immunity (Martin *et al.*, 1990). There is also some indication that DTH can cause tissue damage in HSV infections in the CNS (Altmann and Blyth, 1985; Chan *et al.*, 1989) and eye (Doymaz and Rouse, 1992a; Doymaz and Rouse, 1992b), and in one report, a vaccination protocol that induced tolerance to DTH reduced this immunopathology (Altmann and Blyth, 1985).

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes

CTLs are T lymphocytes that can kill virally infected cells, or other cells presenting nonself antigens, in an MHC restricted manner (Zinkernagel and Doherty, 1974). Such killing is observed when antigen-primed CTLs are mixed *in vitro* with MHC-matched target cells presenting appropriate antigens. In these assays, cytotoxicity is generally measured by quantifying release of $Na_2^{51}CrO_4$, with which the targets were previously labelled (Shinohara, 1992). Killing of virally infected cells by CTLs before infectious progeny are released is considered an important mechanism in anti-viral immunity (Pfizenmaier *et al.*, 1977b; Zinkernagel and Althage, 1977; Martz and Gamble, 1992).

HSV-specific CTL precursors can be isolated from local draining lymph nodes

(Pfizenmaier et al., 1977a; Pfizenmaier et al., 1977b) and spleens (Lawman et al., 1980b; Nash et al., 1980b) of mice infected with the virus, or peripheral blood of seropositive humans (Sethi et al., 1980; Yasukawa et al., 1983; Schmid, 1988; Torpey III et al., 1989). The cells are referred to as CTL precursors because they require a period of culture in vitro before they have activity in cytotoxicity assays (Pfizenmaier et al., 1977b; Sethi et al., 1980). It has been suggested from murine studies that immune suppressor factors exist in lymphoid tissue and removal of these factors, by culture, allows proliferation and differentiation of CTL precursors to an active phenotype (Pfizenmaier et al., 1977a; Lawman et al., 1980a). The detection of a splenocyte derived factor that can suppress the activity of CTLs in vitro has been cited as further evidence for this hypothesis (Horohov et al., 1986). Recently, active CTLs have been isolated directly from herpetic lesions in the brains of mice, indicating that CTL precursors like those found in lymphoid tissue, may be activated locally, at a site of infection (Hudson and Streilein, 1994). The in vivo priming requirements of murine HSV specific CTLs varies amongst different inbred mouse strains. CD8⁺ CTLs can be generated in the absence of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in H-2^k mice (Nash et al., 1987; Mercadal et al., 1991), but not H-2^b or H-2^d mice (Jennings et al., 1991; Mercadal et al., 1991 respectively). These differences highlight (i) the extent to which genetic factors, presumably within the MHC, shape the immune response to pathogens and (ii) the dangers of extrapolating results gained using a single inbred mouse strain to other strains or outbred populations.

In mice, the majority of HSV-specific CTLs have been shown to be MHC class I restricted (Pfizenmaier *et al.*, 1977a; Sethi *et al.*, 1983), but the restricting class I region varies amongst inbred mouse strains (Jennings *et al.*, 1984; Bonneau and Jennings, 1990). In

agreement with these results, most murine CTLs bear the CD8 surface marker (Rouse et al., 1983), although CD4⁺ CTLs are generated at a lower frequency (Kolaitis et al., 1990; Doymaz et al., 1991; Niemialtowski et al., 1994). There is some controversy over the predominant phenotype of human HSV-specific CTLs. Cytotoxicity mediated by human cells was originally shown to be class I restricted, but the possibility of class II restricted CTLs was not tested (Sethi et al., 1980; Yasukawa et al., 1983). The existence of CD4+, class II restricted CTLs was first reported in clonal analyses of T cells derived from the blood of HSV seropositive patients (Yasukawa and Zarling, 1984a; Yasukawa and Zarling, 1984b). In these studies, the majority of cytolytic clones were CD4⁺. A subsequent experiment with short term bulk cultured human CTLs, which were also largely CD4⁺, seemed to confirm these results (Schmid, 1988). HSV infected keratinocytes that have been shown to express class II MHC have been proposed to be the natural targets for CD4⁺ CTLs in vivo (Cunningham and Noble, 1989). In addition, CD4⁺ CTL clones have now been derived directly from recurrent genital lesions (Koelle et al., 1994a). The main criticism of these data is that blood derived lymphocytes must be stimulated with antigen in vitro, which presumably amplifies a rare subset of cells, before they demonstrate CTL activity and the form of antigen used can determine the phenotype of resultant CTLs (Yasukawa et al., 1989). HSV antigens that preferentially associate with class II MHC products, such as heat inactivated virus, tend to stimulate CD4⁺ cells whereas HSV infected fibroblasts, which are more likely to present antigens in association with class I products, stimulate CD8⁺ cells (Yasukawa et al., 1989; Posavad et al., 1996). Accordingly, more recent studies using virally infected cells as stimulators have shown that CD8⁺ CTL precursors occur at frequencies as high as those reported for CD4⁺ CTL (Posavad et al., 1996). Therefore it seems that CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ CTL precursors are present in HSV-

48

seropositive individuals, but it is less clear whether these precursors mature to an active phenotype and function as cytotoxic cells *in vivo*.

The antigen specificity of the CTL response to HSV has been investigated extensively, with the aim of defining the range of HSV proteins which are presented to T lymphocytes and identifying so called immunodominant antigens. However, a single MHC product can only present a limited range of antigenic peptides (Falk et al., 1990; Romero et al., 1991; Arnaiz-Villena, 1993) and therefore, owing to MHC polymorphism, animals of different MHC type present different epitopes to T cells. This consideration leads to the conclusion that different outbred hosts might recognize different viral products, especially if the virus is large and, while this concept is not upheld with all viruses, probably for co-evolutionary reasons, it appears to be valid in the case of HSV. Most work of this nature has been carried out in inbred mice of MHC types H-2^b, H-2^d and H-2^k and CTL recognition of six HSV proteins, gB, gC, ICP0, ICP4, ICP27 and ICP47 has been examined in all of these haplotypes. H-2 matched CD8⁺ CTLs derived from the lymph nodes or spleens of HSV infected mice can recognize (and kill) cells of H-2^b haplotype expressing gB (Rosenthal et al., 1987; Witmer et al., 1990; Bonneau et al., 1993; Nugent et al., 1994), gC (Glorioso et al., 1985; Martin et al., 1993) or ICP27 (Nugent et al., 1995) but not ICP4 (Martin et al., 1990). In contrast, similarly derived H-2^d restricted CTLs recognize cells expressing gB (Witmer et al., 1990; Hanke et al., 1991) and ICP27 (Banks et al., 1991; Banks et al., 1993; Rouse et al., 1994), but not gC or ICP4 (Martin et al., 1990; Martin et al., 1993). A third, overlapping set of HSV proteins can be recognized by ex vivo H-2^k CTLs which includes gC (Rosenthal et al., 1987; Martin et al., 1993) and ICP4 (Martin et al., 1990) but not gB or ICP27 (Rosenthal et al., 1987; Martin et al., 1989; Martin et al., 1990; Banks et al., 1991; Banks et al., 1994). Cells expressing ICP0 or ICP47 could not be lysed by anti-HSV CTLs irrespective of MHC type (Martin et al., 1990; Banks et al., 1994). Further considerations arising from the above literature and related work include: (i) None of the HSV proteins examined could be recognized by T cells from all haplotypes, and therefore not all individuals in an outbred population would be expected to respond to a single antigen. These results imply that vaccines comprising a single HSV protein (or even a few) may not be useful. (ii) The context in which proteins are delivered to mice may determine whether or not specific T lymphocytes are generated. For example H-2^k mice produce ICP4 specific CTLs in response to HSV infection, but not in response to immunization with a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing ICP4 (Martin et al., 1990; Manickan et al., 1995a). With gC, the reverse situation with a vaccinia recombinant and HSV infection has been reported in the same mouse haplotype (Martin et al., 1993). Significantly, vaccinia virus recombinants expressing viral proteins known to be recognized by at least one component of a natural anti-HSV response do not necessarily confer protection when used to immunize (iii) Infection with different types, and therefore by mice (Martin et al., 1990). extrapolation different strains, of virus may elicit T cell responses directed at different ranges of proteins (Salvucci et al., 1995). (iv) The route of inoculation may affect the range of proteins to which the immune system is directed. For example gC specific CTL are generated in H-2^k mice after footpad (Rosenthal et al., 1987), but not intraperitoneal (Martin et al., 1993), inoculation of HSV. (v) Different protocols for in vitro manipulation or expansion of T lymphocytes before they are tested for target recognition may change the range of targets recognized (Nugent et al., 1995). (vi) Although the investigations in this area have been done almost exclusively with CD8⁺ (MHC class I restricted) T cells, the lessons learned are likely to be equally applicable to CD4⁺ T cells, because antigens are presented physically by MHC class I and II products in similar ways. (vii) Human studies indicate that in natural HSV infections, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes that recognize multiple viral proteins, rather than a single immunodominant epitope, are generated (Tigges *et al.*, 1992; Koelle *et al.*, 1994b). This result would be anticipated from an overall consideration of the murine studies.

The importance of cytotoxicity as an in vivo mechanism for the clearance of viral infection has best been demonstrated using transgenic mice that have CD8⁺ T cells but are unable to generate CTLs because of a targeted deletion in the perforin gene (Kägi et al., 1994). In these studies, a clear role for cytotoxicity in immunity against lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus was demonstrated (Kägi et al., 1994). No similar experiments have been done to establish a role for anti-HSV CTLs and the literature in this area is not definitive. Mice immunized with vaccinia recombinants expressing herpes glycoproteins induce a DTH response and antibody capable of neutralizing herpes simplex but do not generate anti-herpes CTLs (Martin et al., 1987; Martin et al., 1989). The ability of these vaccinia virus immunized mice to survive a challenge with a high dose of HSV is poor compared with mice vaccinated with a low dose of HSV. It has been suggested that this discrepancy is the result of poor CTL activation by the recombinant vaccinia virus immunized mice (Martin et al., 1989). As with investigations of DTH, adoptive transfers were done, but in these experiments, protection against HSV was shown to be transferred with highly lytic T cell populations (Sethi et al., 1983; Bonneau and Jennings, 1989). These experiments, like all adoptive transfers, cannot be used to infer a definite role for the transferred cells in a natural infection. Further, it is possible that adoptively transferred cells do not act cytolytically in vivo, so these reports do not give mechanistic insights. There are examples of protection being transferred or developed in the absence of CTLs (Martin *et al.*, 1987; Nash *et al.*, 1987; Smith *et al.*, 1994; Manickan *et al.*, 1995b), and of immunizations which generate CTLs, but not protection (Banks *et al.*, 1991). Finally, H-2^k mice generate a moderate CTL response, as judged by precursor frequencies (Rouse *et al.*, 1983; Niemialtowski *et al.*, 1994), yet this haplotype has been associated with extremely poor immune control of HSV infections (Simmons, 1989). Therefore although there is likely to be a role for MHC restricted cytotoxicity in anti-HSV immunity, its significance remains undefined.

Other functions of HSV-specific T lymphocytes.

If the activity of T lymphocytes in immunity to HSV infections cannot be adequately explained in terms of DTH and CTLs, what then are the other functions of these cells? Other defined mechanisms of anti-viral T cell activity rely on the effects of soluble anti-viral mediators such as cytokines, which may be produced in the absence of detectable DTH. Cytokines may be produced by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes (Mosmann and Coffman, 1989; Kelso, 1995) and some have established anti-HSV activity *in vitro* (Balish *et al.*, 1992; Chen *et al.*, 1993). To further define mechanisms of immunity against herpes simplex, the direct analysis of cytokines, and other known immunomodulatory molecules, is likely to be more useful than analysis of broader and less well defined phenomena, such as DTH. In addition, there may be protective mechanisms that are beyond our present knowledge, and the best hope for identifying these lies in the application new strategies to well defined models of HSV pathogenesis and immunity.

1.3.3.4 The role of cytokines and helper T cell subsets

Cytokines are a large family of intercellular messenger molecules that are released by a variety of cells to alter the responses of their neighbours. In immune reactions, cytokines can regulate host responses to antigens and in some cases they have potent anti-viral effects (Paul and Seder, 1994). The regulatory roles of cytokines are yet to be fully elucidated, but it has become apparent that helper T cells can be considered to fall on a gradient between two extremes, according to cytokine profiles (Kelso, 1995). The two extremes, designated Th1 and Th2, were defined originally by observations of T cell clones (Mosmann et al., 1986; Bottomly, 1989; Mosmann and Coffman, 1989) and these observations are supported by evidence that protective responses to some pathogens in vivo are also weighted towards production of either Th1 or Th2 cytokines (Murray et al., 1989; Heinzel et al., 1991; Clerici and Shearer, 1993; Wesselingh et al., 1994; Finke et al., 1995; Huber et al., 1996). The predominant cytokines in Th1 skewed responses are interleukin-2 (IL-2), IFN-y and tumour necrosis factor- β (TNF- β), and they support macrophage activation, DTH, CTLs and production of antibody of IgG2a subtype by B cells. The cytokines characteristic of a Th2 weighted response are interleukins 4, 5, 6, 10 and 13 (IL-4, 5, 6, 10 and 13). They strongly support B cell activation and humoral immunity in general and, in particular, the production of IgG1 and IgE isotypes. A third type of T cell clone, designated Th0, has been defined on the basis of IL-2 production and also the production of cytokines typical of both the other types of Th clones. Th0 cells may be the precursors for Th1 and Th2 cells (Kamogawa et al., 1993) or Th cells that fall somewhere toward the middle of the gradient between the Th1 and Th2 extremes (Kelso, 1995) or a mixed population of both. Cytokines themselves are amongst the most important factors shaping the characteristics of a Th response. For example, naive T cells primed in the presence of IFN- γ and IL-4 tend to mature into Th1 and Th2 cells respectively (Seder *et al.*, 1992; Paul and Seder, 1994; Liblau *et al.*, 1995). The working hypothesis that Th responses can be roughly divided into Th1 and Th2 and that expression of cytokines not only reflects, but maintains the balance between Th1 and Th2 responses can be referred to as the Th1/Th2 paradigm.

Murine HSV infections are thought to induce a predominantly Th1 response as determined by the pattern of cytokines expressed in infected tissue (Hendricks et al., 1992; Niemialtowski and Rouse, 1992; Babu et al., 1995) and the production of IgG2a antibody (Nguyen et al., 1994). In addition, in vivo depletion of IFN-γ, a key Th1 cytokine, delays clearance of HSV from infected mice, and transgenic mice deficient in either IFN- γ or the IFN-γ-receptor, are similarly unusually susceptible to HSV infections (Hendricks et al., 1992; Smith et al., 1994; Bouley et al., 1995; Cantin et al., 1995). Although these studies demonstrate that IFN- γ (and by extrapolation, presumably a Th1 weighted response) is needed for normal immune control of HSV infection, the effect of IFN-y depletion on infection is not as profound as total T cell depletion (Smith et al., 1994), indicating that IFN-y-independent T cell mediated immune mechanisms also exist. In humans, a correlation has been made between peak IFN-y production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells during a HSV recurrence and the time to next recurrence (Cunningham and Merigan, 1983). Therefore IFN- γ is considered to be a an important cytokine in anti-HSV immunity, but it remains to be seen whether its role is primarily regulatory or in mediating direct anti-viral effects. Two other molecules that have direct anti-viral activity in vitro, namely tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and CD40 ligand, both come from the TNF family and are not dependent on the type of Th response (Feduchi et al., 1989; Lidbury *et al.*, 1995; Ruby *et al.*, 1995). These molecules are discussed further below, in the context of ganglionic HSV infection. The role of Th2 cytokines in HSV infections has not received as much attention as Th1 cytokines, although two independent groups have found that treatment with IL-4, or transfer of IL-4 producing T cells, can exacerbate HSV mediated disease in mice (Jayaraman *et al.*, 1993; Ikemoto *et al.*, 1995a; Ikemoto *et al.*, 1995b). In the context of the Th1/Th2 paradigm, the action of IL-4 in these instances might be to bias immune responses away from protective IFN- γ production, thus hindering normal virus clearance.

1.3.3.6 T lymphocytes and ganglionic HSV infections

There is evidence that processes of immunity to HSV in the nervous system may differ from those in the skin. First, primary infection is initiated in the skin when the immune system is naive whereas, by the time productive infection is established in ganglia, there has already been peripheral priming of some lymphocytes (Wildy *et al.*, 1982). Second, depletion *in vivo* of CD8⁺ cells affects clearance of virus from sensory ganglia in all H-2 haplotypes, but skin clearance is not altered in H-2^k mice (Simmons, 1989; Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). Third, in humans infiltrates in cutaneous but not CNS HSV lesions contain significantly more CD4⁺ cells than CD8⁺ cells (Cunningham *et al.*, 1985; Sobel *et al.*, 1986). Lastly, in mouse hepatitis virus infections T cells with a unique antigen specificity were found in nervous system tissues (Stohlman *et al.*, 1993), indicating that different epitopes may be presented to anti-viral T cells at different sites of infection.

It is noteworthy that two of the lines of evidence stated above relate specifically to CD8⁺

T cells. The findings that depletion in vivo of CD8⁺ cells affects clearance of ganglionic HSV in all H-2 haplotypes tested and that the ratio of CD8⁺ to CD4⁺ cells is higher in neural lesions when compared with skin, could be taken to imply a role for CD8⁺ T lymphocytes in the control of neural HSV infections. Further, one of the earliest experiments to map the MHC restriction of the anti-HSV response in vivo demonstrated that mice lacking T cells could be rescued from rapid death with neurological symptoms by transfer of immune cells compatible at class I loci alone (Howes et al., 1979). As mentioned, H-2^d and H-2^b mice fail to mount an adequate CD8 ⁺T cell response in the absence of CD4⁺ cells and therefore, it is difficult to assess the roles of these cell types independently (Smith et al., 1994). However in H-2^k mice, CD4⁺ cells can be depleted without affecting CTL generation and DTH and humoral responses are maintained in the absence of CD8⁺ cells. Experiments comparing the effects of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cell depletions on HSV infections in H-2^k mice have indicated that CD4⁺T cells are responsible for controlling skin infections, while the CD8⁺ T cells are involved in limiting viral replication in ganglia (Nash et al., 1987). H-2^d mice treated in vivo with anti-CD8 mAb cells have intact humoral and DTH responses, yet suffer more widespread peripheral nervous system infection after cutaneous inoculation of HSV (Simmons et al., 1992b; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). Additionally, it was shown that in immunocompetent HSV infected mice, the majority of HSV infected ganglionic neurons survive the infection but, in stark contrast, there was high neuronal loss (>35% of total neurons) in HSV infected CD8⁺ T cell depleted mice (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). These data have two main implications with respect to the role of CD8⁺ T cells. First, CD8⁺ T cells are important in the control of neuronal HSV infection (at least in H-2^d mice) and second, the mechanism of CD8⁺ cell-mediated protection is non-lytic (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). It might be envisaged then, that HSV infected neurons are rescued by local production of anti-viral cytokines or other soluble mediators (known or unknown) by CD8⁺ T lymphocytes or via another cell as a result of CD8⁺ lymphocyte activity (Simmons *et al.*, 1992b; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992).

A candidate mediator of CD8⁺ T cell activity, which has been linked to the control of HSV *in vivo*, is IFN- γ (Smith *et al.*, 1994; Cantin *et al.*, 1995). However, IFN- γ can be made by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and a definitive link between CD8⁺ T lymphocytes and IFN- γ is lacking. TNF- α has also been proposed as an important effector in immunity to HSV because administration of TNF- α protected mice against a lethal HSV challenge (Rossol Voth *et al.*, 1991). Supporting a role for TNF- α , a recent immunohistochemical analysis of HSV infected ganglia found that levels of TNF- α expression correlated with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration (Liu *et al.*, 1996). However, other possible sources of TNF- α in sensory ganglia need to be taken into account when interpreting this data (Murphy *et al.*, 1995). Another molecule with direct anti-HSV activity *in vitro* is the ligand for CD40 but, as yet, these observations have not been extended to studies *in vivo* (Ruby *et al.*, 1995). Finally, there may be many unknown anti-viral molecules in the armamentarium of the immune system and it is possible that one, or a combination, of these is the final effector through which CD8⁺ T lymphocytes control neuronal infections with HSV.

57

1.4 Aims

The final mediators of immunity to HSV in the nervous system have not been defined at a molecular level and, while there are some candidates for this role, it is reasonable to suggest that as yet uncharacterised immune effectors may be involved. In addition, there is a well characterized model of ganglionic HSV infection, in which virus clearance is dependent on CD8⁺ T cells. Therefore the broad aim of this thesis is to analyse the molecular events associated with CD8⁺ T lymphocyte activity in HSV infected sensory ganglia. Two complementary approaches to this aim were taken. First, the role of CD8⁺ T cells in cytokine responses to ganglionic HSV infection was investigated, with particular reference to the Th1/Th2 paradigm and a known anti-viral mediator, IFN- γ . Second, a non-directed method of mRNA analysis, namely mRNA differential display, was applied to HSV infected ganglia with the specific aim of identifying transcripts (and hence polypeptides) that may be associated with CD8⁺ T cell activity in the nervous system.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Mice

Female BALB/c mice (H-2^d) were obtained from Animal Resource Centre (ARC), a specific pathogen free facility. Mice were used at greater than eight weeks of age in all experiments and housed in the IMVS basement animal house.

2.1.2 Virus

A low passage strain of an oral isolate of HSV-1, designated SC16 (Field *et al.*, 1979) was used in all experiments. In mice, SC16 is neurovirulent when inoculated cutaneously, producing a transient productive infection both in the skin and nervous system (Harbour *et al.*, 1981; Simmons and Nash, 1984; Simmons and La Vista, 1989; Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). Working stocks of virus were produced by infecting roller bottle cultures of African green monkey kidney (vero) cells with submaster stocks, retrieved from liquid nitrogen storage. Cell monolayers were inoculated at 0.1 plaque forming units (pfu) per cell, harvested after approximately 40 hr and disrupted by sonication to liberate intracellular virus. Working stocks with titres in excess of 1×10^{10} ml, determined by a standard plaque assay (Russell, 1962), were stored at -70^oC in 0.2 ml lots. Virus for animal inoculation was thawed rapidly immediately before use, diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and kept on ice for up to 1 hour.
2.1.3 Anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody

A well characterized anti-CD8 monoclonal Ab, known to be effective in depleting mice of HSV-specific CD8⁺ cells, was used for all experiments requiring anti-CD8 treatment (Cobbold *et al.*, 1984; Cobbold *et al.*, 1986; Nash *et al.*, 1987; Ghobrial *et al.*, 1989; Simmons *et al.*, 1992b; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). This rat IgG2b antibody, specific for the Lyt-2.1 chain of murine CD8, is secreted by hybridoma YTS 169.4. To produce stocks of anti-CD8, six (LOU/M × DA)F₁ rats (ARC) were injected intraperitoneally with pristane (2,6,10,14-Tetramethylpentadecane), rested for 10 days and then injected intraperitoneally with 4.3×10^7 hybridoma cells in a volume of 1 ml. Rats were killed by CO₂ asphyxiation 10 or 11 days after injection of cells. An average of 27 ml of ascitic fluid was collected from each rat, allowed sit at 4^{0} C overnight and the clot removed by centrifugation. Ascites from all six rats was pooled and stored in 1 ml lots at -70⁰C. The pooled ascites had a total protein concentration of 42 mg/ml and could be used at a 1×10⁵ dilution to detect CD8 immunohistochemically in frozen sections of mouse spleen using the methods of Simmons and Tscharke (1992).

2.1.4 Oligonucleotides

Unless otherwise stated, oligonucleotides were designed using nucleic acid sequences obtained from GenBank (using the world wide web (www) Entrez service at the National Centre for Biological Information (NCBI)) with the aid of Primer Designer v 2.0 for DOS (Scientific and Educational Software) and produced by Molecular Pathology, IMVS. They were synthesised at 40 nm scale and provided in 1 ml of concentrated ammonia solution. Before use, oligonucleotides were split into two lots, each of which was precipitated with two sequential butanol extractions. The precipitates were washed with ethanol, dried at room temperature and resuspended in 100 μ l sterile deionized water (Commonwealth Serum Laboratories, CSL, referred to as CSL water). The oligonucleotide solutions were quantified by UV spectroscopy at 260 nm and had concentrations in the order of 1 μ g/ μ l (approximately 100 - 200 μ M for a 20mer). Working stocks were made at 100 ng/ μ l (~12-15 pmol/ μ l for 20 - 22mers) in CSL water and stored at -20^oC.

2.1.5 Solutions, gel mixes and miscellaneous reagents

Unless stated otherwise, all solutions were made using deionized water purified by reverse osmosis (RO water) provided by the Media Production Unit, Infectious Diseases Laboratories, IMVS and most chemicals were purchased from Ajax, BDH and Sigma. Concentrations given as percentages indicate % weight per volume for dissolved solids and % volume per volume for liquids.

2TY broth: 16 g/l tryptone, 10 g/l yeast extract, 85 mM NaCl (yeast and tryptone Difco).

2TY agar: 1.5% technical grade agar in 2TY broth.

Acid Wash: 100 ml concentrated sulphuric acid in 340 mM potassium dichromate.

Bacteria: All plasmids were grown in *Escherichia coli* strain DH5α (Hanahan, 1983; Sambrook *et al.*, 1989)

- Competent bacteria (*E coli* strain DH5 α): a 200 ml culture of log phase DH5 α (OD₅₅₀ approximately 0.3), grown in 2TY broth was cooled on ice for 15 minutes (min) before removing the broth by centrifugation and replacing it with 64 ml cold transforming buffer 1 (100 mM RbCl, 50 mM MnCl₂, 30 mM potassium acetate pH 7.5, 10 mM CaCl₂, 15% glycerol, final pH 5.8). Bacteria were incubated in transforming buffer 1 for 15 min on ice, then this solution was replaced with 32 ml cold transforming buffer 2 (10 mM MOPS (3-[N-Morpholino] propanesulphonic acid) free acid, 10 mM RbCl, 75 mM CaCl₂, 15% glycerol). 1 ml lots of competent cells in transforming buffer 2 were frozen using liquid nitrogen and stored at -70^oC.
- CSL water: Cell culture grade sterile deionized water (Commonwealth Serum Laboratories).
- Denaturing DNA gel loading buffer: 98% deionized formamide, 10 mM disodium EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), 0.1% bromophenol blue, 0.1% xylene cyanol.
- Denhardts solution (100×): 2 mg/ml polyvinyl pyrrolidone, 2 mg/ml bovine serum albumin, 2 mg/ml ficoll 400.

DNA gel loading buffer: 50% glycerol, 0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol.

DNase buffer (1×): 50 mM Tris(hydroxymethyl)Aminomethane (Tris), 7 mM MgCl₂

Elution Buffer (for extracting DNA from polyacrylamide gels): 0.1% sodium dodecylsulphate (SDS), 10 mM magnesium acetate, 0.5 M ammonium acetate, 1 mM disodium EDTA.

Hybridization solutions for DNA detections (including colony, electro and Southern blots probed with random primed and oligonucleotide probes):

- Prehybridization: 2× Denhardts solution, 6× SSC, 0.5% SDS, 200 μ g/ml sheared and denatured salmon sperm DNA, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 10 mM NaH₂PO₄.
- Hybridization: 3× Denhardts solution, 4× SSC, 0.5% SDS, 200 μg/ml sheared and denatured salmon sperm DNA, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 10 mM NaH₂PO₄, 10% dextran sulphate.

Hybridization solutions for northern blotting:

- Prehybridization: 5× Denhardts solution, 5× SSC, 0.1% SDS, 50% deionized formamide, 200 μ g/ml sheared and denatured salmon sperm DNA, 50 mM Na₂HPO₄, 50 mM NaH₂PO₄.
- Hybridization: 1× Denhardts solution, 5× SSC, 0.1% SDS, 50% deionized formamide, 100 μ g/ml sheared and denatured salmon sperm DNA, 10% dextran sulphate.

Ligation buffer (1×): 50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT).

MOPS buffer (1×): 20 mM MOPS free acid, 5 mM sodium acetate, 1 mM disodium EDTA, pH 7.0.

PBS: 140 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1 mM KH₂PO₄, 8 mM Na₂HPO₄.

Polyacrylamide gels:

- Denaturing gels (DNA sequencing gels): 6% acrylamide (acrylamide:bisacrylamide 19:1), 1× TBE, 8 M urea. Gels polymerised by adding ammonium persulphate to 0.05% and TEMED (N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine) to 0.2%.
- Non-denaturing gels for differential displays: 6% acrylamide (acrylamide:bisacrylamide 29:1), 2× TBE, 10% glycerol. Gels polymerised by adding ammonium persulphate to 0.1% and TEMED to 0.075%.
- Polyacrylamide minigels: 6% acrylamide (acrylamide:bis-acrylamide 29:1), 1× TBE. Gels polymerised by adding ammonium persulphate to 0.1% and TEMED to 0.075%.

Radiolabelled DNA size markers: 5 μ g of *Hpa* II cut pUC-19 marker (Bresatec) was incubated for 90 min at 37^oC in a 30 μ l reaction containing 3 mM DTT, 1× 1-phorall buffer (pharmacia), 30 μ Ci [γ -³²P]ATP (4000 Ci/mmol, Bresatec) and 10 u (units) T4 polynucleotide kinase (Pharmacia). Labelled markers were passed through sephadex G25 columns to remove unincorporated label before use.

RNA gel loading buffer: 50% glycerol, 1× MOPS buffer, 0.25% bromophenol blue.

Solution D for RNA extractions: 4 M guanidine thiocyanate, 25 mM sodium citrate pH 7, 0.5% N-lauroylsarcosine, 0.1 M 2-mercaptoethanol (Chomczynski and Sacci, 1987).

SSC (1×): 150 mM NaCl, 15 mM trisodium citrate, pH 7.0.

T-tailed Bluescript (SK) vector: 10 μg "Bluescript (SK) +" vector (Stratagene), linearized with EcoRV, was placed in a reaction containing 1 mM dTTP, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 1× PCR buffer II and 5 u AmpliTaq Polymerase (Buffer and Taq, Perkin-Elmer) and incubated for 2 hours (hr) at 75^oC. T-tailed vector was extracted from the reaction mix, resuspended in 50 μl of CSL water and its concentration estimated as described in Ausubel *et al* (1988).

TBE (1×): 90 mM Tris, 90 mM Boric Acid and 2.4 mM disodium EDTA

TE, 10:1: 10 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1 mM disodium EDTA pH 8.0.

2.2.1 Inoculation of mice

2.2.1.1 Zosteriform model

A well characterized zosteriform model of HSV infection (Simmons and Nash, 1984) was used for the majority of experiments and groups of between ten and twenty mice were infected concurrently. Fur from shoulder to thigh on the left side was shaved using an electric clipper (Golden A5, Oster). Nair depilatory cream (Carter Wallace) was applied to the shaved area for five minutes, then wiped off, along with remaining fur, with a warm damp cloth. After being rested for roughly an hour, mice were anaesthetised with diethyl ether before inoculation. The left tenth thoracic dermatome of each mouse was located by visualizing the tip of the spleen through the skin and marked with a 10 μ l drop of virus suspension at 1.5×10⁷ pfu/ml (1.5×10⁵ pfu total). 20 scratches were made through the drop of virus with a 27 gauge needle (Terumo) covering a 5 mm² area of skin.

In this model, acute ganglionic infection is confined to neurons and has been shown to peak on the fifth day, resolving by the ninth day after inoculation (Simmons and Nash, 1984; Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). In all groups of mice infected, by the seventh day after inoculation 90% all mice (regardless of immune status) developed zosteriform lesions that are a characteristic of this model (figure 2.1). Zosteriform lesions are a marker of productive ganglionic infection. Over the duration of experiments, the proportion of mice that had to be culled or died from acute infection never rose above 20% in any group of mice.

Figure 2.1

Characteristic zosteriform lesion on the left flank of a BALB/c mouse six days after inoculation with HSV-1 strain SC16 by scarification at the site indicated by the arrow.



The mouse ear model of Hill *et al* (1975) was used where experiments required HSV infected skin, or lymph nodes draining an infected site. Groups of five mice were anaesthetised with ether and the left ear pinna injected intradermally with 20 μ l of HSV-1 at 5×10⁶ pfu/ml using a 27 gauge needle (Terumo). No mice infected in this way died or were culled for humane reasons.

2.2.2 In vivo depletion of CD8⁺ cells by anti-CD8 treatment

To deplete mice of CD8⁺ cells, anti-CD8 monoclonal Ab was injected intraperitoneally at intervals of four days commencing four days before inoculation with virus (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). Using immunohistochemistry, this regime has been shown previously to remove CD8⁺ cells from the spleens of HSV infected mice (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). Removal of CD8⁺ T cells by the batch of anti-CD8 used for experiments in this thesis was confirmed by the same methods (not shown). Depletion of cells transcribing mRNA encoding CD8 was demonstrated by experiments documented in section 3.4. Control mice were given phosphate buffered saline. Where paired groups of HSV infected immunocompetent and CD8 depleted mice were required, infection of the groups was done concurrently.

2.2.3 Removal of tissue samples from mice

Mice were killed by intraperitoneal injection of 9 mg sodium pentobarbitone (Nembutal[®], Boehringer Ingelheim). All tissues were instantly frozen in 1.5 ml tubes placed in a liquid nitrogen bath and stored at -70^oC until RNA extractions were done.

2.2.3.1 Sensory ganglia

Viscera were removed through an anterior midline incision, exposing the anterior surface of the spinal column. The thirteenth thoracic vertebra was identified by its articulation with the lowest rib and was used as a reference for other levels. Fine forceps were used to tease apart the vertebrae at the intervertebral disc, exposing the dorsal root ganglion which was removed. In all experiments where HSV infected ganglia were required, left ganglia were collected from the eighth to twelfth thoracic levels.

2.2.3.2 Draining lymph nodes

An incision was made to remove skin from the anterior surface of the neck and using fine forceps, two to three cervical lymph nodes were taken from the left side.

2.2.3.3 Skin

HSV infected ear pinnae were cut off with small dissecting scissors, taking care to avoid fur.

2.2.4 Extraction of RNA

RNA was extracted from tissues according to the method of Chomczynski and Sacci (1987). In the preparation of solutions and extraction and handling of RNA, all glassware used was treated with acid wash overnight. Where possible, sterile, machine packed plasticware was used and nuclease free filtered pipette tips (ART, Molecular *Bio*-Products) were used for all liquid transfers. Where paired RNA samples were required from tissues of immunocompetent and CD8 depleted mice, the extractions were done in parallel.

Frozen tissue was homogenised in "Solution D" (see 2.1.5) at room temperature using at least 50 passes in a 1 ml glass homogeniser (Wheaton). The volume of Solution D depended on the tissue: between 0.5 ml and 1 ml was used for pools of 50 to 100 ganglia, 0.6 ml was used for five ears and 0.6 ml for the lymph nodes taken from five mice. To each homogenate was added a tenth of a volume of 2 M sodium acetate, pH 4, 1 volume of water saturated phenol and a fifth of a volume of chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (49:1) in that sequence and with thorough mixing between additions. This mixture was shaken vigorously for 10 seconds (sec) then incubated on ice for 15-20 min before centrifugation at $10,000 \times \text{g}$ for 20 min at 4^oC. The aqueous (upper) phase was recovered, mixed with 1 volume of isopropanol and placed at -20⁰C for at least 1 hr (generally 2 hr - overnight). The resultant precipitate was recovered by centrifugation, dissolved in 50 µl of Solution D, and re-precipitated by the addition of 50 μl of isopropanol and cooling at -20 ^{0}C for at least 1 hour. The precipitate was again recovered by centrifugation $(10,000 \times g, 20 \text{ min}, 4^{\circ}\text{C})$, and washed with 75% ethanol in CSL water, dried at room temperature and dissolved in 50 - 100 μ l of CSL water with the aid of a 10 min incubation at 65^oC. The quality and quantity of these RNA samples was determined by UV spectroscopy. RNA obtained in this way was used directly for northern blotting, or treated with DNase for use in reverse transcription (RT)-PCR based methods.

2.2.5 DNase treatment of RNA samples

RNA samples were incubated with 10 u of DNase (Boehringer), 40 u of RNasin (Promega) in 5 mM DTT and 1× DNase buffer at 37^oC for 30 - 40 min. Following this treatment, the RNA was purified using one phenol/chloroform extraction, two chloroform extractions and precipitation with a tenth of a volume of 3 M sodium acetate and 3 volumes of ethanol. Finally, RNA precipitates were dissolved in CSL water and the quantity and quality of the resulting samples determined by UV spectroscopy.

2.2.6 RT-PCR to detect known mRNAs

RTs were done in accordance with the instructions provided by the enzyme manufacturer (Gibco BRL). Generally more than one reaction was assembled at a time and in that case, a master mix of the above reagents, excluding RNA, was made and RNA was added to samples of this mix. To avoid contamination of reagents, the RNA was added last and in a laboratory separate from that in which the rest of the reaction was prepared. $20 \ \mu l$ reaction mixtures contained:

| 100 ng | oligo-dT ₍₁₂₋₁₈₎ (Pharmacia) |
|--------|---|
| 0.5 mM | each deoxynucleotide (dNTP) (Pharmacia) |
| 20 u | RNasin (Promega) |
| 10 mM | DTT (Gibco BRL) |
| 1× | First Strand Buffer (Gibco BRL) |
| 200 u | MMLV reverse transcriptase (Gibco BRL) |
| 100 ng | DNase treated RNA |

Reactions were incubated at 37^{0} C for 60 min before being stopped by heating to 95^{0} C for 5 min. Completed RTs were diluted to a total volume of 50 µl and stored at -20^{0} C if not required immediately.

PCRs were done using the primers given in table 3.1, and the same reagent concentrations were suitable for all primer pairs. PCR reactions, excluding input cDNA were assembled in a laminar flow hood using a set of pipettes reserved exclusively for that purpose. Where possible, master mixes of the reagents were made and then divided into single reaction lots. Reagents were assembled to give the following final concentrations in a total of 50 μ l,

| 100 ng | 3' primer |
|--------|------------------------------------|
| 100 ng | 5' primer |
| 200 µM | each dNTP (Pharmacia) |
| 1 mM | MgCl ₂ (Perkin-Elmer) |
| 1× | PCR buffer II (Perkin-Elmer) |
| 1 u | AmpliTaq polymerase (Perkin-Elmer) |

The mix was divided into 45 μ l lots that were overlayed with 2 drops of paraffin oil (Paraffin liquid BP, Faulding) and then removed to another laboratory where 5 μ l of a

diluted RT product was added (ie. one tenth of the product of an RT, effectively the reverse transcribed products of 10 ng of input RNA). Care was taken to ensure that RT products were mixed well before samples were transferred into PCR reactions, especially after they had been frozen and they were transferred into PCRs using a pipette with disposable positive displacement tips (Bresatec). The tubes were spun at 12,000 × g for 10 sec and placed in a thermal cycler (PTC-100, MJ Research). A single cycling profile was used to amplify cDNAs corresponding to IL-2, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , Lyt 2 and HSV pol transcripts and was: 25 cycles, each comprising 94°C for 1 min, 60°C for 1 min and 72°C for 45 sec Detection of GAPDH mRNA required only 15 cycles of the above profile and IL-4 required 30 cycles and an annealing temperature of 50°C (rather than 60°C). Products of these reactions were collected from under the layer of oil and electrophoresed on polyacrylamide minigels or dot blotted using a vacuum manifold.

2.2.7 Polyacrylamide minigel electrophoresis and electroblotting

DNA samples were loaded onto non-denaturing polyacrylamide minigels in $1 \times$ DNA gel loading buffer and electrophoresed at 120 V. Gels were stained with ethidium bromide and DNA visualized by UV illumination, or transferred to nylon membranes (Hybond N+, Amersham).

To transfer DNA from polyacrylamide gels to nylon, the gel was first soaked in 0.3× TBE for 5-10 min before being placed in a stack comprising, from top to bottom, 2 sheets of Whatman 3MM chromatography paper (Whatman), the gel, a piece of nylon membrane and 2 further sheets 3MM. All the components in the stack were pre-cut to match the size of

the gel and pre-wet with $0.3 \times$ TBE. The stack was placed between the electrodes of a TransBlot[®] SD semi-dry transfer cell (Bio-Rad) and a current of 100 mA was passed for 90 min. After disassembling the stack, DNA was fixed to the nylon by placing the membrane on a sheet of 3MM soaked with 0.4 M NaOH for 20 min. Filters were rinsed in 2× SSC before storing at 4^oC or immediate use in hybridizations. The same transfer method was used to blot differential display gels.

2.2.8 Dot blotting

Samples of PCR products were denatured in 96 well microtitre trays at 4^{0} C for 10 min with 0.4 M NaOH and 20 mM disodium EDTA in a final volume of 60 µl. A piece of nylon membrane was cut to fit a Hybri•Dot[®] 96 well filtration manifold (Gibco BRL) exactly, including holes punched to accommodate the screws. Filters were moistened with TE (10:1) before being fixed into the apparatus. 50 µl of a 0.4 M NaOH and 20 mM disodium EDTA solution of was placed into each well of the apparatus and a vacuum was applied. With the suction still on, 50 µl of the denatured samples were added to the appropriate wells using an 8 channel multitrack pipette and the wells were then washed with a further 100 µl of the NaOH/EDTA solution. The vacuum was released to allow removal of the filter, which was placed on a piece of 3MM soaked in 0.4 M NaOH for 20 min. Finally the filter was rinsed with 2× SSC.

2.2.9 Generation of radio-labelled DNA probes

2.2.9.1 Oligonucleotide probes

Oligonucleotides designed for use as probes were labelled using T4 polynucleotide kinase to transfer the terminal (γ) phosphate from [γ -³²P]ATP to their 5'-hydroxyl termini (Chaconas and van de Sande, 1980; Ausubel *et al.*, 1988). 50 µl reactions contained:

| 100 ng | oligonucleotide (~15 pmole for a 22mer) |
|--------|---|
| 2 mM | DTT |
| 1× | 1-phor-all (Pharmacia) |
| 5 µCi | [γ- ³² P]ATP (4000 μCi/mmol, Bresatec) |
| 10 u | T4 polynucleotide kinase (Pharmacia) |

and were incubated at 37^oC for 40 min. Oligonucleotide probes were purified by passing them through a sephadex G25 column to remove unincorporated radioactivity. To determine the activity of the probe, a 1 µl sample was spotted onto filter paper (Whatman S42), placed in liquid scintillation fluid (OptiPhase HiSafe 3, LKB Scintillation Products) and radioactive counts measured with a Beckman LS6800 scintillation counter. The total number of counts per minute (CPM) in the original sample was calculated and divided by the number of µg of oligonucleotide, to estimate the specific activity for the probe (assuming that all the unincorporated radioactivity was removed). Specific activities of oligonucleotide probes were between 1×10^8 and 1×10^9 CPM/µg and usually >5×10⁸ CPM/µg. Probes were usually used within a few hours of being made. When enough probe for 2 hybridizations was generated, probes were stored at -20^oC for up to a week before use. 2.5×10⁶ CPM of these probes were used per ml of hybridization mixture.

2.2.9.2 Random primed probes

Where DNA probes of longer than 100 bp were required, probes were generated by random primed labelling (Feinburg and Vogelstein, 1983). When the DNA templates were derived from plasmids, the inserts containing the desired sequences were excised with restriction endonucleases and separated from vector sequences on agarose gels. DNA was extracted from agarose gel fragments using a BRESAclean[®] kit (Bresatec), the basis of which is differential binding of DNA to silica beads in high and low salt solutions. The size and quantity of recovered insert DNA were estimated by comparison with DNA size markers of known quantity on ethidium bromide stained agarose gels. 20-25 ng of these inserts were used as the templates for random priming. In some situations, uncloned cDNAs, extracted from polyacrylamide gels by shaking the gel slice with elution buffer overnight at 37^{0} C, were used as the template to generate probes. All reagents in random primed reactions, except the [α -³²P]dATP (Bresatec), were from a kit (Random Primed DNA Labelling Kit, Boehringer). 20 µl reactions comprised:

| 20-25 ng | denatured DNA template (where possible) |
|----------|---|
| 25 μΜ | each of dCTP, dGTP and dTTP |
| 50 µCi | [α- ³² P]dATP (3000 Ci/mmol) |
| 1× | random hexanucleotide primer reaction mix |

2 u Klenow enzyme

and proceeded at 37^{0} C for 60 min. Newly made probes were diluted to a final volume of 120 µl and unincorporated nucleotides were removed with a sephadex G25 spun column. Two 1 µl samples of a probe, one taken before and the second after purification were counted using the method outlined above for oligonucleotide probes. The percentage of

total available radioactivity incorporated into a probe was estimated from the quotient of CPM remaining after purification and CPM present before purification. Where optimal amounts of template were available, incorporations ranged from 50-85% and the total number of counts emitted by probes was generally in the order of 1×10^8 CPM. Occasionally, probes were generated using less than 1 ng of template DNA. Such probes were useful for colony blot hybridization even when only 4% of available radioactivity was incorporated and total emitted counts were 5×10^6 CPM. Probes were usually used within a few hours of being made, but for some DNA hybridizations where the amount of target was relatively high, probes kept for up to a week at -20° C were occasionally used. 2.5×10^{6} CPM of these probes were used per ml of hybridization mixture.

2.2.10 DNA hybridizations with oligonucleotide probes

Nylon membranes to which target DNA had been transferred and fixed were rinsed in $6\times$ SSC before being placed in siliconized (Coatasil, Ajax Chemicals) hybridization tubes (Robbins Scientific) containing 10-20 ml (depending on the size of the filter) of prehybridization solution (for DNA detections). The tubes were incubated at 55^oC for at least 4 hr in a Robbins Scientific, Model 310 rolling hybridization incubator. Prehybridization solution was then replaced with 10-20 ml hybridization solution (for DNA detections) containing 1×10^{6} -2.5×10 ⁶CPM/ml of oligonucleotide probe and the tubes incubated at 55^oC for 90 min. After hybridization, the probes were decanted and filters washed with approximately 100 ml of pre-warmed 5× SSC, 0.1% SDS solution, once at room temperature for approximately 1 min and then 3 times at 65^oC for 20 min. All oligonucleotide probes were designed to require this level of stringency. Filters were

removed from the hybridization tubes, blotted on 3MM paper and wrapped in plastic wrap (GLAD Wrap, Glad Products) before exposure to PhosphorImage storage screens (Molecular Dynamics) or X-ray film. Exposure to both media was routinely overnight, however results could often be obtained from PhosphorImage screens within 2 hr.

2.2.11 DNA hybridizations with random primed probes

Hybridization of DNA on nylon filters with probes generated by random priming was done using the same basic protocol and hybridization solutions as described above for oligonucleotide probes. However, most temperatures, times and wash solutions were different. Prehybridization and hybridization were at 65^{0} C for at least 4 hr and overnight (14-18 hr), respectively. Washes were as follows, one 1 min wash at room temperature and one 30 min wash at 65^{0} C with a solution of 2× SSC and 0.1% SDS, followed by one 1 min wash and two 30 min washes at 65^{0} C in a pre-warmed solution of 0.1× SSC and 0.1% SDS. Where the G+C content of the probe was known and according to the formula for the calculation of Tm₅₀ (the temperature at which 50% of nucleic acid hybrids will dissociate):

 $Tm_{50}(DNA/DNA) = 16.6log[Na^+] + 0.41(\%G+C) + 81.5$

the above washing conditions provided a stringency equivalent to Tm_{50} -15⁰C or higher (Meinkoth and Wahl, 1984). After washing, wet filters were wrapped in plastic to facilitate stripping of probes if required and exposed to X-ray film or PhosphorImage screens for various times.

2.2.12 Northern blot hybridization

2.2.12.1 Electrophoresis of RNA and northern blotting

RNA samples (5-10 $\mu g)$ were denatured by incubation at 70 0C for 5 min in 50 %formamide, 2 M filtered formaldehyde and 1× MOPS buffer. Samples were placed briefly on ice and $1/_{10}$ of a volume of 10× RNA loading buffer was added before they were loaded onto gels comprising 1% agarose, 2.2 M formaldehyde and 1× MOPS buffer. Electrophoresis was done in 2.2 M formaldehyde, 1× MOPS buffer solutions for 3-4 hr at 90 V. A sample of RNA marker (0.28-6.58 kb, Gibco BRL), or an extra RNA sample (typically mouse spleen RNA) was run in one of the end lanes of all gels. Marker lanes were cut from gels, stained with ethidium bromide, placed on a UV transilluminator and photographed next to a ruler. These photographs were later aligned with autoradiographs obtained after northern blot hybridizations. The major portion of the gels was rinsed three times for 5 min in RO water and then soaked in 20× SSC for 45 min before the RNA was transferred to nitrocellulose filters (Schleicher and Schuell) by standard northern blotting (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). After blotting, nitrocellulose filters were baked for 60 min at 80° C under vacuum and rinsed with $2 \times$ SSC before storing at -20° C or being used immediately in hybridizations.

2.2.12.2 Hybridization of northern blot filters

Probes for northern blot hybridizations were generated by random priming of cloned templates and used immediately after they were made. The β -actin clone used to reprobe

northern blots, allowing for correction of loading errors, was pAL41 (Alonso *et al.*, 1986) and the β -actin containing insert was cut from the vector using *Pst*I. Where the %G+C contents of probes were known, the Tm₅₀ of probe/RNA hybrids in 0.1× SSC, 0.1% SDS (the stringent wash solution) were calculated using the equations of Meinkoth and Wahl (1984):

$$Tm_{50}(RNA/DNA) = \frac{Tm_{50}(DNA/DNA) + Tm_{50}(RNA/RNA)}{2}$$

where $Tm_{50}(DNA/DNA)$ is given by the formula in section 2.2.11 and

$$Tm_{50}(RNA/RNA) = 79.8 + 18.5log[Na^+] - 0.584(\%G+C) + 11.8(\%G+C)^2$$

Hybridization of northern blots was done using the same apparatus as the other hybridizations reported above. Prehybridization and hybridization using northern blot hybridization solutions, which include 50% formamide, were at 65° C for at least 6 hr and overnight (14-18 hr) respectively. Washes were: one 1 min wash at room temperature and one 30 min wash at 65° C with a solution of 2× SSC and 0.1% SDS, followed by one 1 min wash and two 30 min washes at 65° C in a pre-warmed solution of 0.1× SSC and 0.1% SDS. For probes with G+C contents lower than 45%, the hybridization and washing temperatures were reduced to 60° C to maintain a stringency of between Tm₅₀-15 and Tm₅₀-10. After washing, wet filters were wrapped in plastic to facilitate subsequent stripping of probes and exposed to PhosphorImage screens overnight or X-ray film for up to 5 days.

2.2.13 Autoradiography and digital imaging

Filters and gels were exposed to X-ray films (XOMAT-AR or XK, Kodak) in cassettes lined with intensifying screens (Cronex[®] Hi-Plus, Dupont) and unless stated, exposures longer than 2 hr were done at -70^oC. The orientation of autoradiographs was marked by cutting off the top left corner of filters after nucleic acid transfer and films when the exposure was set up.

Many probed filters were exposed to PhoshorImage storage screens and scanned with a 400 series PhosporImager, allowing the images to be analysed digitally using ImageQuant software v 3.0 (all PhosphorImage hardware and software, Molecular Dynamics). Where quantification was required, the above digital system (using the "Volume Integration" function of ImageQuant) was always used. The validity of these quantifications was demonstrated in a dot blot experiment by comparing results obtained using the PhosphorImage system with those gained by cutting the filter according to the pattern of dots and using a scintillation counter to measure the radioactive emissions of each dot (figure 2.2). In terms of relative quantification of samples, the two methods of analysis yielded the same result.

In figures presented in the following chapters, all radiographic images are referred to as autoradiographs, irrespective of whether they were produced by traditional autoradiography with X-ray film, or using digital technology starting with exposure of materials to PhosporImage screens.

Figure 2.2

Comparison of data obtained by PhosphorImager and scintillation counter analysis of a dot blot hybridization experiment. Samples were dot blotted in duplicate and bars represent the mean counts and standard error for each sample. PhosphorImage data (open bar, left axis) was generated by exposure of the hybridized filter to a Phosphor Storage screen, scanning the screen with a PhosphorImager and using the "Volume Integration" function of ImageQuant software. Scintillation counter data (hashed bar, right axis) were generated by cutting the filter into pieces corresponding to the dots and counting the radiation emitted from each piece using a scintillation counter.



Analysis of a dot blot by two methods

2.2.14 mRNA differential display (DD)

The procedure used for DD was based on published methods (Liang and Pardee, 1992; Bauer *et al.*, 1993). DD uses RT-PCRs to reverse transcribe, amplify and radiolabel random samples of RNA populations. The resultant cDNAs are then separated on large polyacrylamide gels and visualized by autoradiography providing a partial RNA population fingerprint. If two similar, but non-identical RNA samples are processed in tandem, differences in transcription can be visualized (figures 4.1 and 5.1). Furthermore, cDNAs that are differentially displayed in this manner can be eluted from the polyacrylamide gel, re-amplified and cloned, allowing them to be characterized. Further discussions on the basis of the method, design of RT-PCR primers and the development of protocols appear in chapter 4.

2.2.14.1 DD RT-PCRs and display gels

The majority of DD RT-PCRs were done in large batches and the logistics and reaction conditions of these experiments is described below. Where batch sizes varied from those described, the same logistical considerations were taken into account, but reaction master mixes and numbers were scaled appropriately. During development of methods, the constituents of master mixes varied (section 4.3 and table 4.1). In optimization experiments where reagent concentrations were varied, master mixes were still used and the reagents being titrated were added after the mix was dispensed into smaller volumes. The precautions taken to avoid contamination of reactions with extraneous nucleic acids that are noted in section 2.2.6, were strictly adhered to in all DD RT-PCRs.

Usually, when two RNA sources were being displayed, three RTs were done for each RNA source and the products of each RT were pooled according to source. RT reaction mixes were made to give the following final concentrations in a 20 μ l reaction:

| 2.5 μΜ | $dT_{11}VN$ primer (where V is A, G or C and N is A, G, C or T) |
|--------|---|
| 100 µM | each dNTP |
| 1× | first strand buffer (Gibco BRL) |
| 1 mM | DTT |
| 300 u | MMLV-RT (Gibco BRL) |

Master mixes were divided into 15 μ l lots, to which was added 100 ng of input RNA in 5 μ l. Denaturation of the RNA template prior to RT was found to make no difference to the final DD fingerprints and thereafter was not done. RTs were incubated at 35^oC for 60 min, after which reactions were stopped by heating to 95^oC for 5 min.

Products of each RT were diluted to a final volume of 50 μ l with CSL water and after appropriate pooling were stored at -20^oC if not required immediately. 5 μ l of these diluted RT products (=1/₁₀ of an original RT) was used as the template in DD PCRs. All reactants were present in excess in the RT reactions and therefore they were considered to be carried over into the PCRs at 1/₁₀ of their original concentration in the RT. For most reagents, this carry over is negligible and was ignored, with one important exception, namely dNTPs. The concentration of dNTPs in DD PCRs was 1/₁₀ of their concentration in the RT and therefore the total requirement for dNTPs in the PCRs was supplied by carry over with RT products. A practical ramification of this situation was that during the development of DD, modulation of dNTP concentrations in PCRs was achieved by changing dNTP concentrations in the RT. Experiments were designed to ensure that the quality of RT was not compromised by the changes and these experiments disclosed that the lowest dNTP concentration that allowed normal RT was 50 μ M.

PCR reagents were also assembled in master mixes (usually for 50 reactions) that were made to give the following final concentrations in a 20 μ l PCR,

| 1.5 mM | MgCl ₂ (Perkin-Elmer) |
|--------|---|
| 1× | PCR buffer II (Perkin-Elmer) |
| 2.5 µM | dT ₁₁ VN primer |
| 5 µCi | [α- ³³ P]dATP (1500 Ci/mmol, Bresatec) |
| 1.5 u | AmpliTaq (Perkin-Elmer) |

13 µl of PCR master mix was added to 0.5 ml tubes already containing 2 µl of a decamer primer (at 5 µM, to give 0.5 µM in 20 µl). Typically 48 tubes, two for each of the 24 decamers (table 2.1), were prepared, allowing the two RNA sources to be displayed by one $dT_{11}VN$ primer in combination with each of the 24 decamers in a single experiment. Reactions were covered with a drop of paraffin oil and removed to another laboratory where 5 µl of a diluted RT product was added. Care was taken to ensure that RT products were mixed well before samples were transferred into PCR reactions, especially after they had been frozen. Tubes were centrifuged for 10 sec at 12,000 × g and placed in a thermocycler (MJ Research). The thermal cycling profile used was: 30 cycles, each comprising 94°C for 30 sec, 40°C for 2 min and 72 C for 30 sec, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 5 min.

 $6 \mu l$ of DD PCR products were mixed with $1 \mu l$ of standard $10 \times$ gel loading buffer before loading onto 400 mm×300 mm×0.4 mm polyacrylamide gels. To facilitate comparisons

| name | sequence (5' -> 3') | source |
|----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| OPA-01 | caggcccttc | Operon* |
| OPA-02 | tgccgagctg | ** |
| OPA-03 | agtcagccac | 11 |
| OPA-04 | aatcgggctg | 11 |
| OPA-05 | aggggtcttg | н. |
| OPA-07 | gaaacgggtg | " |
| OPA-08 | gtgacgtagg | 11 |
| OPA-09 | gggtaacgcc | " |
| OPA-10 | gtgatcgcag | " |
| OPA-11 | caatcgccgt | " |
| OPA-12 | tcggcgatag | " |
| OPA-13 | cagcacccac | 11 |
| OPA-14 | tctgtgctgg | 17 |
| OPA-15 | ttccgaaccc | 11 |
| OPA-16 | agccagcgaa | п |
| OPA-18 | aggtgaccgt | " |
| OPA-19 | caaacgtcgg | 11 |
| OPA-20 | gttgcgatcc | T |
| DT-21 | gtactcaacc | Bresatec [†] |
| DT-28 | tagtcaccga | 11 |
| DT-30 (101yt2) | cgatgagtcc | 11 |
| DT-31 | gtcagacagg | 11 |
| DT-32 | gtggctaagg | 11 |
| DT-33 | cgccaagcat | ** |

Table 2.1Decamer primer sequences used in DD

*Primers were from 10-mer Kit A, Operon Technologies. Two primers, namely OPA-6 and OPA-17, than were included in this kit were not used in DD, because DD PCRs primed with them and any dT_{11} VN primer amplified <10 cDNAs.

†Primers were designed arbitrarily (taking care to avoid self complementarity and maintaining 50-60% G+C), or were chosen to bind exactly to a known mRNA (for example 10lyt2, see section 4.5) and were synthesised by Bresatec.

between fingerprints, pairs of RT-PCR products produced from the two different input RNA populations, but using the same primers, were loaded in adjacent lanes. Nondenaturing gels containing 6% polyacrylamide, 10% glycerol 2×TBE (sections 2.1.5 and 4.2) were used routinely and were electrophoresed at constant power (65 W) for five hours in 2× TBE buffer. Denaturing gels containing 6% polyacrylamide, 8 M urea and 1× TBE (section 2.1.5) were used occasionally during DD development and these were electrophoresed at 60 W for 2 hr in 1× TBE buffer. Irrespective of gel composition, the same Model S2 Sequencing Gel Electrophoresis Apparatus (Gibco BRL) was used. After electrophoresis, the gel plates were prised apart and the gel picked up on a sheet of 3MM chromatography paper before being dried for 2 hr at 80°C under vacuum (Model 583 Gel Dryer, Bio-Rad). Dried gels were exposed to X-ray film at room temperature overnight (12-15 hr). Two holes were punched through the gel and film after they were put together to facilitate realignment after the film was developed. Attempts were made to use PhosphorImage technology and ImageQuant software to analyse DD gels, but the automated detection of bands by this system (using area integration and peak detection functions) was not able to accurately identify differences between DD fingerprints.

2.2.14.2 Cloning DD cDNAs

As described in section 4.4, various procedures for cloning re-amplified cDNAs were tried. The basic methods used in all of the approaches were the same, but different strategies were employed to purify cDNAs before cloning and screen resultant clones. Details of the successful strategy and methods common to all approaches are presented here; the specifics of the two unsuccessful strategies are documented in sections 4.4.1 and 4.4.2. Reproducible differentially displayed cDNA tags were located on gels using the autoradiograph and cut out, leaving behind as much of the backing paper as possible. Polyacrylamide gel slices were rehydrated and macerated in CSL water and placed directly into re-amplification PCRs with appropriate primers. Re-amplification reactions were identical in all respects to those used to produce the original displays. 5 μ l of a given first round re-amplification product was used to seed a second identical round of re-amplification. 10 μ l of first and second round re-amplification products were purified by separation on differential display gels, appropriate products being identified by overnight autoradiography and eluted from gel slices by shaking overnight at 37°C in elution buffer.

Half of each second round product was ligated into T-tailed pBS SK + overnight at room temperature or 14° C in 20 µl reactions comprising:

| 8 µ1 | second round product |
|-------|-----------------------------------|
| 60 ng | T-tailed pBS SK + (section 2.1.5) |
| 1× | ligase buffer |
| 2 mM | ATP (adenosine-5'-phosphate) |
| 2.5 u | T4 DNA ligase (Pharmacia) |

Controls containing only vector DNA were always done. This strategy is known as A-T cloning (Ausubel *et al.*, 1988) and is based on the fact that Taq polymerase adds a number of extra adenosine residues to the 3' ends of PCR products (Clark, 1988). Cloning PCR products into T-tailed vectors eliminates the need to blunt end PCR products before cloning and the 1-2 bp A-T overlap between vector and insert facilitates ligation. Half of each ligation was mixed with 150 μ l of competent bacteria (section 2.5.1) and cooled on ice for 40 min with occasional gentle shaking before being heat shocked at 42^oC for 90 sec.

Transformation mixtures were plated on 2TY agar containing 100 μ g/ml amoxycillin (Moxacin, CSL), 40 μ g/ml 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- β -D-galactopyronoside (X-Gal) and Isopropyl β -D-Thiogalactopyronoside (IPTG) which were incubated overnight at 37^oC. White colonies were assumed to harbour plasmids containing inserts. When required, inserts were excised by restriction endonuclease digestion with *Hind*III and *Pst*I.

2.2.14.3 Screening of DD clones by colony blotting

White colonies were re-plated onto fresh medium, and onto medium overlayed with nylon membranes. Colonies grown on nylon were lysed and fixed by placing filters sequentially onto sheets of 3MM paper moistened with the following solutions: 0.5 M NaOH for 3 min, 3 lots of 1 M Tris pH 7 for 1 min and 1.5 M NaCl in 1 M Tris pH 7 for 3 min. Colony blots were hybridized with probes generated by random priming of first round re-amplification products eluted from the purification gel, using protocols documented in sections 2.2.9.2 and 2.2.11. Plasmid preparations were made using the alkaline lysis method (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989) from colonies selected on the basis of hybridization to probes in these colony blots. These plasmids were then tested by hybridization (after generation of random primed probes) to electroblotted differential displays and northern blots.

2.2.15 DNA sequence analysis

DNA sequence analysis was done to characterize a number of cDNA clones derived from DD throughout the project. Initially all DNA sequencing was done using the manual method but later, when automated sequencing became available, this second method was

occasionally used. Most sequences presented in this thesis were compiled from data generated by both systems. Both systems are based on termination of enzymatic DNA chain extension by dideoxynucleotides (Sanger *et al.*, 1977).

2.2.15.1 Manual sequencing

The manual sequencing protocol used asymmetric PCR with ³²P-labelled primers to generate sequence ladders. All enzymes and buffers were supplied by a kit (Taq Track[®] Sequencing Systems, Deaza, Promega) but a modified protocol was used. Primers were labelled in 10 μ l reactions incubated for 10 min at 37^oC and comprising:

| 10 pmol | sequencing primer (USP-17mer and RSP-25mer, Bresatec) |
|---------|---|
| 1× | T4 Polynucleotide Kinase buffer |
| 5 u | T4 Polynucleotide Kinase (Pharmacia) |
| 30 µCi | [γ- ³² P]ATP (4000 Ci/mmol, Bresatec) |

Labelled primers were used as soon as possible, but kept at -20° C if there was any delay. The kit supplied four deoxynucleotide/dideoxynucleotide solutions (d/ddATP, d/ddCTP, d/ddGTP and d/ddTTP) and 1 µl of each was dispensed into one 0.5 µl tube (on ice) for each clone being sequenced. The following 26 µl mix was assembled for each clone:

100 ng (~1.6 pmol) plasmid DNA (alkaline lysis plasmid preparations)

| 1× | Taq buffer |
|---------------|---|
| 2 µl (2 pmol) | ³² P-labelled primer (from the above reaction) |
| 5 u | Taq polymerase (sequencing grade) |

 $6 \mu l$ of these mixes were added to appropriate tubes already containing d/ddNTP solutions.

A drop of paraffin oil was added the tubes which were then thermocycled: 20 cycles, each comprising 95° C for 30 sec, 45° C for 1 sec and 70° C for 30 sec.

Each reaction was diluted with 10 μ I CSL water and a 5 μ I sample added to 0.5 μ I of 10× denaturing gel loading buffer and heated to 70^oC before loading on a denaturing polyacrylamide gel (6% polyacrylamide, 8 M urea and 1× TBE, section 2.1.5) which had been pre-electrophoresed for 30 min at 70 W. Samples were loaded in the standard order for sequencing. The gel was electrophoresed for 2½ hr at 70 W after which time, a second 5 μ I sample of each reaction was loaded in unused lanes before a 2 further hours of electrophoresis at 70 W. Sequencing gels were dried onto 3MM paper for 2 hr at 80^oC and autoradiographed overnight. The double loading of each sample enabled longer runs of sequence to be read; up to 300 bp of DNA sequence could be determined in a single experiment using the above method.

2.2.15.2 Automated sequencing

Automated sequencing was done with an ABI Prism (ABI) automated sequencer, utilizing the supplied dye terminator cycle sequencing reaction kit and adhering to all protocols therein. The same primers that were used in manual sequencing were used with the automated system (USP-17mer and RSP-25mer, Bresatec). Up to 350 bp of sequence data were provided by automated runs and no attempt was made to optimize the system further.

2.2.16.3 DNA sequence construction and database searches

All the data available for a given clone were compiled with the aid of Sequence Navigator and Dnasis software (v 1.0.1 for Apple Macintosh, ABI Prism and v 7.00 for MS-DOS, Hitachi software engineering respectively). During this process, original autoradiographs of manual sequence reactions and chromatographs produced by automated sequencing were examined to help resolve any ambiguities. Nucleic acid database comparisons were done at NCBI via their www site. The blastn program was used to search the non-redundant (nr) database. Blastn utilizes the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool algorithm of Altschul *et al* (1990) and the nr database contains all the sequences held in GenBank, EMBL and the DNA DataBank of Japan. Submission of sequences to GenBank was also done via a www page maintained at NCBI, using BankIt.

2.3 List of suppliers

Ajax Chemicals, Auburn NSW, Australia

Amersham, Amersham International plc, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK

Animal Resource Centre (ARC), WA, Australia

ABI, Applied Biotechnology Inc., Division of Perkin-Elmer Corporation

BDH, BDH Chemicals Australia Pty Ltd, Kilsyth Vic, Australia

Beckman, Beckman Instruments Inc., Fullerton CA, USA

Bio-Rad, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules CA, USA

Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim, Germany

Boehringer, Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany

Bresatec, Bresatec Pty Ltd, Adelaide SA, Australia

Carter Wallace, Carter Wallace Pty Ltd, Frenchs Forest NSW, Australia

CSL, Commonwealth Serum Laboratories, Melbourne Vic, Australia

Difco, Difco Laboratories, Detroit Michigan, USA

Faulding, F. H. Faulding Pty Ltd, Thebarton SA, Australia

Gibco BRL, Life Technologies, Gaithersburg MD, USA

Glad Products of Australia, Rhodes NSW, Australia

Kodak, Eastman Kodak, Rochester NY, USA

LKB Scintillation Products, Pharmacia LKB Biotechnology, Bromma, Sweden

MJ Research, products sold and serviced by Bresatec Pty Ltd

Molecular Bio-Products, San Diego CA, USA

Molecular Dynamics, Inc., Sunnyvale CA, USA

Molecular Pathology, IMVS, Adelaide SA, Australia
Operon Technologies, Inc., Alameda CA, USA

Oster, Division of Sunbeam Corporation, Milwaukee WI, USA

Perkin-Elmer Corporation, Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., Branchberg NJ, USA

Pharmacia, Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden

Promega, Promega Corporation, Madison WI, USA

Robbins Scientific, Robbins Scientific Corporation, Sunnyvale CA, USA

Schleicher and Schuell, Dassel, Germany

Sigma, Sigma Chemical Company, Sigma-Aldrich Pty Ltd, St. Louis MO, USA

Stratagene, Stratagene Cloning Systems, La Jolla CA, USA

Terumo, Tokyo, Japan

Whatman, Whatman International Ltd, Maidstone, UK

Wheaton, Millville NJ, USA

3. EFFECT OF DEPLETING CD8⁺ CELLS ON CYTOKINE mRNA LEVELS IN HSV INFECTED GANGLIA

The ganglionic infection that follows cutaneous inoculation of the flanks of mice with HSV provides a well characterized model of neural HSV infection (Simmons and Nash, 1984). In this model, known as the zosteriform model, immune control of ganglionic HSV infection is dependent on the presence of CD8⁺ cells (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992), but it is not known how these cells act. Cytokines are involved in all facets of anti-viral immunity from initiation and regulation of responses, to the mechanisms of virus clearance. In addition, many cytokines and their functions are well characterized at the molecular level in mice and humans. With respect to regulation of immune responses, the role of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in cytokine secretion has been studied extensively. However, the role of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes in promoting appropriate cytokine responses has received much less attention, despite the fact that CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ cells secrete the same range of cytokines (Kelso, 1995). Further, it has been suggested that CD8⁺ T cells, mediate anti-HSV activity in the nervous system via IFN- γ (Cantin *et al.*, 1995). Therefore cytokines are obvious targets for a molecular investigation into the activity of HSV-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the nervous system.

The CD8⁺ T cell depleted mouse is a potentially useful tool for identifying cytokines associated with CD8⁺ T lymphocyte mediated immunity; mice lacking CD8⁺T cells should also lack a CD8⁺ T cell dependent cytokine expression profile, if such a profile exists. Cytokines usually act in the local environment in which they are produced and therefore measurement of cytokine production in infected tissue is an appropriate way to gauge cytokine responses. In this study, sensory ganglia removed from groups of HSV infected immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice were compared with respect to various cytokine mRNA levels.

3.1 Generation of experimental material

Four groups of 20 BALB/c mice, of which two were treated with anti-CD8 and the other two were immunocompetent controls, were infected with HSV according to the zosteriform model. One immunocompetent group and one anti-CD8 treated group were killed five days after inoculation and the remaining mice were killed seven days after inoculation. These times were chosen because they correlate with the peak and recovery phases of acute ganglionic infection in the zosteriform model (Simmons *et al.*, 1992b). At the time of killing, left dorsal root ganglia from the eighth to tenth thoracic levels were pooled from each group of mice and snap frozen. Dorsal root ganglia were also removed from five uninfected mice. All experiments in this section were done using material extracted from these five groups of ganglia.

3.2 Development of a semi-quantitative RT-PCR method

An approach based on quantitative RT-PCRs to detect levels of cytokine transcription was chosen for the measurement of cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia. The RT-PCR method compared levels of each mRNA amongst samples but did not determine the absolute number of transcripts in each sample. Therefore the method is referred to as "semi-quantitative RT-PCR".

PCR primers were designed to amplify transcripts for IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IFN-7, Lyt 2 (CD8), HSV polymerase (HSV pol), and glyceradehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH, a constitutively expressed eukaryotic "house keeping" gene). In addition, an oligonucleotide probe for a region internal to the PCR primers was designed to allow detection of PCR products by hybridization. All oligonucleotides, the GenBank accessions of the nucleic acid sequences from which they were designed and the expected sizes of PCR products are listed in table 3.1. All RTs were primed with oligo $dT_{(12-18)}$. RT-PCR conditions were optimized for each primer pair so that a single product of the anticipated size was amplified from HSV infected ganglionic RNA, as judged by hybridization analyses of electroblotted polyacrylamide minigels (figure 3.1). In each case, the number of PCR cycles was set at the lowest number that reliably yielded amounts of product detectable by electroblot hybridization. To show that RNA and not DNA was the original nucleic acid template for RT-PCRs, experiments in which reverse transcriptase was omitted from the RT reaction were done. All such experiments gave no detectable products. Also, in those cases where PCR primer pairs spanned one or more introns, RT-PCR product sizes were always consistent with the template being a spliced mRNA and not the gene. Controls for DNA contamination, in which input RNA was substituted with water, were also included.

To ensure that RT-PCRs could determine the relative quantities of an mRNA in different samples, control samples (referred to as quantity controls) were prepared that comprised a day seven HSV infected ganglionic RNA sample diluted in uninfected ganglionic RNA. Several quantity controls, each with a different ratio of infected to uninfected ganglionic RNA, were included in each experiment. Amplified product was quantified by

| 5' primer | 3' primer | oligonucleotide probe | product size |
|-----------------------|--|---|--|
| gcagctgttgatggacctac | tccaccacagttgctgactc | gcagaggtccaagttcatcttc | 306 bp |
| agctagttgtcatcctgctc | agtgatgtggacttggactc | atatgcgaagcaccttggaagc | 355 bp |
| gataccactcccaacagacc | tctctctgaaggactctggc | ggtagctatggtactccagaag | 323 bp |
| caataactgcacccacttcc | aatcactcttcacctgctcc | tttctgggccatgcttctctgc | 356 bp |
| ctcatggctgtttctggctg | tttccgcttcctgaggctgg | tgttgctgatggcctgattgtc | 414 bp |
| cgccaggaagctacaactac | gctctggtgttacagtctgc | ggtgtgatggggacagttcctt | 218 bp |
| atcaacttcgactggcccttc | ccgtacatgtcgatgttcacc | cgcgtgtggggacattggccagagccactt | 174 bp |
| atggccttccgtgttcctac | ttgctcagtgtccttgctgg | ggctggcattgctctcaatgac | 358 bp |
| | 5' primer gcagctgttgatggacctac agctagttgtcatcctgctc gataccactcccaacagacc caataactgcacccacttcc ctcatggctgtttctggctg cgccaggaagctacaactac atcaacttcgactggcccttc atggccttccgtgttcctac | 5' primer3' primergcagctgttgatggacctactccaccacagttgctgactgagctagttgtcatcctgctcagtgatgtggacttggactcgataccactcccaacagacctctctctgaaggactctggccaataactgcacccacttccaatcactctcacctgctccctcatggctgtttctggctgtttccgcttcctgaggctggcgccaggaagctacaactacgctctggtgttacagtctgcatcaacttcgactggtccttcccgtacatgtcgatgttcaccatggccttccgtgttcctacttgctcagtgttcacc | 5' primer3' primeroligonucleotide probegcagctgttgatggacctactccaccacagttgctgactcgcagaggtccaagttcatcttcagctagttgtcatcctgctcagtgatgtggacttggactcatatgcgaagcaccttggaagcgataccactcccaacagacctctctctgaaggactctggcggtagctatggtactccagaagcaataactgcacccactccaatcactctccagaggctgtttctgggccatgctctgcctcatggctgtttctggctgtttccgcttcctgaggctgtgttgctgatggcatgtcccgccaggaagctacaactacgctctggtgttacagtctgggtgtgatgggacagttccttatcaacttccgactggcccttcccgtacatgtcgatgtcacccgcgtgtgggacagttccttatggccttccgtgttcctacttgctcagtgtccttgggctgggacattggccagagccactt |

Table 3.1PCR primers, oligo probes and expected PCR product sizes for semi-quantitative PCR analyses.

*GenBank accessions of nucleic acid sequences from which oligonucleotides were designed are bracketed

†accessions X05252 and X05253 also used

‡HSV pol oligonucleotides from Lakeman et al (1995)

Figure 3.1

Autoradiographs of electroblotted polyacrylamide gels loaded with RT-PCR products generated with primers specific for the transcripts indicated on the right and hybridized with appropriate radio-labelled oligonucleotide probes. RT-PCRs were seeded with ganglionic RNA from uninfected (1) and HSV infected (2-5) mice. Radiolabelled *Hpa*II digested pUC-19 plasmid DNA was included on each gel as a size marker (m) and sizes of relevant marker fragments are indicated on the left. (Primer and probe sequences can be found in table 3.1, as can the expected size of each RT-PCR product.)



PhosphorImage analysis of hybridized blots. To demonstrate the reproducibility of semiquantitative RT-PCR, up to eight replicate RT-PCRs were done on each RNA sample. The products of each set of replicate reactions were dot blotted onto a single membrane for hybridization with an appropriate oligonucleotide probe. After hybridization, the statistical mean and standard error of PhosphorImage pixel counts from each set of replicates were calculated. The standard errors were construed as a measure of the reproducibility of RT-PCRs.

3.3 Cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia

The previous section documented the development of semi-quantitative RT-PCR to detect transcription of five cytokines, namely IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10 and IFN- γ . To further establish the utility of semi-quantitative RT-PCR for detection of cytokine transcription, a preliminary analysis of cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia was done. Transcription of all five cytokines was examined in uninfected ganglia, and ganglia taken from mice five and seven days after inoculation. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was used and quantity controls were included in these experiments, but replicate RT-PCRs were not done. The results of these experiments are presented as graphs in figure 3.2. The only cytokine mRNA detected in uninfected ganglia was for IL-6, but the levels of this transcript were extremely low and did not appear to disturb the quantity controls in this experiment. Transcripts for all five cytokines were detected in ganglia five days after inoculation of mice with HSV and the abundance of these mRNAs was increased further on day seven. These data agree with results of immunohistochemical experiments published for IL-4, IL-10 and IFN- γ (Cantin *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 1996) and extend current knowledge of

Figure 3.2

Semi-quantitative PCR analysis of cytokine mRNA expression in ganglia of uninfected mice (d0) and infected mice, five (d5) and seven (d7) days after inoculation with HSV. The cytokines examined are indicated above each graph and the bars represent ImageQuant pixel counts from dot blotted RT-PCRs, made relative to day seven values set arbitrarily at 100. To the right of the dashed line in both columns of graphs are quantity controls, 5 and 25 fold dilutions of d7 RNA in d0 RNA. Transcripts for GAPDH (bottom right) were quantified in each sample to control for RNA handling errors.



cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia to include IL-2 and IL-6. The correlation of semi-quantitative RT-PCR data with previously published results demonstrates the utility of this method in studies of cytokine expression.

3.4 Verification of CD8⁺ cell depletion

The efficacy of anti-CD8 treatment has been measured previously by fluorescent flow cytometric analysis (Cobbold *et al.*, 1984; Nash *et al.*, 1987; Smith *et al.*, 1994), immunohistochemistry (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992) and functional assays such as cytotoxicity (Cobbold *et al.*, 1984; Nash *et al.*, 1987). These methods have shown that anti-CD8 treatment can deplete cells bearing functional surface CD8 molecules from lymphoid tissue. To date, the efficacy of anti-CD8 treatment has not been assessed at the transcriptional level or at a site of infection.

Lyt 2 is a component of murine CD8 and the level of Lyt 2 mRNA was used as a measure of CD8 gene expression. To compare relative levels of Lyt 2 mRNA in ganglia from the uninfected group of mice and ganglia taken from the immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated groups of mice, total ganglionic RNA samples were analysed by semi-quantitative RT-PCR (figure 3.3A). In concordance with the prior observation that CD8⁺ T cells could not be detected by immunohistochemistry in uninfected sensory ganglia (Cantin *et al.*, 1995), Lyt 2 transcripts were not detected in RNA from uninfected mice. Conversely, in ganglionic RNA from immunocompetent mice, Lyt 2 transcripts were detected easily five and seven days after HSV infection. These data are consistent with accumulation of CD8⁺ T cells in HSV infected ganglia during the course of infection, shown previously by

Figure 3.3

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analyses of Lyt 2 (A) and HSV pol (B) mRNA in ganglia of uninfected mice (d0) and infected mice, five (d5) and seven (d7) days after inoculation with HSV. Mice were either immunocompetent (c, black bar) or CD8⁺ cell depleted (d, grey bar). Above each graph is the dot blot on which quantifications were based, note that each RT-PCR was done in duplicate (n=2, Lyt 2) or quadruplicate (n=4, HSV pol). Bars on graphs represent means and standard errors of ImageQuant pixel counts from replicate RT-PCRs. To the right of the dashed line both on dot blots and graphs are quantity controls, the stated dilutions of d7 RNA in d0 RNA. *not done.

Α

| | d0 d5 | | d7 | dilutions of d7 c | | |
|---|-------|-----|-----|----------------------|--|--|
| | С | c d | c d | 5 25 125 | | |
| а | | | • | Ø 9 | | |
| b | | • | • | | | |





| | d0 c | <u>d5</u> c d | | d7 cd | | dilutions of d7 d 2 5 25 | | |
|---|---------|------------------|--|----------|---|--------------------------------|----|--|
| a | | | | ÷ | ٠ | | a, | |
| b | | | | 0 | • | 0 | 0 | |
| с | | | | + | ۰ | | 8 | |
| d | | | | \oplus | ۲ | | ŵ | |



immunohistochemistry (Cantin *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 1996). Significantly, levels of Lyt 2 transcripts in RNA samples from anti-CD8 treated mice were at least 100 fold less than those found in immunocompetent mice. GAPDH mRNA levels, as measured by semiquantitative RT-PCR, varied less than 1.7 fold amongst all samples analysed (not shown). Therefore, it was concluded that the apparent differences in Lyt 2 mRNA levels amongst samples were not a result of RNA handling errors. The profound deficit in Lyt 2 transcripts in ganglia from anti-CD8 treated mice is consistent with the belief that anti-CD8 treatment depletes mice of the vast majority of cells that transcribe mRNA for CD8. Furthermore, these data indicate that depletion of CD8 expressing cells can be maintained at a site of viral infection, despite strong, sustained antigenic stimulation.

3.5 CD8⁺ cell depletion increases HSV replication

The expression of a HSV gene was used to gauge the effect of anti-CD8 treatment on ganglionic HSV replication. U_L30 , a β gene that encodes the HSV DNA polymerase, was chosen for this purpose (Lakeman *et al.*, 1995). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was used to detect the relative levels of HSV pol transcription in ganglia from uninfected mice and ganglia taken from immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice five and seven days after inoculation (figure 3.3B). HSV pol transcripts were not detected in ganglia from uninfected mice, reflecting the specificity of the oligonucleotides used as PCR primers and the probe. Both in immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice, the amount of HSV pol mRNA in ganglia was higher five compared with seven days after inoculation. At both times, higher levels of mRNA for HSV pol were detected in ganglia from CD8⁺ cell depleted mice compared with ganglia from immunocompetent mice, with the difference

being most marked seven days after infection. GAPDH mRNA levels showed that both day five samples were slightly overloaded (figure 3.4, bottom right), but nonetheless, it was apparent that anti-CD8 treatment increased ganglionic HSV replication.

3.6 CD8⁺ cell depletion alters cytokine mRNA levels in HSV infected ganglia

Experiments were designed to address the hypothesis that depletion of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes *in vivo* alters the cytokine response to HSV in infected ganglia.

Five cytokines were selected for this study, namely IL-2 and IFN- γ , which are considered to be Th1 cytokines and IL-4, IL-6 and IL-10, which are Th2 cytokines. GAPDH mRNA levels were used to control for RNA handling errors. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was used to compare the mRNA levels for each of these molecules in ganglia from uninfected mice and ganglia taken from immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice five and seven days after inoculation (figure 3.4). RT-PCRs for each cytokine transcript were done at least in triplicate, and the majority in quadruplicate. The upregulation of cytokine transcription in ganglia during HSV infection described in section 3.3 was confirmed by these experiments and further, it was shown that the increase in the level of each cytokine was not dependent on CD8⁺ T cells. The comparative amounts of GAPDH mRNA detected showed that both day five samples were overloaded with respect to the uninfected and day seven samples. Therefore the differences in cytokine mRNA levels between days five and seven are, at face value, underestimated. In examining the data for differences between anti-CD8 treated and immunocompetent mice, each day after infection was considered separately. On the fifth

Figure 3.4

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analyses of cytokine mRNA in ganglia of uninfected mice (d0) and infected mice, five (d5) and seven (d7) days after inoculation with HSV. Mice were either immunocompetent (black bar) or CD8⁺ cell depleted (grey bar). The cytokines examined are indicated above each graph and bars represent the mean and standard errors of ImageQuant pixel counts from dot blotted RT-PCRs done in triplicate (n=3) or in most cases quadruplicate (n=4). To the right of the dashed line in both columns of graphs are quantity controls, 2, 5 and 25 fold dilutions of d7 RNA in d0 RNA. Transcripts for GAPDH (bottom right) were quantified in each sample to control for RNA handling errors. *not done.



day of infection, transcripts for at least IL-2 and IL-4 appeared to be more abundant in ganglia from anti-CD8 treated mice than immunocompetent mice. However, the quantity controls did not adequately cover the appropriate range and the standard errors were large in comparison with the amounts of transcripts detected. For these reasons, the significance of the observed differences is not certain. Seven days after inoculation, with reference to the quantity controls, the amounts of IL-4 and IL-6 transcripts were two fold higher in ganglia of CD8⁺ cell depleted when compared with immunocompetent mice. Smaller differences between immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice were shown for IL-2 and IL-10, but the significance of these differences was considered to be questionable. IFN- γ mRNA levels were not significantly affected by anti-CD8 treatment.

Three conclusions about the effect of CD8⁺ cell depletion on ganglionic cytokine mRNA levels in HSV infected ganglia were drawn from this set of experiments. First, the levels of two cytokines, namely IL-4 and IL-6, were increased by anti-CD8 treatment. Second, anti-CD8 treatment did not affect IFN- γ expression and therefore third, the pattern of cytokines affected by CD8 depletion cannot be easily explained in terms of the Th1/Th2 paradigm.

3.7 Cytokine expression five days after infection

The experiments presented in the previous section were designed to investigate ganglionic cytokine mRNA levels five and seven days after inoculation of mice, but the day five results were inconclusive. To examine cytokine transcription more closely five days after inoculation, which corresponds to the time when clearance of infectious HSV from ganglia

is initiated, the semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of the day five RNA samples was repeated using an appropriate quantity control. In addition, RT-PCRs for each cytokine mRNA were done in octuplicate, to improve confidence in the results. The data from these experiments are presented as graphs in figure 3.5 and are consistent with the trends documented in the last section. That is, in anti-CD8 treated mice, ganglionic IL-2 and IL-4 mRNA levels were increased significantly compared with immunocompetent mice, five days after inoculation with HSV. The other cytokines tested (IL-6, IL-10 and IFN- γ) were not considered to be significantly affected by CD8⁺ cell depletion at this time.

3.8 Discussion

Mice depleted of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes have intact HSV-specific DTH and humoral responses and the only documented defect of anti-HSV immune function in these mice, is the failure to generate MHC class I restricted CTLs (Nash *et al.*, 1987). A specific aspect of immune system regulation is the role played by cytokines in shaping helper T cell responses. The Th1/Th2 paradigm predicts that changes in Th1 cytokine expression should induce a reciprocal change in Th2 cytokine expression and vice versa (Heinzel *et al.*, 1993; Sharma *et al.*, 1996). This model is not supported by the data presented above pertaining to changes in ganglionic cytokine mRNA levels caused by anti-CD8 treatment of HSV infected mice. In ganglia, the abundance of mRNA for only one cytokine, namely IL-4, was altered five and seven days after HSV inoculation by anti-CD8 treatment. Transcripts for other Th2 cytokines were not similarly affected and the level of mRNA for IFN-γ, a Th1 cytokine, was also unchanged. Furthermore, on the fifth day of infection, CD8⁺ cell depleted mice had raised levels of transcripts for IL-2 and IL-4, which are considered to be

Figure 3.5

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analyses of cytokine mRNA in ganglia taken from mice five days after inoculation with HSV. Mice were either immunocompetent controls (c, black bar) or CD8⁺ cell depleted (d, grey bar). The cytokines examined are indicated above each graph and bars represent the mean and standard errors of ImageQuant pixel counts from dot blotted RT-PCRs done in octuplicate (n=8). A quantity control (½d) consisting of d RNA diluted two fold in uninfected ganglionic RNA was included. Transcripts for GAPDH (bottom right) were quantified in each sample to control for RNA handling errors.















Th1 and Th2 cytokines respectively. Ashman et al (1995) reported that differences in cytokine expression between two strains of mice with different susceptibilities to severe central nervous system lesions caused by Candida albicans yeast, do not fit the Th1/Th2 paradigm. Thus, there is a precedent for a breakdown of the Th1/Th2 paradigm in a nervous system infection. However, direct application of the Th1/Th2 paradigm to anti-HSV immunity in ganglia may be too simplistic. For instance, the biasing of individual Th cells towards Th1 or Th2 cytokine expression is thought to occur at the time of priming, presumably in lymphoid tissue (Seder et al., 1992) and the increased IL-4 transcription observed in HSV infected ganglia may not be occurring in the vicinity of T cell priming. Also, there is evidence for the expression of cytokines, including IL-4, IL-6 and IL-10 by resident cells of the nervous system (Benveniste, 1992; Umehara et al., 1994; Wesselingh et al., 1994; Murphy et al., 1995) and therefore, the source of increased levels of cytokine mRNAs might not be lymphocytes. These issues could be partly resolved by expansion of the current line of investigation to include lymphoid tissue, absolute quantification of cytokines in lymphoid and nervous system tissue, and in situ studies to determine the cellular origin of the various cytokine transcripts detected in HSV infected ganglia.

OP

There may be implications of changes in cytokine transcription induced by anti-CD8 treatment that lie outside the confines of immune regulation and Th responses. In experiments presented in this chapter, anti-CD8 treatment of mice resulted both in increased IL-4 transcription and impaired ability to clear HSV from infected ganglia. These data are of particular interest because mice given recombinant IL-4 and HSV intranasally suffer more severe encephalitis than mice given HSV alone (Ikemoto *et al.*, 1995b). Additionally, therapy with anti-IL-4 mAbs reduced mortality after an intranasal

challenge with HSV. It might be envisaged that the effect of recombinant IL-4 on HSV infection is mediated via a reciprocal decrease in IFN- γ expression, but in the light of data present here and the above discussion, this cannot be assumed. Although a causal link between increased IL-4 expression and inefficient virus clearance cannot be made on the basis of the current data, the possibility that IL-4 is detrimental to resolution of HSV infection merits further investigation.

IL-2 mRNA was more abundant in anti-CD8 treated mice, compared with immunocompetent mice, at five days after infection. There is little literature which either supports, or sheds light on the reasons for the apparent IL-2 upregulation. According to one report, there may be a population of CD8⁺ suppressor cells, the removal of which allows the generation of more IL-2 producing cells (Pyrmowicz *et al.*, 1985). However, if anti-CD8 treatment releases CD4⁺ T cells from suppression, an equivalent increase in transcription of other cytokines might be expected. One might speculate that an increase in IL-2 producing cells reflects an early compensation for the lack of CD8⁺ T cells.

Unlike the increase in IL-2 transcription at five days after inoculation, there is a likely explanation for increased IL-6 transcription in ganglia of CD8⁺ cell depleted mice seven days after HSV inoculation. Bolin *et al* (1995) and Murphy *et al* (1995) have each documented IL-6 production by resident cells of the peripheral nervous system in response to neuronal or axonal damage and further, primary sensory neurons have been identified as a source of IL-6 (Murphy *et al.*, 1995). Anti-CD8 treatment exacerbates HSV infection and it is feasible that increased neuronal damage, caused by HSV in the absence of CD8⁺ T cells, results in higher levels of IL-6 transcription. This hypothesis could be confirmed

by in situ studies to determine the source of IL-6 production in HSV infected ganglia. The role of IL-6 in situations of neural damage is not completely understood. Increased expression of IL-6 has been noticed in areas of the brain resistant to ischemia (Maeda et al., 1994) and IL-6 can promote the survival of several types of neurons in culture (Hama et al., 1991; Kushima et al., 1992; Kushima and Hatanaka, 1992; Yamada and Hatanaka, 1994). In addition, IL-6 has been shown to cause cultured astrocytes to secrete nerve growth factor, an important neurotrophic factor (Williams et al., 1986), providing a possible mechanism of IL-6 mediated protection of neurons (Frei et al., 1989). IL-6 production has been noted in many viral infections in the central nervous system, including those caused by Borna disease virus (Shankar et al., 1992), lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (Frei et al., 1989; Moskophidis et al., 1991), vesicular stomatitis virus (Frei et al., 1989), murine hepatitis virus (Sun et al., 1995), Theiler's murine encephalomyelits virus (Rubio and Sierra, 1993) and enterovirus (Gillespie et al., 1993). It has been suggested that the role of IL-6 in these infections is to protect nervous system tissue from viral damage (Frei et al., 1989; Rodriguez et al., 1994) and this may be the case in ganglionic HSV infections. However, putative rescue of HSV infected neurons by IL-6 production is not a unique property of CD8⁺ T cells, because IL-6 mRNA was more abundant in ganglia of anti-CD8 treated mice.

IFN- γ is an established mediator of anti-HSV immunity and was of particular interest in this investigation. Production of IFN- γ has been proposed as an important effector mechanism by which CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes terminate HSV infection in the skin (Smith *et al.*, 1994). In HSV infected ganglia, where CD8⁺ T cells are crucial for adequate immunity, a more modest role for IFN- γ was shown by Cantin *et al* (1995). The current

semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of IFN- γ transcription in anti-CD8 treated and immunocompetent mice demonstrates that CD8⁺ T lymphocytes are not required for IFN- γ production in HSV infected ganglia. This means either that CD8⁺ T lymphocytes do not contribute significantly to IFN- γ production or that if IFN- γ is made by CD8⁺ T cells, other cells compensate in CD8⁺ cell depleted mice. Either way, the anti-viral activity unique to HSV-specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes is independent of IFN- γ .

In summary, the experiments reported in this chapter raise new issues about the nature of cytokine regulation in sensory ganglia during the immune response to HSV infections and the role of IL-4 in HSV pathogenesis. However, none of the changes in cytokine transcription caused by anti-CD8 treatment adequately explain why CD8⁺ T cells appear to be essential for clearance of HSV from murine ganglia. Therefore the mechanisms of CD8⁺ T lymphocyte action in the nervous system remain unknown. Furthermore, it remains to be shown whether the effects of anti-CD8 treatment documented in this chapter can be reproduced in other models of infection and on other viral and mouse genetic backgrounds.

4. DEVELOPMENT AND VERIFICATION OF mRNA DIFFERENTIAL DISPLAY

New approaches, which are not confined by the boundaries of present knowledge of immune mechanisms, may increase our understanding of the function of HSV-specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. Comparison of HSV infections in immunocompetent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice identified previously a role for CD8⁺ T cells and this defined model can be exploited further to gain molecular insights. A complete catalogue of the molecular differences between HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice must include the effectors by which CD8⁺ T cells mediate their anti-viral effect. Investigation based on such a catalogue of differences is not limited to, but may be aided by, present knowledge and constitutes a new approach to elucidating CD8⁺ T cell functions.

Several methods have been developed for comparing molecular repertoires. Some methods make comparisons at the polypeptide level (eg. protein fingerprinting using twodimensional PAGE), but techniques based on mRNA analysis are more sensitive, facilitate further analysis of molecules of interest and hence are more popular. There are three basic strategies for identifying differentially expressed mRNAs: differential screening of cDNA libraries, subtractive hybridization and mRNA population fingerprinting. With a few recently published exceptions (Coche *et al.*, 1994; Hubank and Schatz, 1994; Zeng *et al.*, 1994), most successful implementations of the first two strategies have used large amounts of RNA (ie. more than 50 μ g), making them unattractive options for analysis of murine dorsal root ganglia. In contrast, mRNA population fingerprinting methods, which are PCR based, require small amounts of input RNA and are at least as sensitive as the other techniques. The experiments in this chapter describe the development and validation of mRNA differential display (DD), an mRNA population fingerprinting method, for use in the identification mRNAs that are expressed at different levels in HSV infected ganglia from immunocompetent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice.

4.1 Basis of DD and considerations on the choice of primers

Mammalian cells are estimated to contain over 20,000 different species of mRNA and therefore displaying the full diversity of mRNAs from a group of cells at once is impossible. DD, introduced by Liang and Pardee (1992), uses degenerately primed RT-PCRs to divide the total pool of mRNAs into sets of cDNA samples, each comprising between 50 and 150 different species, that can be displayed on large polyacrylamide gels (eg. figure 4.1). Displaying RNA populations concurrently from two or more sources allows differences in transcription between the sources to be visualized. After a difference is identified on a display gel, this partial cDNA can be excised from the gel, amplified by PCR and then cloned, allowing further analysis. In the five years since DD was first published, there have been over 200 publications based on the method, including several recent reviews (Liang and Pardee, 1995; McClelland *et al.*, 1995; Sunday, 1995). The technology is currently available in kit form from a number of suppliers.

The key to DD is the design of primers used in RT-PCRs. According to the original protocol, a series of 12 RTs are done, each primed with one of 12 possible oligonucleotides of the form TTTTTTTTTTTTVN, where V is A, G or C and N is A, G, C or T (ie. $dT_{11}AT$, $dT_{11}AG$, $dT_{11}AC$, etc). RTs using primers of this form initiate transcription at the

Figure 4.1

Autoradiograph of a differential display of RNA from HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent (c) and CD8⁺ cell depleted (d) mice using $T_{11}AC$ with 24 different decamers (1-24).

1



polyadenylated 3' end of mRNAs and, owing to the specificity conferred by the last two bases of the primer, one twelfth of the input mRNAs should theoretically be transcribed. However, it has been shown that the penultimate base does not contribute greatly to the specificity of priming (Liang *et al.*, 1993) and therefore, primers with a single non-dT base at the 3' end (dT₁₁V) have been recommended (Liang *et al.*, 1994). Irrespective of the primer system chosen, the net effect is that a series of cDNA pools are generated, each of which represents a subset of the original population of mRNAs. Proponents of dT₁₁V primers argue that cDNA pools generated by dT₁₁VN primers are largely overlapping (Liang *et al.*, 1992; Liang *et al.*, 1993; Linskens *et al.*, 1995) and it has been shown that dT₁₁V primers reduce this redundancy (Liang *et al.*, 1994), but this gain may come at the expense of diversity. There is little doubt, however, that the newer system, which apparently entails one quarter of the work required by the original protocol for the same result, is more marketable and most DD kits provide primers of the newer (dT₁₁V) form.

Following the RT reactions, a subset of each cDNA pool is PCR amplified in the presence of a radioactive nucleotide using an arbitrary decamer in combination with the RT primer. The radiolabelled products of such reactions are then separated on large polyacrylamide gels and visualized by autoradiography. It has been estimated that a series of 25 decamers are required to sample adequately all the cDNAs in a pool generated using a $dT_{11}VN$ primer (Bauer *et al.*, 1993). However, this statistical estimate ignores two important empirical findings regarding DD: (i) DD is greatly biased towards the display of abundant mRNAs and rare transcripts are under-represented (Bertoli *et al.*, 1995) and (ii) abundant mRNAs are often represented on DD gels many times (Liang *et al.*, 1992; Linskens *et al.*, 1995). Based on these empirical findings, Bertoli (1995) suggested that fewer than 25 decamers are required to sample the most abundant cDNAs, which comprise the vast majority of products visualized on a display gel, but far more primers are required to render effectively even a fraction of the rare cDNAs. No estimations of this kind based on the use of $dT_{11}V$ primers have been published. The question: How many decamer primers is enough? remains unanswered, but in most applications this consideration is of limited practical value because transcriptional differences are often identified by DD with fewer than a dozen primer combinations. Exceptions to this practical rule arise when DD is applied to situations where there are few differences, and when differentially expressed mRNAs are of low abundance in their original samples. The abundance of mRNAs of interest is a potentially important limitation when using DD to identify transcripts associated with CD8⁺ T cells in HSV infected ganglia, because the cell types of greatest interest, CD8⁺ cells and infected neurons, are greatly outnumbered (at least 100:1) by other cells.

In this project, a combination of twelve $dT_{11}VN$ primers and 24 decamer primers was used. Figure 4.1 shows an example of a DD gel on which paired ganglionic RNA samples were displayed using all 24 decamers in combination with a single $dT_{11}VN$ primer. Unless otherwise stated, RNA extracted from vero (African green monkey kidney) cells was used in all developmental experiments reported in this chapter.

4.2 Choice of gels for use in DD

The original description of DD and nearly all subsequent publications have used denaturing polyacrylamide gels, identical to those used for DNA sequencing, to separate DD products,

despite an early publication suggesting that non-denaturing (or native) gels are more suitable (Bauer *et al.*, 1993). The main point stated in favour of non-denaturing gels was that they display, at a single position, variants of a PCR product that differ only in the number of additional adenosine residues at their 3' end (generated by Taq polymerase (Clark, 1988)) whereas denaturing gels display each variant at a unique position, leading to unwanted complexity (Bauer *et al.*, 1993). In addition, unlike sequencing gels that resolve DNA molecules strictly according to size, non-denaturing gels resolve DNA according both to size and base composition and therefore may separate two DNA species of identical size. For these reasons, non-denaturing gels were tested for their utility in resolving DD RT-PCR products.

Figure 4.2A shows an autoradiograph of three pairs of differential displays on a standard sequencing gel (denaturing) and a non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel. The compositions and electrophoretic conditions of these gels were as per sections 2.2.15.1 and 2.2.14.1 respectively. In concordance with the findings of Bauer *et al* (1993), multiple bands on the denaturing gel (especially seen below approximately 150 bp), produced by polyadenylated variants of the same PCR product, were resolved as single bands under non-denaturing conditions. In addition, although there is no known matrix that separates products from 500 bp to 100 bp linearly (a property that would be ideal for DD), the native gel came closest to this goal. In contrast, products between 100 and 200 bp occupied over half the length of the denaturing gel. From this result and other similar experiments where different electrophoresis conditions were tested for both types of gel, it was concluded that non-denaturing gels are more useful than denaturing gels for separating of DD RT-PCR products.

Figure 4.2

Autoradiographs of various 6% polyacrylamide gel types tested for use in DD.

A

Products of three pairs of DD RT-PCRs fractionated on denaturing and non-denaturing gels. The DNA sizes indicated on the left of each gel were generated using a DNA sequence ladder (not shown) on the denaturing gel and radio-labelled *Hpa*II digested pUC-19 plasmid DNA (to the left of DD products) on the non-denaturing gel. Note the different DNA fragment size separating ranges of the two gel types and the "laddering" effect on the denaturing gel especially below approximately 150 bp.

B

Products of two DD RT-PCRs separated on non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels prepared without glycerol (-) and with 20% glycerol (+). Note the difference in resolution between the two gels.



A disadvantage of non-denaturing gels was that, despite resolving a wider range of DNA fragment sizes, the resolution of fragments on these gels was inferior to that of denaturing gels. Changing the concentrations of TBE buffer, ratios of acrylamide:bis-acrylamide and the electrophoretic conditions produced no significant improvement (data not shown). Glycerol is sometimes added to non-denaturing gels to prevent cracking during the drying process, a problem that reduces resolution. Although cracking did not seem to be a source of poor resolution on DD gels (ie. the gels appeared to be intact after drying and the appearance of subsequent autoradiographs was not indicative of cracking), the addition of glycerol was tested because none of the other attempts to increase resolution had been fruitful. Figure 4.2B shows sections of non-denaturing gels that have been prepared with or without 20% glycerol. In this experiment, resolution was enhanced by the addition of glycerol to the gel matrix, to the extent that it approached that of denaturing gels. Further experiments tested lower concentrations of glycerol because gels prepared with 20% glycerol remain tacky after drying, causing problems with autoradiography and storage. Gels with 10% glycerol provided the best compromise between good resolution and ease of handling and were chosen for use in DD.

The gel composition and electrophoretic conditions established by the above set of experiments were: 6% polyacrylamide (acrylamide:bis-acrylamide 29:1, polymerised with 0.1% ammonium persulphate and 0.075% TEMED), 10% glycerol in 2× TBE buffer and electrophoresed at 60 W for 5-6 hours in 2× TBE buffer. These parameters were used in all subsequent DD based experiments.

4.2 Optimization of RT-PCR conditions for DD

No special modifications were required to adapt standard RT protocols for use in DD because the aim of RT reactions in DD is the same as that for most other applications, ie. to fully transcribe into single stranded cDNA each RNA molecule that can bind the chosen primer. All PCR reactions require optimization for maximum performance in a given situation. PCRs are most frequently used to amplify single, defined sequences of nucleic acid and optimal reaction conditions can be very specific. The optimization of such a reaction is easily monitored by measuring increases in the amount of desired product after each successive refinement. In contrast, the aim of DD PCRs are the production of approximately 100 undefined products of varying size, but most preferably under 1 kb, by each of a number of different primers pairs and therefore, the essence of PCR optimization for DD is compromise rather than specificity.

A DD PCR reaction comprises template cDNA, a $dT_{11}VN$ primer, an arbitrary decamer primer, each of the four dNTPs, radiolabelled dATP, MgCl₂, a buffer (Tris-HCl and KCl, defined by the manufacturer of Taq) and Taq polymerase. The amounts of each constituent can be altered to change the number of discrete products and the background seen between the products when visualized on a gel. Two parameters of PCR thermocycling are critical for DD, (i) the temperature and length of annealing steps, which partially determines the level of degenerate priming, and (ii) the number of cycles, which affects the amount of each product and background on DD gels. A change in one of the above reagent amounts or thermocycler settings generally affects the remaining parameters and therefore, simultaneous titration of all reagents and thermocycling profiles is, theoretically, the most
efficient approach to optimization. However, simultaneous titration of ten parameters is not feasible and therefore, some conditions were not modified and others were fixed according to independent criteria (for example, the need to use as little RNA as possible), reducing the number of permutations. Primers were used at the concentrations originally specified by Liang and Pardee (1992) (2.5 M and 0.5 M for dT₁₁VN and decamer primers respectively) because these concentrations are constant in most of the DD literature. The buffer was not changed from the manufacturer's recommendation. Another three parameters were fixed for economic or practical reasons. First, only small quantities of RNA were available and therefore the lowest amount of input cDNA that reliably produced approximately 100 PCR products when amplified with the majority of primer pairs was used (equivalent of 10 ng of mRNA per reaction, assuming 100% efficiency in the RT). Second, to reduce expense and exposure to radioactivity, the smallest amount of $[\alpha - {}^{33}P]$ dATP that enabled visualization of products after overnight autoradiography of gels was used (5 μ Ci per reaction). Third, the number of iterations in the thermocycling profile was reduced from the originally recommended 40 cycles (Liang and Pardee, 1992) to 30 cycles, to save time and because early optimization experiments indicated that this reduction in cycles lowered background on DD gels without a significant loss of discrete products over a wide range of other parameter settings. The remaining four parameters, namely concentrations of dNTPs, MgCl₂ and Taq and the annealing temperature, interact to determine the stringency of priming and polymerase stability, which in turn influence the final number of PCR products visualized on a DD gel. These parameters were titrated in groups of three over a series of experiments, an example of which is represented by the autoradiograph in figure 4.3. This particular experiment tested all possible combinations of five MgCl₂ concentrations, three dNTP concentrations and two amounts of Taq

112

An example of an experiment in which three DD PCR conditions were titrated simultaneously, dNTP concentration ([dNTP]), amount of Taq polymerase used (Taq) and concentration of MgCl₂ ([MgCl₂]: a = 1 mM; b = 1.5 mM; c = 2 mM; d = 2.5 mM and e = 3 mM). The autoradiograph depicted is of a DD gel on which RNA extracted from vero cells was displayed with $dT_{11}AA$ and decamer DT-21 using the PCR conditions indicated above each lane.



polymerase. Of particular note is the observation that some products are amplified best at the highest and not at all at the lowest MgCl₂ concentration, whereas other products have the opposite MgCl₂ requirement, emphasising the need for compromise conditions in DD PCRs. The interactions amongst the three parameters is also demonstrated by this experiment, in which raising dNTP concentration, the amount of Taq, or both, reduces the MgCl₂ concentration needed to support amplification of the same number of products. A set of conditions for the four parameters was chosen after a series of titration experiments using one pair of primers. The choice was then checked, and modified if necessary, in further experiments using more than 12 different primer pairs. The final conditions chosen after this process of optimization were: dNTP and MgCl₂ concentrations of 10 μ M and 1.5 mM respectively, 1.5 units of Taq per reaction and an annealing temperature of 40^oC for 2 minutes. The conditions chosen for all parameters, along with the variations tested for each, are summarized in table 4.1.

4.3 Reliability of DD

Two important reliability issues relating to differential displays are: (i) ensuring that the products of DD PCRs are amplified cDNA, not chromosomal DNA and (ii) that the range of products produced by RNA from one source with a given pair of primers is reproducible. Experiments to test these concerns were done throughout the development of DD and figure 4.4 shows exemplary autoradiographs.

To demonstrate that DD PCR products were not derived from contaminating genomic or other DNA, duplicate RNA samples were subjected to the same RT-PCR procedure, except

| Parameter | Conditions tested | Final conditions |
|------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|
| input cDNA | equivalent to 200, 20, 10 and 2 ng of RNA | $\equiv 10 \text{ ng of RNA}$ |
| [dT ₁₁ VN primer] | 2.5 μΜ | 2.5 μΜ |
| [decamer primer] | 0.5 μΜ | 0.5 μΜ |
| [dNTP] | 2, 5, 10, 15 and 20 μM | 10 µM |
| [MgCl ₂] | 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 3.5, 4 and 5 mM | 1.5 mM |
| [α- ³³]dATP* | 3, 4, 5, 7.5, 10 µCi/reaction | 5 μCi/reaction |
| Taq [†] | 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5 u/reaction | 1.5 u/reaction |
| [PCR buffer] | 1× | $1 \times$ |
| annealing | 37, 38, 40, 42ºC for 1 or 2 min | 40°C for 2 min |
| cycle number | 30, 35 and 40 cycles | 30 |

 Table 4.1
 Parameter conditions used in development of DD PCRs

*[α -³⁵S]dATP at 7 and 14 µCi/reaction and [α -³²P]dATP at 0.5 µCi/reaction also tested.

[†]Taq from a second supplier (not Perkin-Elmer) was tested at 0.5, 1 and 2 u/reaction, but could not be used after being withdrawn from the market in early 1994.

the reverse transcriptase enzyme was omitted from one of the RTs reactions. Any DNA fragments amplified by PCR from the products of a sham RT were considered to be contaminants. If DNA contamination was found, the cleanliness of reagents and equipment was checked using reactions in which input RNA was replaced with water. As reported by other investigators (Liang *et al.*, 1993), occasional PCR products, made in the absence of reverse transcription, were not found in the range of products made by the corresponding full RT-PCR (see arrow in figure 4.4A). Therefore, such products were not considered to be a significant problem. The only situation in which DNA contamination was found to affect DD RT-PCRs was when RNA samples were not DNase treated (section 2.2.5). For this reason, all RNA was routinely DNase treated before use in DD.

It has been reported that more than 95% of products produced by duplicate DD RT-PCRs seeded with the same input RNA are identical (Liang *et al.*, 1993). To test the this aspect of DD reliability under various reaction conditions, multiple DD RT-PCRs using vero cell RNA were done and the resultant displays compared. Figure 4.4B shows an autoradiograph from one such experiment in which five independent reactions were done. A total of 69 discrete products were present in all five displays and a maximum of three differences can be found between any two displays. In this experiment, it was concluded that >95% of the cDNAs displayed were identical and these data are in agreement with the majority of other similar reliability tests. However, it is noteworthy that, if thousands of cDNAs are to be displayed, an inherent variability of 5% (or even 1%) can be expected to produce a significant number of putative differences that are spurious (often referred to as "false positives"). Inherent variability in DD was documented as a problem within a year of the first DD publication (Liang *et al.*, 1993). An accepted solution is to repeat, with

Two aspects of the reliability of DD are demonstrated, namely dependence on reverse transcription (**A**) and reproducibility of products (**B**). Both autoradiographs show vero cell RNA displayed with $dT_{11}AA$ and decamer DT-21.

A

Three different PCR conditions (1-3) were used and reverse transcriptase was included (+) or omitted (-) during the RT step. The arrow shows a DD fragment produced despite the omission of reverse transcriptase, note however, that this product cannot be seen in normal displays.

B

A single RNA sample was displayed five times (1-5) using identical RT-PCR conditions. Note that although there is variation in abundance, nearly all of the products can be identified in all lanes.





independent RNA samples, any DD RT-PCRs that generate putative differences, discarding differences that cannot be visualized on both occasions (Liang *et al.*, 1993; Sompayrac *et al.*, 1995).

4.4 Cloning differentially displayed cDNAs

An important feature of DD is that it enables cloning of differentially displayed cDNAs facilitating (i) verification that the cDNAs in question truly represent differentially expressed transcripts and if so, (ii) further analysis of such transcripts. However, cloning of the partial cDNAs produced by DD can be problematic. Most cloning problems in DD arise because cDNAs must be cut from display gels and re-amplified using the same short primers with which they were originally amplified. As published by Callard *et al* (1994) and shown in experiments below, DNA extracted from DD gels is heterogeneous, comprising the product of interest and contaminants. This problem is compounded when this mixture of cDNAs is re-amplified prior to cloning. The following three sections document the application of three different strategies for cloning DD cDNAs, the third of which was successful.

4.4.1 The "shot gun" approach

In the original publications by Liang and Pardee (1992) and Liang *et al* (1992), cDNAs of interest were simply cut from display gels, re-amplified and cloned. The sizes of re-amplified cDNAs were checked by conventional agarose gel electrophoresis prior to cloning, but no other tests of authenticity were done. Northern blotting showed that at least

some of the clones obtained in this way contained cDNA representing genuinely differentially expressed mRNA. The first attempts to clone a differentially displayed cDNA derived from HSV infected ganglia used this simple approach.

In a pilot experiment, DD was used to compare ganglionic RNA from CD8⁺ cell depleted and immunocompetent mice, five days after inoculation with HSV-1. A differentially displayed cDNA, designated GT12, was identified (figure 4.5A) and subsequently reproduced using independent ganglionic RNA samples. GT12, which was found in displays of ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent mice and not HSV infected CD8⁺ cell depleted mice, was cut from a display gel and placed directly into a reamplification PCR identical to the reaction used to produce the original display, except [a-³³P]dATP was omitted. Products of the re-amplification (5 μ l) were used to seed a second identical reaction, the products of which were fractionated on a 2% agarose gel. Unlike the results of similar experiments published by Liang et al (1992), several DNA species were re-amplified (figure 4.5B). The most prominent re-amplification product, which was approximately the anticipated size, was cloned using the A-T cloning method (section 2.2.14.2). A second attempt to re-amplify and clone GT12 was made and again, products of re-amplification were found to be heterogeneous. DNA sequence analysis was done to test the heterogeneity of clones derived from these two experiments. Of nine clones containing appropriately sized inserts, only two were the same with respect to DNA sequence. It was concluded that the heterogeneity amongst clones was derived from heterogeneity originally present in the DNA extracted from the DD gel.

Three of the unique clones were used to probe northern blots of the original ganglionic

A

A section of an mRNA differential display of ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent control (c) and CD8⁺ cell depleted (d) mice. The primers used were T_{11} GT and OPA-12 and a differentially displayed cDNA, designated GT12, is indicated by the arrow heads.

B

An ethidium bromide stained agarose gel on which the final products of two sequential PCR re-amplifications of GT12 cDNA (r), extracted from a DD gel, were separated. The size marker (m) was *Hpa*II digested pUC-19 plasmid DNA and the arrow indicates the product thought to be GT12.





В



RNA samples. No hybridization was observed with any of the probes suggesting that the clones tested were not derived from the original RNA, or were derived from transcripts present at levels below the sensitivity of the northern blots. In either case, it could not be shown whether or not the clones represented differentially expressed mRNAs. Further screening of the eight unique clones (and others not yet sequenced) by hybridization was abandoned because it was apparent that production of DD clones using the "shot gun" approach was very inefficient.

4.4.2 Screening of DD clones by differential hybridization

A second approach was tried in which clones were produced as before, but were then screened as follows. Duplicate filters containing dot blotted clones or fixed colonies were probed with radiolabelled cDNA from one or other of the two original RNA samples, based on the premise that clones containing differentially expressed cDNAs should bind only one of the probes. The probes were prepared by the standard RT-PCR protocol used for DD, but products were labelled by adding 50 μ Ci of [α -³²P]dATP to PCRs instead of the usual 5 μ Ci of [α -³³P]dATP. The screening strategy was applied to colonies obtained in the attempt to clone GT12 and despite high background hybridization, two candidate clones were identified (figure 4.6A).

To conserve RNA, rather than testing the clones by northern blotting, they were used to probe electroblotted DD gels. The display gels were loaded with samples from the original DD reactions and products of new reactions in which the ³³P label had been omitted. The labelled (original) DD products acted as size markers on these blots; positive clones were

A

Autoradiographs of duplicate colony blots hybridized with ³²P-labelled DD RT-PCR products generated by using primers T_{11} GT and OPA-12 with ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent control mice (probe "c") or CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (probe "d"). The colonies are transformants from an attempt to clone GT12, a DD cDNA. Boxes 1 and 2 indicate colonies hybridizing much more strongly to probe "c" than probe "d", the anticipated result for a clone containing GT12.

B

Autoradiograph of a DD gel electroblotted onto nylon and hybridized with a probe generated from the putative GT12 clone in box 2 in A above. The displays were of ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent control mice (c and c') and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (d and d') and were radiolabelled (c and d) or unlabelled (c' and d'). The differentially displayed cDNA, GT12, is marked by two arrow heads and the large arrow indicates a cDNA (not differentially displayed) detected by the clone.



cd c'd'

В



expected to hybridize differentially between displays from the different RNA sources and to products of the correct size. Figure 4.6B depicts an autoradiograph from one of the electroblots, probed with a clone, designated p64-1, chosen on the basis of the colony blot in figure 4.6A. This clone hybridized neither differentially nor to a product of the correct size. Screening of further clones by differential hybridization identified three more clones of potential interest. Before the three new clones were used to probe differential display electroblots, the colony blots from which they were identified were stripped and reprobed with clone p64-1. The only colonies which bound p64-1, were the three colonies thought to contain the correct insert (not shown). All colonies on these blots bore plasmids, as judged by antibiotic resistance (and in some cases β -galactosidase activity) and therefore it was concluded that the three new clones contained the same insert as p64-1. To confirm this conclusion, a combined probe made from all three new clones was used to reprobe the differential display electroblot probed originally with p64-1 (and shown in figure 4.6B). As anticipated, the combined probe hybridized to the same products as p64-1 (not shown), consistent with the conclusion that all four clones represented the same cDNA.

The above results led to the conclusion that differential hybridization is not a satisfactory strategy for screening putative DD clones in the current context. However, it is noted that screening strategies based on differential hybridization have, on occasions, been successful (Mou *et al.*, 1994; Vögeli Lange *et al.*, 1996; Zhang *et al.*, 1996). A possible reason why differential hybridization was found not to be useful in experiments presented here is that GT12 was not abundant in the original display. Two of the three successful applications of differential hybridization used cDNA directly labelled by RT rather than labelled DD RT-PCR products to probe colony blots (Mou *et al.*, 1994; Zhang *et al.*, 1996). The

success of this approach may be related to the fact that the abundance of a product in a differential display does not necessarily predict the abundance of the mRNA it represents in the original RNA population (Liang *et al.*, 1993). However this methodology requires significant amounts (up to 50 μ g) of each RNA sample to make probes for the differential hybridizations (Zhang *et al.*, 1996) and therefore, was not used to screen DD clones derived from ganglionic RNA.

4.4.3 An integrated strategy for purifying and cloning DD cDNAs

The problem of screening clones would be greatly reduced if re-amplified cDNAs could be highly purified prior to ligation with a vector. To this end, a protocol was developed in which differentially displayed cDNAs were purified on full length DD gels before cloning. Re-amplified cDNAs were radiolabelled and samples from the original DD RT-PCRs were loaded as a size marker on purification gels, allowing empirical identification of the correct re-amplified cDNA by autoradiography. Irrespective of the method used to purify cDNA tags before cloning, it is still possible that not all resultant clones will contain the desired insert. Callard *et al* (1994) published a method for screening DD clones that is not based on differential hybridization. Differential displays containing differences were repeated using ³²P in the reactions; after recovering the correct cDNA, half was re-amplified and cloned and the other half was used to screen the clones by slot blot hybridization. A modification of Callard's screening strategy, integrated with purification of re-amplified differential cDNAs on DD gels, was developed and used to clone GT12 (summarized in figure 4.7).

An outline of the gel purification and cloning strategy described in section 4.4.3. Includes four autoradiographs from the successful cloning of cDNA GT12 as an example.

A

A differential display of two ganglionic RNA samples, "c" and "d". A differentially displayed cDNA, designated GT12, is boxed.

B

A purification gel with samples of the original displays (c and d) and products of the first and second rounds of re-amplification ($1 \times$ and $2 \times$ respectively).

С

A colony blot of clones generated by ligation of $2 \times$ re-amplified products into a vector, hybridized with radiolabelled $1 \times$ re-amplified products.

D

An electroblot of labelled (c and d) and unlabelled (c' and d') differential displays of ganglionic RNA samples hybridized with a putative GT12 clone selected on the basis of a positive colony blot result. Arrows indicate detection of the differentially displayed cDNA by the clone. Other products were detected by the probe (see lane c'), indicating that the mRNA from which GT12 was derived is represented by DD several times.



Re-amplification of GT12 was done as stated in section 4.4.1 with modifications: (i) $[\alpha^{-33}P]$ was included in each reaction and (ii), first and second round re-amplification products (10 µl of each) were fractionated on a DD gel adjacent to samples of the original display PCRs (figure 4.7B). PhosphorImage analysis of the purification gel, shown in figure 4.6B, disclosed that GT12 constituted 80% of the total DNA after the first round of re-amplification, and 60% after the second round of re-amplification. However during the course of this project, the desired cDNA was not always found to be the most abundant species after re-amplification. Once recovered from the gel, half of the second round re-amplified GT12 was cloned using the A-T method. Transformants were grown overnight on two nutrient agar plates, one of which was overlayed with a nylon membrane. Colonies grown on nylon were lysed and fixed, before hybridization with the gel purified, ³²P labelled, first round re-amplified GT12 (Fig 4.7C). Colonies containing only vector sequences were included as negative controls, and none of these bound the probe.

The differential display electroblot described in section 4.4.2 (and shown in figure 4.6B) was stripped and reprobed with a clone selected using the new screening method (figure 4.7D). In this experiment, the probe hybridized to a product of the correct size in displays of ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent mice but not HSV infected, anti-CD8 treated mice. It was concluded that this clone contained GT12, a differentially displayed cDNA. Also demonstrated in figure 4.7D, is the redundancy inherent in differential displays: in addition to the expected product, the probe bound three other cDNAs, indicating that the mRNA represented by GT12 was represented at least four times in the same display. DNA sequence analysis disclosed that the clone confirmed to be GT12 was identical to two other colony blot positive clones, providing evidence for the reliability

of the cloning methodology. When compared with the eight DNA sequences obtained from clones described in section 4.4.1, GT12 was found to be unique, i.e. none of the previously obtained clones contained GT12. The sequence of GT12 (figure 4.8) was also compared with data in the non-redundant combined DNA database at NCBI and no significant similarities were identified.

Electroblots of DD products can be used to demonstrate that the insert of a clone is derived from a particular differentially displayed cDNA, but they do not confirm independently that the mRNA represented by that cDNA is differentially expressed. Northern blotting is considered to be the "gold standard" for verifying the authenticity of putative differentially expressed mRNAs (Liang and Pardee, 1995). The clone of GT12 was used to probe three northern blots with amounts of ganglionic RNA ranging from 6 - 10 µg but no hybridization was detected. It has been suggested that DD cDNAs smaller than 200 bp are not useful because the short probes generated from these templates are not efficient in hybridizations (Liang et al., 1993). GT12 was only 120 bp, including the PCR primers at each end. Reducing the stringency of hybridization, in case the GT12 probe was acting more like an oligonucleotide, did not result in detectable hybridization. The small size and the low G+C content of GT12 also prohibited the design of efficient primers for semiquantitative RT-PCR. Therefore the status of the mRNA represented by GT12 with respect to differential expression in HSV infected ganglia of immunocompent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice remains unknown. Nonetheless, the cloning of GT12 led to the development of a cloning strategy robust enough to clone poorly displayed cDNAs.

Nucleic acid sequence of the DD clone designated GT12. Sequences determined by the primers used in DD to generate this clone are indicated by bold typeface.

GT12

| GenBank | Name: | MMU73907, | Accessi | on: U | 173907 |
|--------------|---------|--------------|-----------|--------|----------|
| Sequence | 108 bp, | linear RNA | L | | |
| base count | 33 a | 24 c | 25 g | 26 t | |
| | | | | | |
| 1 taggagatag | agaataa | rcaa ataacta | rtad ttda | cagaga | ı tctaat |

tcggcgatag gaggtagcgg gtaactgtac ttcacagaga tctggtttaa
 ggctcgatag tcaatacacg ggcgcagacc tecttecttt tcttcacaaa
 aaaaaaaa

4.5 Validation of DD in an *in vivo* setting

Having developed conditions for all aspects of DD, from production of displays to the cloning of differentially displayed cDNAs, the techniques were validated using a transcript for CD8 as a model. Lyt 2, one of the chains of murine CD8, is expressed differentially in normal and anti-CD8 treated mice (section 3.4). To facilitate detection of Lyt 2 cDNA on differential displays, a decamer primer (10lyt2) matching the published genomic DNA sequence for Lyt 2 (Nakauchi *et al.*, 1987, GenBank accession Y00157) was designed. For this experiment, draining lymph nodes from immunocompetent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice were used as sources of CD8 positive and negative tissue respectively.

RNA populations from draining lymph nodes of HSV infected immunocompetent mice and HSV infected anti-CD8 treated mice were displayed using a variety of $dT_{11}VN$ and decamer primers. Based on nucleic acid sequence data, it was predicted that a 755 bp cDNA, corresponding to Lyt 2 mRNA, should be visible only in mRNA displays of RNA from a source of CD8⁺ cells primed with $dT_{11}GT$ and 10lyt2. However, displays of lymph node RNA from normal and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice using these primers contained no differences. There were three possible interpretations of this result, (i) the display method was not sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (ii) DD was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DD was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (ii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA, (iii) DL was sensitive enough to detect Lyt 2 mRNA produced by a few remaining CD8⁺ cells in anti-CD8 treated mice (iii), the primers, which were designed using DNA sequence from B10.A mice, could not bind BALB/c Lyt 2 mRNA. The last of these interpretations was investigated because although the decamer, 10lyt2, was designed from a coding region of Lyt 2, and was hence likely to

be conserved amongst mouse strains, the other primer was chosen on the basis of two base pairs at the predicted 3' end of the transcript. In case $dT_{11}GT$ was an inappropriate 3' primer, other $dT_{11}VN$ primers were used in combination with 10lyt2 to display the two lymph node RNA samples. A differentially displayed cDNA (designated GAlyt) was found in displays primed with dT₁₁GA and 10lyt2. Display reactions primed with 10lyt2 and dT₁₁GA were repeated using the original RNA sources and RNA from lymph nodes of uninfected mice, a second independent source of Lyt 2 mRNA. This three-way differential display (figure 4.9A) demonstrated that GAlyt, the putative Lyt 2 cDNA, was present only in displays of RNA from lymph nodes expected to contain CD8⁺ cells. Although the cDNA was not the predicted length, it was cloned, as verified by hybridization to an electroblotted display (figure 4.9B), and the DNA sequence was determined. The sequence was compared with that previously published for Lyt 2. Excluding terminal regions that are determined by the PCR primers, the two sequences were found to be identical with the exception of two single base insertions in the newly cloned cDNA (figure 4.10). Both insertions are in the 3' untranslated region and may represent sequencing errors or genuine variation between the two mouse strains. Sequences at the ends of the cloned cDNA indicated that it was amplified by a combination of two 10lyt2 primers, rather than a 10lyt2 primer and a dT₁₁GA primer. DD cDNAs containing a decamer at both ends have been reported previously (Guimarães et al., 1995) and, in this instance, explains the smaller than expected size of the cDNA. Although 10lyt2 was used exclusively by the PCR, primer $dT_{11}GT$ provided specificity in the RT step. It was considered likely that DNA sequence variation between mouse strains, or problems in predicting the exact 3' end of the transcript were the reason why $dT_{11}GA$ and not $dT_{11}GT$ (the originally chosen 3' primer) was needed to display a Lyt 2 cDNA. These results and conclusions highlight the difficulty of accurately

A

A three way differential display of draining lymph node RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent mice (c), HSV infected CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (d) and uninfected mice (u). The arrow indicates the differentially displayed cDNA designated GAlyt.

B

An autoradiograph of an electroblot of labelled (c and d) and unlabelled (c' and d') differential displays of "c" and "d" lymph node RNA samples hybridized with a clone selected on the basis of a positive colony blot result. Arrows indicate detection of the differentially displayed GAlyt cDNA by the clone.





c d c' d'



Nucleic acid sequence alignment of cloned differential display cDNA GAlyt (GALYT) with genomic DNA encoding Lyt 2.2, accession Y00157 (MLYT2). The primers used in DD RT-PCRs are indicated in bold typeface. In this case the decamer (10lyt2) was found on both ends of the cDNA tag.

99.1% identity in 342 bp overlap

predicting from nucleic acid sequence data, the existence or size of a given product in an mRNA display.

4.6 Summary

The experimental work documented in this chapter aimed to develop and verify the utility of DD for use in identifying mRNAs that are expressed at different levels in ganglia from HSV infected immunocompetent mice and ganglia from HSV infected CD8⁺ cell depleted mice. DD was developed and used to clone a cDNA from ganglionic RNA. Also, a cDNA representing Lyt 2 was cloned by DD (documented in section 4.5) verifying that DD can be successfully combined with *in vivo* depletion of CD8⁺ T cells to obtain cDNA clones of transcripts associated with CD8⁺ T cells. Therefore it was concluded that DD is a suitable approach for the molecular analysis of CD8⁺ T cell activity in HSV infected sensory ganglia.

5. AN mRNA DIFFERENTIAL DISPLAY BASED ANALYSIS OF THE ROLE OF CD8⁺ T CELLS IN HSV INFECTED SENSORY GANGLIA

This chapter describes the application of DD to the study of anti-HSV CD8⁺ cell activity in spinal ganglia and initial characterization of several mRNAs that were differentially displayed in HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent, versus anti-CD8 treated mice. The combination of *in vivo* T cell subset depletion and DD as a strategy for studying viral immunity and pathogenesis is discussed, as is the potential significance of findings.

5.1 Differential display of RNA from HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent and CD8⁺ cell depleted mice

To detect mRNAs whose expression in sensory nerve ganglia is altered by depletion of CD8⁺ cells *in vivo*, DD was used to compare ganglionic RNA from groups of 10 anti-CD8 treated and 10 immunocompetent mice, seven days after inoculation with HSV-1. The presence of CD8⁺ cells in HSV infected ganglia of untreated mice, and their absence in anti-CD8 treated mice was confirmed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR to detect Lyt 2 mRNA as established in chapter 3. The protocols used in this application of DD were those developed and validated in chapter 4.

Approximately 20,000 partial cDNAs were visualized, 52 of which were differentially displayed. To identify reproducible differences, RNA from a duplicate mouse experiment

was used in a second round of differential displays. Nine of the original 52 differences were confirmed, eight of which were associated exclusively with RNA from untreated mice and one with RNA from anti-CD8 treated mice (figure 5.1 and table 5.1). Five of the confirmed differentially displayed cDNAs (designated CC28, CT03, CG17, AG16 and AG18) were cloned readily and the remaining four await cloning to enable further analysis. The clones were named according to their inserted cDNAs.

5.2 Northern blot analyses based on DD clones

5.2.1 Ganglionic RNA

Northern blotting was used to test that the five cloned differentially displayed cDNAs represent differentially expressed mRNAs and to investigate the differential expression of these transcripts in ganglia at various times after HSV infection. The northern blots were prepared with RNA samples generated independently from those used for DD.

To confirm that the five cDNAs cloned using DD represent RNA transcripts whose abundance is influenced by the presence of CD8⁺ cells, each of the clones was used to probe northern blots of ganglionic RNA extracted seven days after infection from immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice. Two of the clones, CC28 and CT03, detected transcripts (hereafter referred to as CC28 mRNA and CT03 mRNA) that were more abundant in ganglia from immunocompetent compared with anti-CD8 treated mice (eg. figure 5.2, lanes 4 and 5). Of the remaining clones, CG17 detected a transcript whose abundance was too low for an accurate comparison between samples to be made. AG16

Figure 5.1

Sections of nine differential displays of ganglionic RNA from HSV infected immunocompetent mice (c) and HSV infected CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (d). Differentially displayed cDNAs are marked by paired arrow heads and the designation of each is given at the top of the displays. Note that although differentially displayed cDNAs other than those indicated can be seen, only the marked ones were able to be reproduced with independent RNA samples.



| Differential Display | | | Northern Blot Analysis | | | Sequence Analysis | |
|----------------------|-----------------|--------|------------------------|-------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------------|
| cDNA | Source | *Size | DD confirmed? | mRNA Sizes | tissue distribution [§] | accession¶ | Homologies |
| AG16 | immunocompetent | 144 bp | no | many | G, L, S | | mouse 28s rRNA (X00525) |
| AG18 | immunocompetent | 450bp | nd^\dagger | | nd | U73908 | human cDNA (T78507) |
| AG28 | immunocompetent | 200 bp | | | | | |
| CC17 | immunocompetent | 340 bp | | | | | |
| CC28 | immunocompetent | 375 bp | yes | 6.6 kb | G, L, S | U73905 | none |
| CG08 | immunocompetent | 100 bp | | | | | |
| CG17 | CD8 depleted | 600 bp | nq^{\ddagger} | 3.5 kb | G, L | U73906 | human DNA (Z22371) |
| СТ03 | immunocompetent | 303 bp | yes | 5.8, 3.2 kb | G | U 7390 4 | Rat $G_{olf} \alpha$ (M26718) |
| CT10 | immunocompetent | 480 bp | | | | | |

Table 5.1Summary of findings based on DD cDNAs

*With the exception of CT03, CC28 and AG16 sizes are estimates only †nd, not detected ‡nq, not quantified §G, ganglia; L, lymph node; S, skin ¶Accession numbers of DD clone sequences submitted to GenBank

hybridized strongly with RNA co-migrating with rRNA and several other transcripts, none of which were differentially expressed. Finally, no messages corresponding to AG18 could be detected by northern blotting. It was concluded that at least two of the DD clones, CC28 and CT03, represent RNA molecules whose abundance in HSV infected ganglia is reduced by anti-CD8 treatment.

To explore further the association between the presence of CD8⁺ cells during HSV infection and the levels of mRNA detected by the DD clones, the clones were used to probe northern blots of RNA from uninfected ganglia and ganglia removed five or seven days after inoculation of immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice (figures 5.2 and 5.3). RNA from anti-CD8 treated, uninfected mice was not included, because there is no evidence for the presence of CD8⁺ cells in uninfected ganglia (see section 3.4) and therefore, anti-CD8 treatment is unlikely to affect this tissue. Of most interest were the results of blots probed with clones detecting the two differentially expressed transcripts, CC28 mRNA and CT03 mRNA. CC28 mRNA was detected in sensory ganglia from all groups of mice. Its abundance was altered by HSV infection and, in infected ganglia, by prior anti-CD8 treatment (figure 5.3A). In immunocompetent mice, a significant increase in the abundance of this transcript was observed five days after HSV inoculation. In contrast, in anti-CD8 treated mice, the increase in CC28 mRNA levels over the same time interval was, at best, modest. Seven days after HSV inoculation, CC28 mRNA levels were reduced both in untreated and anti-CD8 treated mice when compared with the fifth day of infection. The reduction was much greater in CD8⁺ cell depleted mice, widening the difference apparent at day five, between CC28 mRNA levels in anti-CD8 treatment and immunocompetent mice. Three conclusions can be drawn from these data. First, CC28
Figure 5.2

Northern blots of total RNA (10 μ g) from uninfected ganglia (1), ganglia taken five days after HSV inoculation from immunocompetent or CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (2 and 3 respectively) and ganglia taken seven days after HSV inoculation from immunocompetent or CD8⁺ cell depleted mice (4 and 5 respectively). Probes used are indicated on the left. The size marker (M) was stained with ethidium bromide and the photograph re-aligned with autoradiographs.



Figure 5.3

Expression levels of the mRNAs represented by clones CC28 (A) and CT03 (B) in sensory ganglia of immunocompetent (solid bars) and CD8⁺ cell depleted (grey bars) mice at various times after inoculation with HSV. The data were provided by PhosphorImage analysis of northern blots and were normalized for loading errors after re-probing with β -actin (see text and methods). nd, not done.



mRNA is expressed in the sensory nervous systems of normal mice. Second, in immunocompetent mice, the increase and decline in CC28 mRNA levels coincide with the previously described increase and decline in HSV gene expression associated with productive ganglionic infection (Speck and Simmons, 1991; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). Third, anti-CD8 treatment reduces the abundance of CC28 mRNA in HSV infected sensory nerve ganglia.

CT03 mRNA was also detected in uninfected ganglia but unlike CC28 mRNA, its abundance was unchanged five days after inoculation irrespective of anti-CD8 treatment (figure 5.3B). However, seven days after inoculation, a reduction in CT03 mRNA abundance was observed and as with CC28 mRNA, the reduction of CT03 mRNA levels between day five and seven was much greater in anti-CD8 treated mice. The main implications of these data are, (i) CT03 mRNA is present in normal dorsal root ganglia, (ii) CT03 mRNA is down regulated in ganglia as a result of HSV infection and (iii) anti-CD8 treatment enhances the HSV infection-associated reduction in CT03 mRNA.

Clone CG17 detected a transcript in ganglia regardless of infection or immune status but as in the previous experiment, its levels were too low to allow accurate comparative quantification. Finally, clone AG16 showed strong hybridization to RNA co-migrating with rRNA and numerous other transcripts in all samples and, as found previously, no transcripts were detected by clone AG18. The only conclusion from these data was that clone AG16 appeared to be closely related to a structural RNA.

128

5.2.2 RNA from draining lymph nodes and HSV infected skin

As a step towards characterizing the mRNAs represented by DD clones, the expression of these transcripts in draining lymph nodes and skin of HSV infected mice was investigated. Five mice were inoculated in their left ear pinnae and, seven days later, RNA was extracted from infected ears and ipsilateral cervical lymph nodes for analysis by northern blotting (summarized in table 5.1).

CC28 mRNA was detected in skin and lymph nodes but, in contrast, CT03 failed to detect transcripts in either of the non-neural tissues. CG17 hybridized only with RNA from lymph nodes and, as with the northern blot of ganglionic RNA, the hybridization was weak. Clone AG16 showed the same pattern of hybridization in skin and lymphoid tissue as it did in ganglia and the message corresponding to AG18 was undetectable. The most significant conclusions from these experiments are that, amongst the tissues examined, CT03 mRNA expression is restricted to the nervous system, whereas CC28 mRNA is also present in skin and lymphoid tissue.

5.3 DNA sequence analyses of DD clones

One feature of DD that makes it particularly powerful, is that clones of differentially displayed cDNAs are produced, allowing nucleic acid sequence data to be obtained easily. If a differentially expressed mRNA can be aligned with known sequences, existing knowledge relating to that sequence may be applied to the biological problem at hand, saving much time and energy. A brief review of the DD literature was done to estimate the

approximately proportion of DD cDNA sequences that have been identified by nucleic acid database searches. In six publications, chosen because each presented at least six DD cDNAs, a total of 136 cDNAs were examined and 56 (41%) of these were found to be identical to sequences already in databases or to be homologues of a gene described in another species (Aiello *et al.*, 1994; Utans *et al.*, 1994; Graf and Torok Storb, 1995; Kozian and Augustin, 1995; Linskens *et al.*, 1995; Traianedes *et al.*, 1995). The rapid rate at which nucleic acid sequence data bases are growing means that this percentage will only rise over time.

All five clones obtained in the application of DD to HSV infected ganglia were either fully or partially sequenced and the data compared with sequences in the non-redundant combined DNA database at the NCBI. These sequences appear in figure 5.4 and accession codes for sequences submitted to GenBank and the results of homology searches are summarized in table 5.1. CT03 was found to have >88% homology over the full length of the cDNA tag (303 bp) with the 3' untranslated region of the mRNA encoding rat $G_{olf}\alpha$ (figure 5.5). $G_{olf}\alpha$ is the α -subunit of a heterotrimeric G protein originally found in olfactory cilia (Jones and Reed, 1989). CC28 had no significant homology to any known sequences and may constitute an as yet uncharacterised transcript. 203 bp of the partial sequence of CG17 had 95% homology with an unpublished DNA sequence produced by shot-gun sequencing of the human genome (EMBL accession Z22371). The full insert of AG16 had 100% homology with sequences from murine 28s rRNA. The final clone, AG18, had 77% homology over 208 bp of partial sequence with an unpublished cDNA derived from a human fetal liver and spleen library (GenBank accession T78507). In conclusion, of the five clones derived from HSV infected ganglia, only one had no Figure 5.4

Nucleic acid sequences of five cloned differentially displayed cDNAs. Names and accession numbers are supplied for sequences submitted to GenBank.

AG16

GenBank not submitted Sequence 144 bp, linear RNA base count 44 a 37 c 40 g 23 t

1 agccagcgaa accacagcca agggaacggg cttggcggaa tcagcgggga aagaagaccc 61 tgttgagctt gactctcgcc cgtcacgttg aacgcacgtt cgtgtggaac ctggcgctaa 121 accattcgta gctaaaaaaa aaaa

AG18

GenBankName:MMU73908,Accession:U73908Sequence249 bp, linear RNAbase count72 a61 c67 g49 t

1 aggtgaccgt gggtgaatat cacactcgtc aaagaaacca aggagaatgg ggaaacagaa 61 gtggatgcct gtaccccagc agagccaggt tggaaggcag tgttgaccat cctgttggcc 121 cacaagcgtt ctaaccagcc agctgagaca gactccatga gtctctctga aaaatcaacc 181 aaagtgttcc gaatattccg gcagtgggag tcttcatcct catcgtgaag atgctccgga 241 cagactgag

CC28

| GenBank | Name: | MMU73905, | Accession: | U73905 |
|------------|--------|--------------|------------|--------|
| Sequence | 375 bp | , linear RNA | | |
| base count | 139 a | 93 c 3 | 100 g 43 | t |

1 tagtcaccga tgtcaaaaag caaagggaaa ggaaagtct tccaacaacg taaggccaag 61 cctccgaaga agcaggagga gaaggagaag agggggaagg ggaagccgca ggaggatgag 121 ctgaaggacg ctctggccga cgacgacagt tcctccacca ccacagagac ctccaaccec 181 gacacagagc cactcctcag ggaggataca gagaagcaca aggggagacc agccgtgcct 241 gaaaaacagg aaagtgaact gtctcaaggg aagcccaaga gcaaaaagct cttaaacgct 301 aagaaagaaa tcccaacaga tgtgaaaggc agttcctttg aactaccgta cactcctca 361 ctggaaaaaa aaaa

CG17

GenBankName:MMU73906,Accession:U73906Sequence252 bp, linear RNAbase count68 a76 c37 g71 t

```
1 tgagtgagta ctccccacgc tctcctctc ccgtgttagg tcctgctgtc ccctgacagt
61 ttgccttcta ccttcagatc gcatacacac cgtggtttca tgtctctcta caaagctcag
121 gagctacaaa taagagcaca catatgctgt ttgtcctccc tacaccagct aaccccttaa
181 taggaccatc tctggataca tccataaaat cactctttat aaaagtcatt tctctttgcc
241 gaaaaaaaaa aa
```

CT03

| 0100 | | | | | |
|------------|--------|-------------|--------|-------|--------|
| GenBank | Name: | MMU73904, | Access | sion: | U73904 |
| Sequence | 303 bp | , linear RI | AN | | |
| hase count | 94 a | 63 C | 70 g | 76 | t |

1 tagtcagcca ccaaggcaca gaactctaca aggaggattc ttgagtagcc atagaaaaga 61 gtattacatc ttggggtctc tacagtctgg ttaaagcaac aacagaaaga agataggaat 121 gactatgcta ttgtaaaggt gtagaggacc ccttgtttat aaacaggaca ccattgcag 181 tagtgaatgt ggcaggtttt ctgcccaagt gtaaaaggct cccagaagct ctctccaaat 241 gcccaaggct tacagccatt gcaactgtgg ctgaaaaagt tcctcttatt ctgtggctga 301 cta

Figure 5.5

Nucleic acid sequence alignment of clone CT03 (CT03) with mRNA for rat $G_{olf}\alpha$, GenBank accession M26718 (GOLF). The primers used in DD RT-PCRs are indicated in bold typeface, in this case the decamer was found on both ends of the cDNA tag.

| | 1 | 0 | 20 | 30 | 40 | 50 |
|------|-----------|---|----------|---------------------|----------|-------------|
| СТ03 | tagtcagcc | acagaata | agaggaa | ctttttcag | ccacagt | tgcaatggct |
| | x::::: | ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: | ::::: | : : : : : : : : : : | ••••• | :::::::::: |
| GOLF | acgtcagca | acagaaga | cgaggac | ctttttcag | ccacagt | tgcaatggct |
| | 1740 | 1750 | 176 | 0 17 | 70 | 1780 |
| | 6 | 0 | 70 | 80 | | 90 |
| СТ03 | gtaagcctt | gggcattt | -ggagag | agcttct | gggagcc | ttttacactt |
| | :::::::: | * * * * * * * * * | :: :: | | | |
| GOLF | ataagcctt | gggcattt | gggttag | agcacttct | gggagcc | ttttacactt |
| | 1790 | 1800 | 181 | 0 18 | 20 | 1830 |
| | 100 | 110 | 120 | 130 | | 140 |
| СТ03 | gggcagaaa | acctgcca | cattcac | tactgcaaa | tggtgtc | ctgtttataa |
| | ::::::::: | :: :::: | :::::: | :::: :: | :::::: | |
| GOLF | gggcagaaa | .gccggcca | cattcac | tactaa | tggtgtd | ctgtctataa |
| | 1840 | 1850 | 1860 | | 1870 | 1880 |
| | 150 | 160 | 170 | | 180 | 190 |
| CT03 | acaaggggt | cctctaca | cctttac | aata | gcatagt | .cattcctatc |
| | :::::::: | ::::::: | :::: | | ::::::: | |
| GOLF | acaaggggt | cctctaca | lecttect | gatagetge | gcatagt | |
| | 1890 | 1900 |) 1 | .910 | 1920 | 1930 |
| | 200 | 21 | _0 | 220 | 230 | 240 |
| CT03 | ttetttete | sttgttgct | ttaacca | igactgtaga | igacccca | lagatgtaata |
| | :::::::: | ::::::: | :: :::: | | | |
| GOLF | ttetttete | yttgttgct | tt-acca | igactgtaca | agaccaca | lagatgtacta |
| | 1940 | 1950 |) | 1960 | 1970 | 1960 |
| | 250 | 26 | 50 | 270 | 280 | 290 |
| CT03 | ctctttct | atggetad | ctcaagaa | atceteette | gtagagti | etgigeetig |
| | :::::::: | : :::::: | | | | |
| GOLF | ctctttct | gtggctad | ctccagaa | agectectt | gtagagti | 200gLgccLly |
| | 1990 | 200 | 00 | 2010 | 2020 | 2030 |
| | 300 | | | | | |
| CT03 | gtggctga | cta | ~~ ~~ | · | | hn overlan |
| | | | 88.2% | ldentity | TU 202 | nh overrah |
| GOLF | gtggcggc | tat | | | | |
| | 2040 | | | | | |

similarity with known sequences and three were almost certainly homologues of sequences in the databases.

5.4 Discussion

DD has been applied to a variety of biological problems both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, but it has not been used before to investigate aspects of pathogenesis or immunity. The application of DD reported in this chapter produced nine consistently differentially displayed mRNAs, five were cloned and at least two are genuinely differentially expressed. In spite of the complex nature of the *in vivo* setting used and the fact that the cells of greatest interest, CD8⁺ cells and infected neurons, are greatly out numbered by other cell types in HSV infected sensory ganglia, DD produced clones worthy of further study. This finding demonstrates the utility of DD in this context, despite the recent report suggesting that it is biased towards relatively abundant messages (Bertoli *et al.*, 1995).

The primary aim of using DD to catalogue transcriptional differences between HSV infected ganglia of immunocompetent versus anti-CD8 treated mice was to stimulate new lines of research into the *in vivo* action of HSV-specific CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. The production of clone CC28 demonstrates that this aim was feasible. CC28 mRNA levels rise in dorsal root ganglia in response to HSV infection and this upregulation is reduced in mice depleted of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. Therefore upregulation of this transcript may be linked to the presence or even action of CD8⁺ T cells. With respect to HSV pathogenesis, the transcript is of interest because to our knowledge, CC28 mRNA is the first cellular gene to be identified with expression kinetics that mimic those of viral genes in infected sensory

nerve ganglia. In addition, CC28 has no similarity with any sequences in the nucleic acid sequence databases and may represent a novel transcript. Further work to investigate the possible link between CC28 mRNA and anti-HSV CD8⁺ T cells should include studies *in situ* to determine the cell types expressing this transcript at sites of HSV infection, in the presence and absence of CD8⁺ cells. Also, because CC28 mRNA was found in HSV infected skin, the relationship between CC28 transcription, HSV and CD8⁺ T cells at this site merits investigation. These experiments need to include mouse strains other than BALB/c to confirm that any findings are not mouse strain-specific. Finally, obtaining and characterizing a full length cDNA clone of CC28 mRNA is an important future goal.

Applying DD to an *in vivo* model of viral disease in normal and immunocompromised mice has the potential to detect transcriptional changes associated with different levels of infection and clone CT03 may represent such a transcript. The level of CT03 mRNA was reduced in ganglia during HSV infection and this reduction was enhanced by anti-CD8 treatment, possibly as a consequence of the increased severity of neural infection known to be associated with CD8⁺ T cell depletion (Simmons and Tscharke, 1992). If levels of CT03 mRNA are modulated by infection, the transcript is of significant interest in HSV pathogenesis, particularly because CT03 mRNA it is almost certainly a murine homologue of the message for $G_{olf}\alpha$, the α subunit of a heterotrimeric G protein. CT03 has high homology over its whole length with the 3' untranslated region of rat $G_{olf}\alpha$ mRNA. On northern blots, the products detected by CT03 are identical to those on blots published previously for murine $G_{olf}\alpha$ messages (Strathmann *et al.*, 1989) and CT03 mRNA was detected in neural tissue but not skin or lymph nodes, an expected result if the clone contains cDNA of the $G_{olf}\alpha$ message. G_{olf} expression was originally thought to be olfactory specific (Jones and Reed, 1989), but has since been found in brain, testis, spleen, lung and pancreatic islets (Zigman *et al.*, 1993). Of these tissues, however, only in the olfactory epithelium, brain and testis has expression of $G_{olf}\alpha$ mRNA been detected by northern blotting (Zigman *et al.*, 1993). The current work is the first evidence for $G_{olf}\alpha$ expression in dorsal root ganglia. Previously, expression of G_{olf} in the nervous system has been associated exclusively with neurons (Jones and Reed, 1989; Herve *et al.*, 1993) making primary sensory neurons the most likely source of the $G_{olf}\alpha$ transcripts detected in ganglia.

Assuming that ganglionic $G_{olf}\alpha$ was derived only from neurons, there are two possible explanations for the observed reduction of $G_{olf} \alpha$ mRNA levels in ganglia infected by HSV. The first is a dilution effect, caused by an increase in the ratio between non-neuronal and neuronal cells as a result of HSV induced ganglionitis. While this possibility was not formally excluded, it is considered unlikely, because neither the timing nor the extent of the decrease in $G_{olf}\alpha$ levels coincide with the increase in non-neuronal cell numbers in HSV infected murine sensory ganglia (Cook and Stevens, 1973; Simmons and Tscharke, 1992; Cantin et al., 1995 and unpublished observations; Liu et al., 1996). The other explanation is that $G_{olf}\alpha$ mRNA abundance is altered as a result of HSV infection and if this is the case, it is the first indication that viral infection may modulate heterotrimeric G protein synthesis. Heterotrimeric G proteins couple a wide array of surface receptors to generators of intracellular signals and therefore they are an essential part of many signal transduction The ramifications of viral interference with these signal pathways (Neer, 1995). transduction pathways are substantial because a vast range of receptors is coupled to G proteins. G protein coupled receptors include those for androgens, serotonins, histamine, dopamine, ordorant molecules, ecosanoids and β -chemokines (Simon *et al.*, 1991; Ahuja *et al.*, 1994). Many of these ligands directly affect viral pathogenesis and the β -chemokines illustrate this point well. β -chemokines have been shown to be of importance in immunity to viruses (Cook *et al.*, 1995) and at least two herpesviruses carry homologues for β -chemokine receptors which are thought to subvert chemokine signalling (Ahuja *et al.*, 1994). It can be envisaged that down regulation of specific G proteins coupled to these receptors is another mechanism by which viruses may interfere with chemokine signal transduction.

Specific consideration of why HSV might regulate $G_{olf}\alpha$ in sensory ganglia is also warranted. In other neural tissues where G_{olf} is found, it is associated with a G_{olf} -specific adenylyl cyclase and thus plays a role in regulation of cellular cAMP levels (Menco *et al.*, 1992; Herve *et al.*, 1993; Menco *et al.*, 1994). Two HSV transcription units, namely LAT and U_L9 , have cAMP responsive elements (CREs) in their promoter regions (Leib *et al.*, 1991; Rader *et al.*, 1993; Deb *et al.*, 1994). LATs are thought to be involved in aspects of latency and the U_L9 product, the origin-binding protein, is essential for productive HSV infection (Challberg, 1986). In addition, experimental links have been made between levels of cAMP and the stability of herpes simplex latency (Foster *et al.*, 1989; Sainz de la Maza *et al.*, 1989; Leib *et al.*, 1991; Rodriguez *et al.*, 1991). The possibility that there is a functional link between G_{olf} levels, cAMP and HSV pathogenesis warrants further investigation.

Studies *in situ* are required to define the cellular source of $G_{olf}\alpha$ mRNA in sensory ganglia and to determine whether it is down regulated in areas of HSV infection. In addition, quantification of $G_{olf}\alpha$ mRNA or G_{olf} protein throughout the course of HSV infection, including the productive, latent and reactivation stages may further define the role of HSV infection in regulation of G_{olf} levels. From a neurobiological point of view, technology exists to identify the cell surface receptor and the generators of intracellular signals linked to G_{olf} steps that will aid the assignment of function to this G protein.

Four cDNA tags were identified which have not yet been cloned, and two clones await the application of more sensitive methods to confirm their putative association with the presence of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes in HSV infected ganglia. Identifying the transcripts represented by these tags is a focus for further work. Two clones, CG17 and AG18, have homology with anonymous sequences in the nucleic acid databases. Detection of these transcripts in murine sensory ganglia, and possible association with immune processes adds to the pool of knowledge concerning them and may be useful in assignment of function. One clone produced, AG16, is probably an artifact of DD because it appears to be derived entirely of sequences from 28s rRNA. Why 28s rRNA was differentially displayed in our experiments is difficult to explain, but its abundance in total cellular RNA preparations probably accounts for the ease with which it was amplified and cloned. The use of poly A selected RNA would prevent the detection of structural RNAs, but is not practical when only small amounts of RNA are available.

In summary, the identification of two clones associated with aspects of HSV pathogenesis and immunology and the detection of six more transcripts of interest demonstrates the ability of DD to stimulate novel lines of investigation in a complex setting. Specifically, the combination of DD and *in vivo* depletion of lymphocyte subsets may be a useful new approach to immunological problems.

135

6. CONCLUDING DISCUSSION

The first part of this discussion focuses on potential applications of DD and three broad fields of research are considered: (i) HSV pathogenesis, (ii) virology in general and (iii) immunology.

(i) The molecular basis of some aspects of HSV pathogenesis may be approached using DD if appropriate models are found and exploited. DD has been used successfully to monitor changes in gene expression over time in vivo, by concurrent display of RNA samples taken at various times after organ transplantation (Utans et al., 1994) and balloon angioplasty (Autieri et al., 1995). A similar approach could be used to catalogue changes in gene expression occurring during experimental HSV infections. The modulation of unknown transcripts visualized on DD gels could be compared with the expression kinetics of various viral genes (for example LATs) and markers of the host response (for example markers of lymphocyte populations). By exploiting different in vivo models of HSV infection, various aspects of HSV infection may be studied in isolation. For instance, there are in vivo models in which latency is established in the absence of a productive infection (Clements and Stow, 1989; Leib et al., 1989b; Speck and Simmons, 1991; Speck and Simmons, 1992). In these models, transcriptional events associated with the establishment of latency may be examined in the absence of a complicating productive infection. Mice with long term latent infections (longer than six months) are another example of an animal model which may be useful in this context. In the ganglia of these mice, productive infection, the immune response to productive infection and presumably the establishment phase of latency have all dissipated (Pereira et al., 1994; Cantin et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1996). If HSV latency is a dynamic, rather than static process, comparison of transcription in such instances of stable latency with transcription in uninfected ganglia may reveal an ongoing host response associated with the maintenance of latency. Models in which reactivation of HSV from latency can be induced are also available (see section 1.2.6.3). DD could be used in conjunction with these models to produce a list of mRNAs whose abundance is altered following a reactivation stimulus. Finally, the assignment of phenotypes to some HSV mutants may be aided by a DD based analysis of transcription in tissue infected by mutant and wild type HSVs.

(ii) The use of DD to study the effects of mutation on viral infections is not restricted to HSV; DD may be used to study viral genetic variation or alternatively, host genetic variation in many virus-host interactions. For example, the transcriptional differences amongst cell lines that are permissive, semi-permissive and non-permissive for a given viral infection may be catalogued by DD. There are also *in vivo* applications of this approach, because the pathogenesis of a virus frequently differs across the range of different inbred mouse strains. This idea can be expanded to include analyses utilizing transgenic animals and DD might be useful in disclosing downstream effects of targeted gene disruptions, or over-expressions.

(iii) There are many possible applications of DD in the field of immunology. In work presented in this thesis, DD was used to investigate the effects of *in vivo* depletion of CD8⁺ T cells on HSV infections. This approach could be applied to other lymphocyte subsets and other models of pathogenesis. Another possible *in vivo* application of DD is the comparison of transcription in lymph nodes of infected and uninfected animals to identify new lymphocyte activation markers. DD might also be of use in clonal analyses of T lymphocytes. Cloning of T cells to allow investigation of immune function at the level of individual cells is commonplace. However, characterization of the differences amongst clones has thus far not proceeded beyond molecules of known immunological significance, for example cytokines. DD may enable a more extensive catalogue of differences between lymphocyte clones to be compiled. A problem with some T cell clones is that they do not behave like freshly derived *ex vivo* lymphocytes when re-introduced to animals. In particular, the ability of cloned T cells to home to correct tissues is often impaired (Leung and Nash, 1984). DD may be a suitable tool to define differences between cloned T cells and T cells that have been derived freshly from animals. Indeed, DD could be used to directly examine the effects of *in vitro* culture, under various conditions, on lymphocytes.

The preceding paragraphs constitute a list of possible applications of DD to problems in the fields virology and immunology. However, DD is not suggested as a sole approach in these instances. There are technical difficulties associated with DD and, although these are being overcome as the method is constantly refined, these problems need to be considered before embarking on a DD based strategy. The most important aspect of any application of DD is the choice of starting material. In DD experiments documented in this thesis, although the primary aim was to isolate mRNAs associated with anti-HSV CD8⁺ T cells, one of the cDNAs produced, namely CT03 (encoding mRNA for $G_{olf}\alpha$), is more likely to associated with different levels of HSV infection. This example illustrates the need to use carefully defined models, especially for *in vivo* applications of DD. At the same time, this example highlights the flexibility of DD and demonstrates the technique's potential to produce unexpected findings of significant interest. DD gels on which multiple RNA samples are

displayed disclose more information about the expression of transcripts than gels displaying only two RNA populations. Therefore multiple displays may allow greater discrimination to be exercised when selecting differentially displayed cDNAs for further analysis. For example, the concurrent display of RNA from lymph nodes of uninfected mice, HSV infected mice and anti-CD8 treated, HSV infected mice facilitated the selection of a putative Lyt 2 cDNA (section 4.5, figure 4.9A). The selection of differentially displayed cDNAs of interest from displays of ganglionic RNA, as described in section 5.1, may have been aided by a similar strategy. RNA from immunocompetent and anti-CD8 treated mice at several times after HSV infection could be displayed concurrently. Such displays may facilitate the selection of cDNAs that are associated with CD8⁺ cells, because the kinetics of CD8⁺ cell infiltration and virus production, in ganglia of HSV infected mice, are known.

There are few biological problems where molecular analyses have come to a complete halt through lack of genes of interest. DD may be useful in these instances, but is not a replacement for investigations and careful characterizations based on molecules of known importance. In the case of immune control of ganglionic HSV infections, cytokine expression and the role of CD8⁺ T cells in the regulation of cytokine expression are obvious targets for investigation. The data gained through the characterization of cytokine expression in HSV infected ganglia presented in chapter 3 provide several insights. First, anti-CD8 treatment affects the abundance of some cytokine transcripts in HSV infected ganglia. Second, the assumption that the Th1/Th2 paradigm is broadly applicable to all immune responses has been challenged by evidence that in the case of ganglionic HSV infections, reciprocal regulation of IFN- γ and IL-4 does not occur. Third, attention has been drawn to the possibility that increased IL-4 expression may be detrimental to recovery of mice from ganglionic HSV infections. Finally, IFN- γ mRNA levels were not affected by anti-CD8 treatment, leading to the conclusion that the failure of CD8 depleted mice to clear productive ganglionic HSV infection is not linked to inadequate IFN- γ production.

Like the results obtained by the application of DD to the search for anti-HSV CD8⁺ T cell function, data from the cytokine experiments provide new avenues of investigation. Unlike DD, the directed characterization of cytokine expression was able to narrow the range of molecules of interest in this context, by demonstrating that IFN- γ mRNA levels are not affected by removal of CD8⁺ cells. In addition, this finding is unequivocal, whereas all DD based findings remain possibilities to be explored. Therefore, the use of a flexible, but unfocussed tool such as DD in parallel with an analysis focussed on established knowledge provides stronger approach than either strategy alone.

In summary, the mechanism by which CD8⁺ T lymphocytes clear HSV from infected sensory ganglia of mice remains unknown. There are however, powerful approaches to this problem. Investigations based on cytokines and other host proteins with established roles in immunity may reveal mediators of CD8⁺ T cell activity. At the same time, the application of new molecular techniques, such as DD, to well defined *in vivo* models of HSV disease has the potential to extend the list of candidate effector molecules.

140

References

Adams, A. and T. Lindahl (1975). Epstein-Barr virus genomes with properties of circular DNA molecules in carrier cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72:1477-1481.

Ahuja, S. K., J. L. Gao and P. M. Murphy (1994). Chemokine receptors and molecular mimicry. *Immunol. Today* 15:281-287.

Aiello, L. P., G. S. Robinson, Y. W. Lin, Y. Nishio and G. L. King (1994). Identification of multiple genes in bovine retinal pericytes altered by exposure to elevated levels of glucose by using mRNA differential display. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**:6231-6235.

Alonso, S., A. Minty, Y. Bourlet and M. Buckingham (1986). Comparison of three actincoding sequences in the mouse; evolutionary relationships between the actin genes of warm-blooded vertebrates. J. Mol. Evolution 23:11-22.

Altmann, D. M. and W. A. Blyth (1985). Protection from herpes simplex virus-induced neuropathology in mice showing delayed type hypersensitivity tolerance. J. Gen. Virol. 66:1297-1303.

Altschul, S. F., W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers and D. J. Lipman (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215:403-410.

Anderson, W. A. and E. D. Kilbourne (1961). A herpes simplex skin test diagnostic antigen of low protein content from cell culture fluid. J. Invest. Dermatol. 37:25-28.

Arnaiz-Villena, A. (1993). MHC research: fast forward. Immunol. Today 14:3-5.

Arthur, J., S. Efstathiou and A. Simmons (1993). Intranuclear foci containing low abundance herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcripts visualized by non-isotopic *in situ* hybridization. *J. Gen. Virol.* **74**:1363-1370.

Ashman, R. B., E. M. Bolitho and A. Fulurija (1995). Cytokine mRNA in brain tissue from mice that show strain-dependent differences in the severity of lesions induced by systemic infection with Candida albicans yeast. J. Infect. Dis. 172:823-830.

Ausubel, F. M., R. Brent, R. E. Kingston, D. D. Moore, J. G. Seidman, J. A. Smith and K. Struhl (1988). *Current protocols in molecular biology*, New York, John Wiley and Sons.

Autieri, M. V., G. Z. Feuerstein, T. L. Yue, E. H. Ohlstein and S. A. Douglas (1995). Use of differential display to identify differentially expressed mRNAs induced by rat carotid artery balloon angioplasty. *Lab. Invest.* **72**:656-661.

Babu, J. S., S. Kanangat and B. T. Rouse (1995). T cell cytokine mRNA expression during the course of the immunopathologic ocular disease herpetic stromal keratitis. *J. Immunol.* **154**:4822-4829.

Bachenheimer, S. L. and B. Roizman (1972). Ribonucleic acid synthesis in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. VI. Polyadenylic acid sequences in viral messenger ribonucleic acid. *J. Virol.* **10**:875-879.

Bagdades, E. K., D. Pillay, S. B. Squire, O. N. C, M. A. Johnson and P. D. Griffiths (1992). Relationship between herpes simplex virus ulceration and CD4+ cell counts in patients with HIV infection. *Aids* 6:1317-1320.

Balachandran, N., S. Bacchetti and W. E. Rawls (1982). Protection against lethal challenge of BALB/c mice by passive transfer of monoclonal antibodies to five glycoproteins of herpes simplex virus type 2. *Infect. Immun.* **37**:1132-1137.

Balish, M. J., M. E. Abrams, A. M. Pumfery and C. R. Brandt (1992). Enhanced inhibition of herpes simplex virus type 1 growth in human corneal fibroblasts by combinations of interferon-alpha and -gamma. J. Infect. Dis. 166:1401-1403.

Banks, T. A., E. M. Allen, S. Dasgupta, R. Sandrin-Goldin and B. T. Rouse (1991). Herpes simplex virus type 1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize immediate-early protein ICP27. J. Virol. 65:3185-3191.

Banks, T. A., F. J. Jenkins, S. Kanangat, S. Nair, S. Dasgupta, C. M. Foster and B. T. Rouse (1994). Vaccination with the immediate-early protein ICP47 of herpes simplex virus-type 1 (HSV-1) induces virus-specific lymphoproliferation, but fails to protect against lethal challenge. *Virol.* 200:236-245.

Banks, T. A., S. Nair and B. T. Rouse (1993). Recognition by and in vitro induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against predicted epitopes of the immediate-early protein ICP27 of herpes simplex virus. *J. Virol.* **67**:613-616.

Baringer, J. R. and P. Swoveland (1973). Recovery of herpes simplex virus from human trigeminal ganglions. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 288:648-650.

Baron, S., M. G. Worthington, J. Williams and J. W. Gains (1976). Postexposure serum prohylaxis of neonatal herpes simplex virus infection of mice. *Nature* **261**:505-506.

Barthez Carpentier, M. A., F. Rozenberg, E. Dussaix, P. Lebon, A. Goudeau, C. Billard and M. Tardieu (1995). Relapse of herpes simplex encephalitis. *J Child Neurol* 10:363-368.

Bastian, F. O., A. S. Rabson, C. L. Yee and T. S. Tralka (1972). Herpesvirus hominis: isolation from human trigeminal ganglion. *Science* **178**:306-307.

Bauer, D., H. Muller, J. Reich, H. Riedel, V. Ahrenkiel, P. Warthoe and M. Strauss (1993). Identification of differentially expressed mRNA species by an improved display technique (DDRT-PCR). *Nucleic Acids Res.* **21**:4272-4280.

Becker, T. M. (1992). Herpes gladiatorum: a growing problem in sports medicine. *Cutis* 50:150-152.

Becker, Y., H. Dym and I. Sarov (1968). Herpes simplex virus DNA. Virol. 36:184-192.

Ben-Hur, T., A. Rosen-Wolff, W. Lamade, G. Darai and Y. Becker (1988). HSV-1 DNA sequence determining intraperitoneal pathogenicity in mice is required for transcription of viral immediate-early genes in macrophages. *Virol.* **169**:397-404.

Ben-Porat, T., A. S. Kaplan, B. Stehn and A. S. Rubenstein (1976). Concatemeric forms of intracellular herpesvirus DNA. *Virol.* **69**:547-560.

Ben-Porat, T., A. S. Kaplan, B. Stehn and A. S. Rubensten (1977). Replication of herpes DNA II. Sedimentation characteristics of newly synthesized DNA. *Virol.* **79**:292-301.

Bentley, G. A., G. Boulot, K. Karjalainen and R. A. Mariuzza (1995). Crystal structure of the beta chain of a T cell antigen receptor. *Science* 267:1984-1987.

Benveniste, E. N. (1992). Inflammatory cytokines within the central nervous system: sources, function, and mechanism of action. *Am. J. Physiol.* 263:C1-16.

Berman, E. J. and J. M. Hill (1985). Spontaneous shedding of HSV-1 in latently infected rabbits. *Invest. Opthalmol. Vis. Sci.*26:587-590.

Berry, G. P. and H. B. Slavin (1943). Studies on herpetic infection in mice. I. Passive protection against virus inoculated intranasally. J. Exp. Med. 78:305-313.

Bertoli, D. J., U. H. A. Schlichter, M. J. Adams, P. R. Burrows, H. Steinbiß and J. F. Antoniw (1995). An analysis of differential display shows a strong bias towards high copy number mRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:4520-4523.

Beswick, T. S. L. (1962). The origin and use of the word herpes. *Medical History* **6**:214-232.

Biron, C. A., H. S. Bryon and J. L. Sullivan (1989). Severe herpes infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **320**:1731-1735.

Bjorkman, P. J., M. A. Saper, B. Samraoui, W. S. Bennet, J. L. Strominger and D. G. Wiley (1987). Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. *Nature (Lond.)* **329**:506.

Blanden, R. W. (1971). Mechanisms of recovery from a generalised viral infection: mousepox. III. Regression of infectious foci. J. Exp. Med. 133:1090-1104.

Blyth, W. A., T. J. Hill, H. J. Field and D. A. Harbour (1976). Reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus infection by ultraviolet light and possible involvement of prostaglandins. J. Gen. Virol. 33:547-550.

Bobrowski, P. J., R. Capiola and Y. M. Centifanto (1991). Latent herpes simplex virus reactivation in the guinea pig. An animal model for recurrent disease. *Int. J. Dermatol.* **30**:29-35.

143

Bohm, W., R. Schirmbeck, A. Elbe, K. Melber, D. Diminky, G. Kraal, N. van Rooijen, Y. Barenholz and J. Reimann (1995). Exogenous hepatitis B surface antigen particles processed by dendritic cells or macrophages prime murine MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vivo. J. Immunol. 155:3313-3321.

Bolin, L. M., A. N. Verity, J. E. Silver, E. M. Shooter and J. S. Abrams (1995). Interleukin-6 production by Schwann cells and induction in sciatic nerve injury. J Neurochem 64:850-858.

Bonneau, R. H. and S. R. Jennings (1989). Modulation of acute and latent herpes simplex virus infection in C57BL/6 mice by adoptive transfer of immune lymphocytes with cytolytic activity. *J. Virol.* **63**:1480-1484.

Bonneau, R. H. and S. R. Jennings (1990). Herpes simplex virus-specific cytolytic T lymphocytes restricted to a normally low responder H-2 allele are protective in vivo. *Virol.* **174**:599-604.

Bonneau, R. H., L. A. Salvucci, D. C. Johnson and S. S. Tevethia (1993). Epitope specificity of H-2Kb-restricted, HSV-1-, and HSV-2-cross-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones. *Virol.* **195**:62-70.

Booy, F. P., W. W. Newcomb, B. L. Trus, J. C. Brown, T. S. Baker and A. C. Steven (1991). Liquid-crystalline, phage-like packing of encapsidated DNA in herpes simplex virus. *Cell* 64:1007-1015.

Bottomly, K. (1989). Subsets of CD4 T cells and and B cell activation. Sem. Immunol. 1:21-31.

Bouley, D. M., S. Kanangat, W. Wire and B. T. Rouse (1995). Characterization of herpes simplex virus type-1 infection and herpetic stromal keratitis development in IFN-gamma knockout mice. *J. Immunol.* 155:3964-3971.

Brodsky, F. M. and L. E. Guagliardi (1991). The cell biology of antigen processing and presentation. *Ann. Rev. Immunol.* **9**:707-744.

Brown, J. H., T. S. Jardetzky, J. C. Gorga, L. J. Stern, R. G. Urban, J. L. Strominger and D. C. Wiley (1993). Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. *Nature* **364**:33-39.

Bruckner, R. C., R. E. Dutch, B. V. Zemelman, E. S. Mocarski and I. R. Lehman (1992). Recombination in vitro between herpes simplex virus type 1 a sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **89**:10950-10954.

Bukowski, J. F. and R. M. Welsh (1986). The role of natural killer cells and interferon in resisitance to acute infection of mice with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Immunol. 136:3481-3485.

Burioni, R., R. A. Williamson, P. P. Sanna, F. E. Bloom and D. R. Burton (1994). Recombinant human Fab to glycoprotein D neutralizes infectivity and prevents cell-to-cell transmission of herpes simplex viruses 1 and 2 in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**:355-359.

Burnet, F. M. and S. W. Williams (1939). Herpes simplex: a new point of view. *Med. J. Aust.* 1:637-642.

Cai, W., B. Gu and S. Person (1988). Role of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus type 1 in viral entry and cell fusion. J. Virol. 62:2596-2604.

Callard, D., B. Lescure and L. Mazzolini (1994). A method for the elimination of false positives generated by the mRNA differential display technique. *BioTechniques* **16**:1096-1103.

Campadelli-Fiume, G., M. Arsenakis, F. Farabegoli and B. Roizman (1988). Entry of herpes simplex virus 1 in BJ cells that constitutively express viral glycoprotein D is by endocytosis and results in the degradation of the virus. J. Virol. 62:159-167.

Campadelli-Fiume, G., D. Stirpe, A. Boscaro, E. Avitabile, L. Foa-Tomasi, D. Barker and B. Roizman (1990). Glycoprotein C-dependent attachment of herpes simplex virus to susceptible cells leading to productive infection. *Virol.* **178**:213-222.

Campbell, M. E. M., J. W. Palfreyman and C. M. Preston (1984). Identification of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences which encode a *trans*- acting polypeptide responsible for stimulation of immediate early transcription. *J. Mol. Biol.* 180:1-19.

Cantin, E. M., D. R. Hinton, J. Chen and H. Openshaw (1995). Gamma interferon expression during acute and latent nervous system infection by herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol. 69:4898-4905.

Cattani, P., P. Plaisant, S. Manzara, N. Capodicasa, R. Burioni, G. M. Rossolini and G. Satta (1995). Cloning and characterization of human recombinant antibody Fab fragments specific for types 1 and 2 herpes simplex virus. *Microbiologica* 18:135-142.

Chaconas, G. and J. H. van de Sande (1980). 5'-³²P labeling of RNA and DNA restriction fragments. *Meth. Enzymol.* **65**:75-88.

Challberg, M. (1986). A method for identifying the viral genes required for herpesvirus DNA replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:9094-9098.

Chan, W. L., T. Javanovic and M. L. Lukic (1989). Infiltration of immune T cells in the brain of mice with herpes simplex virus-induced encephalitis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 23:195-201.

Cheever, F. S. and G. Daikos (1950). Studies on the protective effect of gamma globulin against herpes simplex infections in mice. J. Immunol. 65:135-141.

Chen, S. H., J. E. Oakes and R. N. Lausch (1993). Synergistic anti-HSV effect of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma in human corneal fibroblasts is associated with interferon beta induction. *Antiviral Res.* 22:15-29.

Cheung, A. K. (1989). Detection of pseudorabies virus transcripts in trigeminal ganglia of latently infected swine. J. Virol. 63:2903-2913.

Ching, C. and C. Lopez (1979). Natural killing of herpes simplex virus type 1-infected target cells: normal responses and influence of antiviral antibody. *Infect. Immun.* 26:49-56.

Chomczynski, P. and N. Sacci (1987). Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal. Biochem.* **162**:156-159.

Claoue, C. M. P., T. J. Hodges, J. M. Darville, T. J. Hill, W. A. Blyth and D. L. Easty (1990). Possible latent infection with herpes simplex virus in the mouse eye. *J. Gen. Virol.* 71:2385-2390.

Clark, J. M. (1988). Novel nontemplated nucleotide addition reactions catalysed by prokaryotic and eukaryotic DNA polymerases. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16:9677-9686.

Clements, G. B. and N. D. Stow (1989). A herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a deletion within immediate early gene 1 is latency-competent in mice. J. Gen. Virol. 70:2501-2506.

Clements, G. B. and J. H. Subak-Sharpe (1988). Herpes simplex virus type 2 establishes latency in the mouse footpad. *J. Gen. Virol.* **69**:375-383.

Clements, J. B., R. Cortini and N. M. Wilkie (1976). Analysis of herpesvirus DNA substructure by means of restriction endonucleases. J. Gen. Virol. 30:243-256.

Clerici, M. and G. M. Shearer (1993). A TH1-->TH2 switch is a critical step in the etiology of HIV infection. *Immunol. Today* 14:107-111.

Cobbold, S., G. Martin and H. Waldmann (1986). Monoclonal antibodies for the prevention of graft-versus-host disease and marrow graft rejection. The depletion of T cell subsets *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Transplantation* **42**:239-247.

Cobbold, S. P., A. Jayashuriya, A. Nash, T. D. Prospero and H. Waldmann (1984). Therapy with monoclonal antibodies by elimination of T-cell subsets *in vivo*. *Nature* **312**:548-551.

Coche, T., M. Dewez and M. C. Beckers (1994). Generation of an unlimited supply of a subtracted probe using magnetic beads and PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:1322-1323.

Coen, D. M. (1994). Acyclovir-resistant, pathogenic herpesviruses. *Trends Microbiol.* 2:481-485.

Coen, D. M., M. Kosz-Vnenchak, J. G. Jacobson, D. A. Leib, C. L. Bogard, P. A. Schaffer, K. L. Tyler and D. M. Knipe (1989). Thymidine kinase-negative herpes simplex virus mutants establish latency in mouse trigeminal ganglia but do not reactivate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:4736-4740.

Coen, D. M. and P. A. Schaffer (1980). Two distinct loci confer resistance to acycloguanosine in herpes ismplex virus type 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77:2265-2269.

Colmenares, C. and C. Lopez (1986). Enhanced lysis of herpes simplex virus type 1infected mouse cell lines by NC and NK effectors. J. Immunol. 136:3473-3480.

Cook, D. N., M. A. Beck, T. M. Coffman, S. L. Kirby, J. F. Sheridan, I. B. Pragnell and O. Smithies (1995). Requirement of MIP-1 α for an inflammatory response to viral infection. *Science* **269**:1583-1585.

Cook, M. L. and J. G. Stevens (1973). Pathogenesis of herpetic neuritis and ganglionitis in mice: evidence for intra-axonal transport of infection. *Infect. Immun.* 7:272-288.

Cook, M. L. and J. G. Stevens (1976). Latent herpetic infections following experimental viraemia. J. Gen. Virol. 31:75-80.

Cook, M. L. and J. G. Stevens (1983). Restricted replication of herpes simplex virus in spinal ganglia of resistant mice is accompanied by an early infiltration if immunoglobulin G-bearing cells. *Infect. Immun.* **40**:752-758.

Corey, L., H. G. Adams, Z. A. Brown and K. K. Holmes (1983). Genital herpes simplex infections: clinical manifestations, course, and complications. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **98**:958-972.

Corey, L., W. C. Reeves and K. K. Holmes (1978). Cellular immune response in genital herpes simplex virus infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 299:986-991.

Crumpacker, C. S., L. E. Scnipper, S. I. Marlowe, P. N. Kowalsky, B. J. Hershey and M. J. Levine (1982). Resistance to antiviral drugs of herpes simplex virus isolated from a patient treated with acyclovir. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **306**:343-346.

Cunningham, A. L. and T. C. Merigan (1983). γ -Interferon Production Appears to Predict Time of Recurrence of Herpes Labialis. *J. Immunol.* 130:2397-2400.

Cunningham, A. L. and J. R. Noble (1989). Role of keratinocytes in human recurrent herpetic lesions. Ability to present herpes simplex virus antigen and act as targets for T lymphocyte cytotoxicity in vitro. *J. Clin. Invest.* **83**:490-496.

Cunningham, A. L., R. R. Turner, A. C. Miller, M. F. Para and T. C. Merigan (1985). Evolution of recurrent herpes simplex lesions. An immunohistologic study. J. Clin. Invest. 75:226-233. Cunningham, C., A. J. Davison, A. Dolan, M. C. Frame, D. J. McGeoch, D. M. Meredith, H. W. Moss and A. C. Orr (1992). The UL13 virion protein of herpes simplex virus type 1 is phosphorylated by a novel virus-induced protein kinase. J. Gen. Virol. 73:303-311.

Darlington, R. W. and A. Granoff (1973). Replication-Biological Aspects. In *The Herpesviruses*, Kaplan, A. S., Ed. New York, Academic Press. 93-132.

Davis, M. M. and P. J. Bjorkman (1988). T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature* 334:395-402.

Deatly, A. M., J. G. Spivack, E. Lavi and N. W. Fraser (1987). RNA from an immediate early region of the type 1 herpes simplex virus genome is present in the trigeminal ganglia of latently infected mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:3204-3208.

Deb, S. P., S. Deb and D. R. Brown (1994). Cell-type-specific induction of the UL9 gene of HSV-1 by cell signaling pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 205:44-51.

Deiss, L. P., J. Chou and N. Frenkel (1986). Functional domains within the *a* sequence involved in the cleavage-packaging of herpes simplex virus DNA. *J. Virol.* **59**:605-618.

Deiss, L. P. and N. Frenkel (1986). Herpes simplex virus amplicon: cleavage of concatemeric DNA is linked to packaging and involves amplification of the terminally reiterated *a* sequence. *J. Virol.* **57**:933-941.

Delius, H. and J. B. Clements (1976). A partial denaturation map of herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA: evidence for inversions in the unique DNA regions. *J. Gen. Virol.* **33**:125-133.

Desai, P., N. A. DeLuca, J. C. Glorioso and S. Person (1993). Mutations in herpes simplex virus type 1 genes encoding VP5 and VP23 abrogate capsid formation and cleavage of replicated DNA. J. Virol. 67:1357-1364.

Desai, P. J., P. A. Schaffer and A. C. Minson (1988). Excretion of noninfectious virus particles lacking glycoprotein H by a temperature-sensitive mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1: evidence that gH is essential for virion infectivity. *J. Gen. Virol.* **69**:1147-1156.

Deshmane, S. L. and N. W. Fraser (1989). During latency, herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA is associated with nucleosomes in a chromosome structure. *J. Virol.* **63**:943-947.

Dietzschold, B. (1993). Antibody-mediated clearance of viruses from the mammalian central nervous system. *Trends Microbiol.* **1**:63-66.

Dietzschold, B., M. Kao, Y. M. Zheng, Z. Y. Chen, G. Maul, Z. F. Fu, C. E. Rupprecht and H. Koprowski (1992). Delineation of putative mechanisms involved in antibodymediated clearance of rabies virus from the central nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:7252-7256. Dillard, S. H., W. J. Cheatham and H. L. Moses (1972). Electron microscopy of zosteriform herpes simplex infection in the mouse. *Lab. Invest.* 26:391-402.

Dingwell, K. S., L. C. Doering and D. C. Johnson (1995). Glycoproteins E and I facilitate neuron-to-neuron spread of herpes simplex virus. J. Virol. 69:7087-7098.

Dix, R. D., L. Pereira and J. R. Baringer (1981). Use of monoclonal antibody directed against herpes simplex virus glycoproteins to protect mice against acute virus-induced neurological disease. *Infect. Immun.* 34:192-199.

Dobson, A. T., F. Sederati, G. Devi-Rao, W. M. Flanagan, M. J. Farrell, J. G. Stevens, E. K. Wagner and L. T. Feldman (1989). Identification of the latency-associated transcript promoter by expression of rabbit beta-globin mRNA in mouse sensory nerve ganglia latently infected with a recombinant herpes simplex virus. *J. Virol.* **63**:3844-3851.

Doerig, C., L. I. Pizer and C. L. Wilcox (1991). An antigen encoded by the latency associated transcript in neuronal cell cultures latently infected with herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Virol.* **65**:2724-2727.

Dolan, A., E. McKie, A. R. MacLean and D. J. McGeoch (1992). Status of the ICP34.5 gene in herpes simplex virus type 1 strain 17. J. Gen. Virol. 73:971-973.

Domke-Opitz, I., P. Straub and H. Kirchner (1986). Effect of interferon on replication of herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 in human macrophages. *J. Virol.* **60**:37-42.

Doymaz, M. Z., C. M. Foster, D. Destephano and B. T. Rouse (1991). MHC Ilrestricted, CD4+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for herpes simplex virus-1: implications for the development of herpetic stromal keratitis in mice. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* **61**:398-409.

Doymaz, M. Z. and B. T. Rouse (1992a). Herpetic stromal keratitis: an immunopathologic disease mediated by CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **33**:2165-2173.

Doymaz, M. Z. and B. T. Rouse (1992b). Immunopathology of herpes simplex virus infections. Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol. 179:121-136.

Dustin, M. L. and T. A. Springer (1991). Role of lymphocyte adhesion receptors in transient interactions and cell locomotion. *Ann. Rev. Immunol.* **9**:27-66.

Dutch, R. E., R. C. Bruckner, E. S. Mocarski and I. R. Lehman (1992). Herpes simplex virus type 1 recombination: Role of DNA replication and viral *a* sequences. *J. Virol.* 66:277-285.

Ecob Prince, M. S., F. J. Rixon, C. M. Preston, K. Hassan and P. G. Kennedy (1993). Reactivation in vivo and in vitro of herpes simplex virus from mouse dorsal root ganglia which contain different levels of latency-associated transcripts. *J. Gen. Virol.* **74**:995-1002. Efstathiou, S., A. C. Minson, H. J. Field, J. R. Anderson and P. Wildy (1986). Detection of herpes simplex virus-specific DNA sequences in latently infected mice and in humans. J. Virol. 57:446-455.

Eis-Hübinger, A. M., D. S. Schmidt and K. E. Schneweis (1993). Anti-glycoprotein B monoclonal antibody protects T cell-depleted mice against herpes simplex virus infection by inhibition of virus replication at the inoculated mucous membranes. *J. Gen. Virol.* **74**:379-385.

Elion, G. B., P. A. Furman, J. A. Fyfe, P. de Miranda, L. Beauchamp and H. J. Schaeffer (1977). Selectivity of action of an antiherpetic agent, 9-(2-hydroxyethoxymethyl)guanine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74:5716-5720.

Ennis, F. A. (1973a). Host defense mechanisms against herpes simplex virus. I. Control of infection in vitro by sensitized spleen cells and antibody. *Infect. Immun.* 7:898-904.

Ennis, F. A. (1973b). Host defense mechanisms against herpes simplex virus. II. Protection confirred by sensitized spleen cells. J. Infect. Dis. 127:632-638.

Evans, C. A., H. B. Slavin and G. P. Berry (1946). Studies on herpetic infection in mice. IV. The effect of specific antibodies on the progression of the virus within the central nervous system of young mice. J. Exp. Med. 84:429-447.

Falk, K., O. Rötzschke and H. Rammensee (1990). Cellular peptide composition governed by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature* **348**:248-251.

Farrell, M. J., A. T. Dobson and L. T. Feldman (1991). Herpes simplex virus latencyassociated transcript is a stable intron. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:790-794.

Fawl, R. L. and B. Roizman (1993). Induction of reactivation of herpes simplex virus in murine sensory ganglia in vivo by cadmium. J. Virol. 67:7025-7031.

Feduchi, E., M. A. Alonso and L. Carrasco (1989). Human gamma interferon and tumor necrosis factor exert a synergistic blockade on the replication of herpes simplex virus. *J. Virol.* **63**:1354-1359.

Feinburg, A. P. and B. Vogelstein (1983). A technique for radiolabeling DNA restriction endonuclease fragments to high specific activity. *Anal. Biochem.* 132:6-13.

Field, H. J., S. E. Bell, G. B. Elion, A. A. Nash and P. Wildy (1979). Effect of acyloguanosine treatment on acute and latent herpes simplex infections in mice. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 15:554-561.

Fields, B. A., B. Ober, E. L. Malchiodi, M. I. Lebedeva, B. C. Braden, X. Ysern, J. K. Kim, X. Shao, E. S. Ward and R. A. Mariuzza (1995). Crystal structure of the V alpha domain of a T cell antigen receptor. *Science* 270:1821-1824.

Finke, D., U. G. Brinckmann, V. ter Meulen and U. G. Liebert (1995). Gamma interferon is a major mediator of antiviral defense in experimental measles virus-induced encephalitis. J. Virol. 69:5469-5474.

Forrester, A., H. Farrell, G. Wilkinson, J. Kaye, N. Davis-Poynter and T. Minson (1992). Construction and properties of a mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 with glycoprotein H coding sequences deleted. J. Virol. 66:341-348.

Foster, C. S., E. M. Opremcak and N. Tolchin (1989). Evidence for the potential influence of cyclic nucleotides on maintenance of or reactivation from latency of herpes simplex virus in trigeminal ganglionic neurons. *Acta Opthalmol.* **192(supplement)**:142-144.

Fraser, N. W., T. M. Block and J. G. Spivack (1992). The latency-associated transcripts of herpes simplex virus: RNA in search of function. *Virol.* 191:1-8.

Frei, K., U. V. Malipiero, T. P. Leist, R. M. Zinkernagel, M. E. Schwab and A. Fontana (1989). On the cellular source and function of interleukin 6 produced in the central nervous system in viral diseases. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19:689-694.

Fremont, D. H., W. A. Hendrickson, P. Marrack and J. Kappler (1996). Structures of an MHC class II molecule with covalently bound single peptides. *Science* 272:1001-1004.

Fremont, D. H., M. Matsumura, E. A. Stura, P. A. Peterson and I. A. Wilson (1992). Crystal structures of two viral peptides in complex with murine MHC class I H-2Kb. *Science* **257**:919-927.

Fuller, A. O., R. E. Santos and P. G. Spear (1989). Neutralizing antibodies specific for glycoprotein H of herpes simplex virus permit viral attachment to cells but prevent penetration. J. Virol. 63:3435-3443.

Fuller, A. O. and P. G. Spear (1987). Anti-glycoprotein D antibodies that permit adsorption but block infection by herpes simplex virus 1 prevent virion- cell fusion at the cell surface. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:5454-5458.

Furlong, D., H. Swift and B. Roizman (1972). Arrangement of herpesvirus deoxyribonucleic acid in the core. J. Virol. 10:1071-1074.

Futcher, A. B. (1986). Copy number amplification of the 2µm circle plasmid of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Theor. Biol. 119:197-204.

Garber, D. A., S. M. Beverley and D. M. Coen (1993). Demonstration of circularization of herpes simplex virus DNA following infection using pulsed field gel electrophoresis. *Virol.* **197**:459-462.

Garcia-Blanco, M. A. and B. R. Cullen (1991). Molecular basis of latency in pathogenic human viruses. *Science* 254:815-820.

Ghiasi, H., R. Kaiwar, A. B. Nesburn, S. Slanina and S. L. Wechsler (1994). Expression of seven herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoproteins (gB, gC, gD, gE, gG, gH, and gI): comparative protection against lethal challenge in mice. J. Virol. 68:2118-2126.

Ghobrial, R. R. M., M. Boublik, H. J. Winn and H. Auchincloss, Jr. (1989). *In vivo* use of monoclonal antibodies against murine T cell antigens. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* **52**:486-506.

Gillespie, J. S., H. M. Cavanagh, W. M. Behan, L. J. Morrison, F. McGarry and P. O. Behan (1993). Increased transcription of interleukin-6 in the brains of mice with chronic enterovirus infection. *J. Gen. Virol.* **74**:741-743.

Glorioso, J., U. Kees, G. Kümel, H. Kirchner and P. H. Krammer (1985). Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) glycoprotein gC as the immunodominant antigen for HSV-1-specific memory cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 135:575-582.

Gompels, U. A. and A. Minson (1986). The properties and sequence of glycoprotein H of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Virol.* **153**:230-247.

Goodpasture, E. W. (1925). The axis cylinders of peripheral nerves as portals of entry to the central nervous system for the virus of herpes simplex in experimentally infected rabbits. *Am. J. Pathol.* 1:11-28.

Goodpasture, E. W. and O. Teague (1923). Transmission of the virus of herpes febrilis along nerves in experimentally infected rabbits. *Journal of Medical Research* 44:139-184.

Graf, L. and B. Torok Storb (1995). Identification of a novel DNA sequence differentially expressed between normal human CD34⁺CD38^{hi} and CD3[‡] CD3^{bo} marrow cells. *Blood* 86:548-556.

Gresser, I., M. G. Tovey, C. Maury and M. T. Bandu (1976). Role of interferon in the pathogenesis of virus diseases in mice as demonstrated by the use of anti-interferon serum. II. Studies with herpes simplex, Molony sarcoma, vesicular stomatitis, Newcastle disease and influenza virus. J. Exp. Med. 144:1316-1323.

Gruenheid, S., L. Gatzke, H. Meadows and F. Tufaro (1993). Herpes simplex virus infection and propagation in a mouse L cell mutant lacking heparan sulphate proteoglycans. *J. Virol.* **67**:93-100.

Guimarães, M. J., F. Lee, A. Zlotnik and T. McClanahan (1995). Differential display by PCR: novel findings and applications. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:1832-1833.

Haarr, L. and S. Skulstad (1994). The herpes simplex virus type 1 particle: structure and molecular functions. Review article. *APMIS* 102:321-346.

Habu, S., K. Akamatsu, N. Tamaoki and K. Okumura (1984). In vivo significance of NK cells on resistance against virus (HSV-1) infections in mice. *J. Immunol.* **133**:2743-2747.

Ham, A. W. (1969a). The development of the PNS. In *Histology*, 6th Edn., Ham, A. W., Ed. Philidelphia and Toronto, J. B. Lippincott Company. 522-523.

Ham, A. W. (1969b). Microscopic nature of spinal ganglia. In *Histology*, 6th Edn., Ham, A. W., Ed. Philidelphia and Toronto, J. B. Lippincott Company. 523.

Hama, T., Y. Kushima, M. Miyamoto, M. Kubota, N. Takei and H. Hatanaka (1991). Interleukin-6 improves the survival of mesencephalic catecholaminergic and septal cholinergic neurons from postnatal, two-week-old rats in cultures. *Neurosci.* **40**:445-452.

Hammerschmidt, W. and J. Mankertz (1991). Herpes viral DNA replication: between the known and the unknown. *Sem. Virol.* 2:257-269.

Hammerschmidt, W. and B. Sugden (1990). DNA replication of herpesviruses during the lytic phase of their life-cycles. *Mol. Biol. Med.* **7**:45-57.

Hanahan, D. (1983). Studies on transformation of *Escherichia coli* with plasmids. J. Mol. Biol. 166:557.

Hanke, T., F. L. Graham, K. L. Rosenthal and D. C. Johnson (1991). Identification of an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte recognition site in glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus by using recombinant adenovirus vectors and synthetic peptides. J. Virol. 65:1177-1186.

Harbour, D. A., T. J. Hill and W. A. Blyth (1981). Acute and recurrent herpes simplex in several strains of mice. J. Gen. Virol. 55:31-40.

Harbour, D. A., T. J. Hill and W. A. Blyth (1983). Recurrent herpes simplex in the mouse: Inflammation in the skin and activation of virus in ganglia following peripheral stimulation. J. Gen. Virol. 64:1491-1498.

Hatherly, L. I., K. Hayes and I. Jack (1980). Herpesvirus in an obstetric hospital. II. Asymptomatic virus excretion in staff members. *Med. J. Aust.* 2:273-275.

Hay, J. and W. T. Ruyechan (1992). Regulation of herpes simplex virus type 1 gene expression. *Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol.* 179:2-14.

Hayashida, I., S. Nagafuchi, Y. Hayashi, Y. Kino, R. Mori, H. Oda, N. Ohtomo and A. Tashiro (1982). Mechanism of anti-body mediated protection against herpes simplex virus infection in athymic nude mice: Requirement of Fc portion of antibody. *Microbiol. Immunol.* **26**:497-509.

Hayward, G. S., R. J. Jacob, S. C. Wadsworth and B. Roizman (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA: evidence for four populations of molecules that differ in the relative orientations of their long and short components. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **72**:4243-4247.

Heinzel, F. P., M. S. Sadick, S. Mutha and R. M. Locksley (1991). Production of interferon- γ , interleukin 2, interleukin 4 and interleukin 10 by CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in vivo during healing and progressive leishmaniasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**:7011-7015.

Heinzel, F. P., D. S. Schoenhaut, R. M. Rerko, L. E. Rosser and M. K. Gately (1993). Recombinant interleukin 12 cures mice infected with *Leishmania major*. J. Exp. Med. 177:1505-1509.

Hendricks, R. L., T. M. Tumpey and A. Finnegan (1992). IFN-gamma and IL-2 are protective in the skin but pathologic in the corneas of HSV-1-infected mice. *J. Immunol.* **149**:3023-3028.

Henle, G., W. Henle and V. Diehl (1968). Relation of Burkitt's tumour- associated herpestype virus to infectious mononucleosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **59**:94-101.

Herold, B. C., R. J. Visalli, N. Susmarski, C. R. Brandt and P. G. Spear (1994). Glycoprotein C-independent binding of herpes simplex virus to cells requires cell surface heparan sulphate and glycoprotein B. J. Gen. Virol. **75**:1211-1222.

Herold, B. C., D. WuDunn, N. Soltys and P. G. Spear (1991). Glycoprotein C of herpes simplex virus type 1 plays a principal role in the adsorption of virus to cells and in infectivity. J. Virol. 65:1090-1098.

Herve, D., M. Levi Strauss, I. Marey Semper, C. Verney, J. P. Tassin, J. Glowinski and J. A. Girault (1993). G(olf) and Gs in rat basal ganglia: possible involvement of G(olf) in the coupling of dopamine D1 receptor with adenylyl cyclase. J. Neurosci. 13:2237-2248.

Highlander, S. L., S. L. Sutherland, P. J. Gage, D. C. Johnson, M. Levine and J. C. Glorioso (1987). Neutralizing monoclonal antibodies specific for herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D inhibit virus penetration. J. Virol. 61:3356-3364.

Hill, J. M., F. Sederati, R. T. Javier, E. K. Wagner and J. G. Stevens (1990). Herpes simplex virus latent phase transcription facilitates *in vivo* reactivation. *Virol.* 174:117-125.

Hill, J. M., Y. Shimomura, B. S. Kwon and L. Gangarosa (1985). Iontophoresis of epinephrine isomers to rabbit eyes induces HSV-1 ocular shedding. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 26:1299-1303.

Hill, T. J., W. A. Blyth and D. A. Harbour (1978). Trauma to the skin causes recurrence of herpes simplex in the mouse. J. Gen. Virol. 39:21-28.

Hill, T. J., H. J. Field and W. A. Blyth (1975). Acute and recurrent infection with herpes simplex virus in the mouse: a model for studying latency and recurrent disease. J. Gen. Virol. 28:341-353.

Hill, T. J., H. J. Field and A. P. C. Roome (1972). Intra-axonal location of herpes simplex virus particles. J. Gen. Virol. 15:253-255.

Hill, T. J., D. A. Harbour and W. A. Blyth (1980). Isolation of herpes simplex virus from the skin of clinically normal mice during latent infection. J. Gen. Virol. 47:205-207.

Hirsch, M. S., B. Zisman and A. C. Allison (1970). Macrophages and age-dependent resistance to herpes simplex virus in mice. *J. Immunol.* **104**:1160-1165.

Ho, D. Y. (1992). Herpes simplex virus latency: molecular aspects. Prog. Med.Virol. 39:76-115.

Holmes, I. H. and D. H. Watson (1961). An electron microscope study of the attachment and penetration of herpes virus in BHK21 cells. *Virol.* **21**:112-123.

Honess, R. W. and B. Roizman (1974). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis. I. Cascade regulation of the synthesis of three groups of viral proteins. *J. Virol.* 14:8-19.

Honess, R. W. and B. Roizman (1975). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis: sequential transition of polypeptide synthesis requires functional viral polypeptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72:1276-1280.

Hooks, J. J., W. Burns, K. Hayashi, S. Geis and A. L. Notkins (1976). Viral spread in the presence of neutralizing antibody: mechanisms of persistence in foamy virus infection. *Infect. Immun.* 14:1172-1178.

Horohov, D. W., J. H. I. Wyckoff, R. N. Moore and B. T. Rouse (1986). Regulation of herpes simplex virus-specific cell-mediated immunity by a specific suppressor factor. *J. Virol.* 58:331-338.

Howes, E. L., W. Taylor, N. A. Mitchison and E. Simpson (1979). MHC matching shows that at least two T-cell subsets determine resistance to HSV. *Nature* 277:67-68.

Hubank, M. and D. G. Schatz (1994). Identifying differences in mRNA expression by representational difference analysis of cDNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:5640-5648.

Huber, S. A., A. Mortensen and G. Moulton (1996). Modulation of cytokine expression by CD4⁺ T cells during coxsackievirus B3 infections of BALB/c mice initiated by cells expressing the $\gamma\delta^+$ T-cell receptor. J. Virol. **70**:3039-3044.

Hudson, S. J. and J. W. Streilein (1994). Functional cytotoxic T cells are associated with focal lesions in the brains of SJL mice with experimental herpes simplex encephalitis. *J. Immunol.* 152:5540-5547.

Hwang, C. B., B. Horsburgh, E. Pelosi, S. Roberts, P. Digard and D. M. Coen (1994). A net +1 frameshift permits synthesis of thymidine kinase from a drug-resistant herpes simplex virus mutant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:5461-5465.
Igarashi, K., R. Fawl, R. J. Roller and B. Roizman (1993). Construction and properties of a recombinant herpes simplex virus 1 lacking both S-component origins of DNA synthesis. J. Virol. 67:2123-2132.

Ikemoto, K., R. B. Pollard, T. Fukumoto, M. Morimatsu and F. Suzuki (1995a). CD8+ type-2 T cells enhance the severity of acute herpes virus infection in mice. *Immunol. Lett.* **47**:63-72.

Ikemoto, K., R. B. Pollard, T. Fukumoto, M. Morimatsu and F. Suzuki (1995b). Small amounts of exogenous IL-4 increase the severity of encephalitis induced in mice by the intranasal infection of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Immunol.* **155**:1326-1333.

Jacob, R. J., L. S. Morse and B. Roizman (1979). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. XII. Accumulation of head-to-tail concatemers in nuclei of infected cells and their role in the generation of the four isomeric arrangements of viral DNA. J. Virol. 29:448-457.

Jacob, R. J. and B. Roizman (1977). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. VIII. Properties of the replicating DNA. J. Virol. 23:394-411.

Jayaraman, S., A. Heiligenhaus, A. Rodriguez, S. Soukiasian, M. E. Dorf and C. S. Foster (1993). Exacerbation of murine herpes simplex virus-mediated stromal keratitis by Th2 type T cells. *J. Immunol.* **151**:5777-5789.

Jennings, S. R., R. H. Bonneau, P. M. Smith, R. M. Wolcott and R. Chervenak (1991). CD4-positive T lymphocytes are required for the generation of the primary but not the secondary CD8-positive cytolytic T lymphocyte response to herpes simplex virus in C57BL/6 mice. *Cell. Immunol.* **133**:234-252.

Jennings, S. R., P. L. Rice, S. Pan, B. B. Knowles and S. S. Tevethia (1984). Recognition of herpes simplex virus antigens on the surface of mouse cells of the H-2^b haplotype by virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 132:475-480.

Johnson, D. C. and M. W. Ligas (1988). Herpes simplex viruses lacking glycoprotein D are unable to inhibit virus penetration: quantitative evidence for virus-specific cell surface receptors. *J. Virol.* **62**:4605-4612.

Johnson, D. C. and P. G. Spear (1982). Monensin inhibits the processing of herpes simplex glycoproteins, their transport to the cell surface, and the egress of virions from the infected cells. J. Virol. 43:1102-1112.

Johnson, D. C., M. Wittels and P. G. Spear (1984). Binding to cells of virosomes containing herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoproteins and evidence for fusion. J. Virol. 52:238-247.

Johnson, R. M., D. W. Lancki, F. W. Fitch and P. G. Spear (1990). Herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D is recognized as antigen by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes from infected mice. Characterization of clones. J. Immunol. 145:702-710.

Johnson, R. T. (1964a). The pathogenesis of herpes encephalitis. I. Virus pathways to the nervous system of suckling mice demonstrated by fluorescent antibody staining. J. Exp. Med. 119:343-356.

Johnson, R. T. (1964b). The pathogenesis of herpes encephalitis. II. A cellular basis for the development of resistance with age. J. Exp. Med. 120:359-347.

Jones, D. T. and R. R. Reed (1989). Golf: an olfactory neuron specific-G protein involved in odorant signal transduction. *Science* 244:790-795.

Jongeneel, C. V. and S. L. Bachenheimer (1981). Structure of Replicating Herpes virus DNA. J. Virol. 39:656-660.

Kägi, D., B. Ledermann, K. Bürki, P. Seiler, B. Odermatt, K. J. Olsen, E. R. Podack, R. M. Zinkernagel and H. Hengartner (1994). Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. *Nature* **369**:31-37.

Kamogawa, Y., L. E. Minasi, S. R. Carding, K. Bottomly and R. A. Flavell (1993). The relationship of IL-4 and IFN- γ -producing T cells studied by lineage ablation of IL-4-producing cells. *Cell* **75**:985-995.

Kapoor, A. K., A. A. Nash and P. Wildy (1982a). Pathogenesis of herpes simplex virus in B cell-suppressed mice: the relative roles of cell-mediated and humoral immunity. *J. Gen. Virol.* **61**:127-131.

Kapoor, A. K., A. A. Nash, P. Wildy, J. Phelan, C. S. McLean and H. J. Field (1982b). Pathogenesis of herpes simplex virus in congenitally athymic mice: the relative roles of cell-mediated and humoral immunity. J. Gen. Virol. 60:225-233.

Kappler, J. W. and P. C. Marrack (1976). Helper T cells recognize antigen and macrophage components simultaneously. *Nature* 262:797-799.

Kelso, A. (1995). Th1 and Th2 subsets: paradigms lost? Immunol. Today 16:374-379.

Kieff, E. D., S. L. Bachenheimer and B. Roizman (1971). Size, composition and structure of the DNA of subtypes 1 and 2 herpes simplex virus. J. Virol. 8:125-129.

Kieff, E. D., B. Hoyer, S. L. Bachenheimer and B. Roizman (1972). Genetic relatedness of type 1 and type 2 herpes simplex viruses. J. Virol. 9:738-745.

Kino, K., Y. Hayashi, I. Hauashida and R. Mori (1982). Dissemination of herpes simplex virus in nude mice after intracutaneous inoculation and effect of antibody on the course of infection. J. Gen. Virol. 63:475-479.

Klein, R. J. (1976). Pathogenic mechanisms of recurrent herpes simplex virus infections. *Arch. Virol.* **51**:1-13.

Knipe, D. M. (1989). The role of viral and cellular nuclear proteins in herpes simplex virus replication. *Adv. Virus Res.* **37**:85-123.

Koelle, D. M., H. Abbo, A. Peck, K. Ziegweid and L. Corey (1994a). Direct recovery of herpes simplex virus (HSV)-specific T lymphocyte clones from recurrent genital HSV-2 lesions. *J. Infect. Dis.* 169:956-961.

Koelle, D. M., L. Corey, R. L. Burke, R. J. Eisenberg, G. H. Cohen, R. Pichyangkura and S. J. Triezenberg (1994b). Antigenic specificities of human CD4+ T-cell clones recovered from recurrent genital herpes simplex virus type 2 lesions. J. Virol. 68:2803-2810.

Kohl, S. (1991). Role of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in defense against herpes simplex virus infections. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 13:108-114.

Kohl, S. (1992). The role of antibody in herpes simplex virus infection in humans. Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol. 179:75-88.

Kohl, S. and L. S. Loo (1982). Protection of neonatal mice against herpes simplex virus infection: Probable *in vivo* antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol.* **129**:370-376.

Kolaitis, G., M. Doymaz and B. T. Rouse (1990). Demonstration of MHC class II restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes in mice against herpes simplex virus. *Immunol.* 71:101-106.

Kovacsovics Bankowski, M. and K. L. Rock (1995). A phagosome-to-cytosol pathway for exogenous antigens presented on MHC class I molecules. *Science* **267**:243-246.

Kozian, D. H. and H. G. Augustin (1995). Rapid identification of differentially expressed endothelial cell genes by RNA display. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 209:1068-1075.

Kristensson, K., B. Ghetti and H. M. Wisniewski (1974). Study on the propogation of herpes simplex virus (type 2) into the brain after intraocular inoculation. *Brain Res.* 69:189-201.

Kristensson, K., E. Lycke, M. Roytta, B. Svennerholm and A. Vahlne (1986). Neuritic transport of herpes simplex virus in rat sensory neurons in vitro. Effects of substances interacting with microtubular function and axonal flow [Nocodazole, Taxol, and Erythro-9-3-(hydroxynonyl)adenine]. J. Gen. Virol. 67:2023-2028.

Kristensson, K., E. Lycke and J. Sjöstrand (1971). Spread of herpes simplex virus in peripheral nerves. *Acta Neuropathol.* 17:45-53.

Kristie, T. M. and B. Roizman (1987). Host cell proteins bind to the cis- acting site required for virion-mediated induction of herpes simplex virus 1 alpha genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:71-75.

Kushima, Y., T. Hama and H. Hatanaka (1992). Interleukin-6 as a neurotrophic factor for promoting the survival of cultured catecholaminergic neurons in a chemically defined medium from fetal and postnatal rat midbrains. *Neurosci. Res.* **13**:267-280.

Kushima, Y. and H. Hatanaka (1992). Interleukin-6 and leukemia inhibitory factor promote the survival of acetylcholinesterase-positive neurons in culture from embryonic rat spinal cord. *Neurosci. Lett.* 143:110-114.

Kutish, G., T. Mainprize and D. Rock (1990). Characterization of the latency-related transcriptionally active region of the bovine herpesvirus 1 genome. *J. Virol.* **64**:5730-5737.

Kwong, A. D. and N. Frenkel (1987). Herpes simplex virus-infected cells contain a function(s) that destabilises both host and viral mRNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:1926-1930.

Kwong, A. D., J. A. Kruper and N. Frenkel (1988). Herpes simplex virus virion host shutoff function. J. Virol. 62:912-921.

Lagunoff, M. and B. Roizman (1994). Expression of a herpes simplex virus 1 open reading frame antisense to the gamma(1)34.5 gene and transcribed by an RNA 3' coterminal with the unspliced latency-associated transcript. J. Virol. 68:6021-6028.

Lagunoff, M. and B. Roizman (1995). The regulation of synthesis and properties of the protein product of open reading frame P of the herpes simplex virus 1 genome. J. Virol. 69:3615-3623.

Lakeman, F. D., R. J. Whitley and the National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Collaborative Antiviral Study Group (1995). Diagnosis of herpes simplex encephalitis: application of polymerase chain reaction to cerebrospinal fluid from brain-biopsied patients and correlation with disease. J. Infect. Dis. 171:857-863.

Larsen, H. S., M. Feng, D. W. Horohov, R. N. Moore and B. T. Rouse (1984). Role of T-lymphocyte subsets in recovery from herpes simplex virus infection. J. Virol. 50:56-59.

Larsen, H. S., R. G. Russell and B. T. Rouse (1983). Recovery from lethal herpes simplex virus type 1 infection is mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Infect. Immun.* **41**:197-204.

Latchman, D. S. (1990). Current status review: molecular biology of herpes simplex virus latency. J. Exp. Pathol. 71:133-141.

Lausch, R., J. Swyers and H. Kaufman (1966). Delayed type hypersenstitivity to herpes simplex virus in the guinea pig. J. Immunol. 96:981-987.

Lawman, M. J. P., R. J. Courtney, E. R., P. A. Schaffer, M. K. O'Hara and B. T. Rouse (1980a). Cell-mediated immunity to herpes simplex virus: specificity of cytotoxic T cells. *Infect. Immun.* **30**:451-461.

Lawman, M. J. P., B. T. Rouse, R. J. Courtney and R. D. Walker (1980b). Cellmediated immunity against herpes simplex induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 27:133-139. 1

Lawton, A., R. Asofsky, M. Hylton and M. Cooper (1972). Suppression of immunoglobulin class synthesis in mice. J. Exp. Med. 135:277-297.

Leib, D. A., C. L. Bogard, M. Kosz-Vnenchak, K. A. Hicks, D. M. Coen, D. M. Knipe and P. A. Schaffer (1989a). A deletion mutant of the latency- associated transcript of herpes simplex virus type 1 reactivates from the latent state with reduced frequency. J. Virol. 63:2893- 2900.

Leib, D. A., D. M. Coen, C. L. Bogard, K. A. Hicks, D. R. Yager, D. M. Knipe, K. L. Tyler and P. A. Schaffer (1989b). Immediate-early regulatory gene mutants define different stages in the establishment and reactivation of herpes simplex virus latency. *J. Virol.* **63**:759-768.

Leib, D. A., K. C. Nadeau, S. A. Rundle and P. A. Schaffer (1991). The promoter of the latency-associated transcripts of herpes simplex virus type 1 contains a functional cAMP-response element: Role of the latency-associated transcripts and cAMP in reactivation of viral latency. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:48-52.

Leung, K. N. and A. A. Nash (1984). Clonal analysis of T-cell responses to herpes simplex virus: isolation, characterization and antiviral properties of an antigen-specific helper T-cell clone. *Immunol.* **53**:623-633.

Levine, B., J. M. Hardwick, B. D. Trapp, T. O. Crawford, R. C. Bollinger and D. E. Griffin (1991). Antibody-mediated clearance of alphavirus infection from neurons. *Science* **254**:856-860.

Liang, P., L. Averboukh, K. Keyomarsi, R. Sager and A. B. Pardee (1992). Differential display and cloning of messenger RNAs from human breast cancer versus mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer Res.* **52**:6966-6968.

Liang, P., L. Averboukh and A. B. Pardee (1993). Distribution and cloning of eukaryotic mRNAs by means of differential display: refinements and optimization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21:3269-3275.

Liang, P. and A. B. Pardee (1992). Differential display of eukaryotic messenger RNA by means of the polymerase chain reaction. *Science* **257**:967-971.

Liang, P. and A. B. Pardee (1995). Recent advances in differential display. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 7:274-280.

Liang, P., W. Zhu, X. Zhang, Z. Guo, O. C. RP, L. Averboukh, F. Wang and A. B. Pardee (1994). Differential display using one-base anchored oligo-dT primers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:5763-5764.

Liblau, R. S., S. M. Singer and H. O. McDevitt (1995). Th1 and Th2 CD4⁺ T cells in the pathogenesis of organ specific autoimmune diseases. *Immunol. Today* 16:34-38.

Lidbury, B. A., I. A. Ramshaw, M. S. Rolph and W. B. Cowden (1995). The antiviral activity of tumour necrosis factor on herpes simplex virus type 1: role for a butylated hydroxyanisole sensitive factor. *Arch. Virol.* **140**:703-719.

Ligas, M. W. and D. C. Johnson (1988). A herpes simplex virus mutant in which glycoprotein D sequences are replaced by β -galactosidase sequences binds to but is unable to penetrate into cells. J. Virol. 62:1486-1494.

Linskens, M. H., J. Feng, W. H. Andrews, B. E. Enlow, S. M. Saati, L. A. Tonkin, W. D. Funk and B. Villeponteau (1995). Cataloging altered gene expression in young and senescent cells using enhanced differential display. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:3244-3251.

Little, S. P., J. T. Jofre, R. J. Courtney and P. A. Schaffer (1981). A virion-associated glycoprotein essential for infectivity of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Virol.* 115:149-160.

Littman, D. R. (1987). The structure and function of the CD4 and CD8 genes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 5:561-584.

Liu, T., Q. Tang and R. L. Hendricks (1996). Inflammatory infiltration of the trigeminal ganglion after herpes simplex virus type 1 corneal infection. J. Virol. 70:264-271.

Lodmell, D. L., A. Niwa, K. Hayashi and A. Louis Notkins (1973). Prevention of cell-tocell spread of herpes simplex virus by leukocytes. J. Exp. Med. 137:706-720.

Longnecker, R. and B. Roizman (1986). Generation of an inverting herpes simplex virus 1 mutant lacking the L-S junction a sequences, an origin of DNA synthesis, and several genes including those specifying glycoprotein E and the a47 gene. J. Virol. 58:583-591.

Lopez, C. (1975). Genetics of natural resistance to herpesvirus infections in mice. *Nature* **258**:152-153.

Lopez, C. (1980). Resistance to HSV-1 is governed by two major, independantly segregating non H-2 loci. *Immunogenet*. 11:87-92.

Lopez, C., D. Kirkpatrick, S. E. Read, P. A. Fitzgerald, J. Pitt, S. Pahwa, C. Y. Ching and E. M. Smithwick (1983). Correlation between low natural killing of fibroblasts infected with herpes simplex virus type 1 and susceptability to herpesvirus infections. J. Infect. Dis. 147:1030-1035.

Lopez, C., R. Ryshke and M. Bennett (1980). Marrow-dependent cells depleted by ⁸⁹Sr mediate genetic resistance to herpes simplex virus type 1 infection in mice. *Infect. Immun.* **28**:1028-1032.

Lust, J. A., V. Kumar, R. C. Burton, S. P. Bartlett and M. Bennett (1981). Heterogeneity of natural killer cells in the mouse. J. Exp. Med. 154:306-317. Luyet, F., D. Samra, A. Soneji and M. I. Marks (1975). Passive immunization in experimental *herpesvirus hominis* infection of newborn mice. *Infect. Immun.* 12:1258-1261.

Lycke, E., K. Kristensson, B. Svennerholm, A. Vahlne and R. Ziegler (1984). Uptake and transport of herpes simplex virus in neurites of rat dorsal root ganglia cells in culture. *J. Gen. Virol.* 65:55-64.

Madden, D. R., J. C. Gorga, J. L. Strominger and D. C. Wiley (1991). The structure of HLA-B27 reveals nonamer self-peptides bound in an extended conformation. *Nature* **353**:321-325.

Maeda, Y., M. Matsumoto, O. Hori, K. Kuwabara, S. Ogawa, S. D. Yan, T. Ohtsuki, T. Kinoshita, T. Kamada and D. M. Stern (1994). Hypoxia/reoxygenation-mediated induction of astrocyte interleukin 6: a paracrine mechanism potentially enhancing neuron survival. J. Exp. Med. 180:2297-2308.

Malnati, M. S., M. Marti, T. LaVaute, D. Jaraquemada, W. Biddison, R. DeMars and E. O. Long (1992). Processing pathways for presentation of cytosolic antigen to MHC class II-restricted T cells. *Nature* 357:702-704.

Manickan, E., M. Francotte, N. Kuklin, M. Dewerchin, C. Molitor, D. Gheysen, M. Slaoui and B. T. Rouse (1995a). Vaccination with recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing ICP27 induces protective immunity against herpes simplex virus through CD4⁺ Th1⁺ T cells. J. Virol. **69**:4711-4716.

Manickan, E. and B. T. Rouse (1995). Roles of different T-cell subsets in control of herpes simplex virus infection determined by using T-cell-deficient mouse-models. J. Virol. 69:8178-8179.

Manickan, E., R. J. Rouse, Z. Yu, W. S. Wire and B. T. Rouse (1995b). Genetic immunization against herpes simplex virus. Protection is mediated by CD4+ T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 155:259-265.

Marrack, P., R. Endres, R. Schimonkevitz, A. Zlotnik, D. Dialynas, F. Fitch and J. Kappler (1983). The major histocompatibity complex-restricted antigen receptor on T cells. II. Role of the L3T4 product. *J. Exp. Med.* **158**:1077-1091.

Marrack, P. and J. Kappler (1987). The T cell receptor. Science 238:1073-1079.

Martin, S., E. Cantin and B. T. Rouse (1989). Evaluation of antiviral immunity using vaccinia virus recombinants expressing cloned genes for hepres simplex type 1 glycoproteins. J. Gen. Virol. 70:1359-1370.

Martin, S., C. M. Mercadal, J. P. Weir and B. T. Rouse (1993). The proportion of herpes simplex virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (Tc) that recognize glycoprotein C varies between individual mice and is dependent on the form of immunization. *Viral Immunol.* **6**:21-33.

Martin, S., B. Moss, P. W. Berman, L. A. Laskey and B. T. Rouse (1987). Mechanisms of antiviral immunity induced by a vaccinia virus recombinant expressing herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein D: cytotoxic T cells. *J. Virol.* **61**:726-734.

Martin, S., X. Zhu, S. J. Silverstein, R. J. Courtney, F. Yao, F. J. Jenkins and B. T. Rouse (1990). Murine cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for herpes simplex virus type 1 recognize the immediate early protein ICP4 but not ICP0. J. Gen. Virol. 71:2391-2399.

Martinez, R., R. T. Sarisky, P. C. Weber and S. K. Weller (1996). Herpes simplex virus type 1 alkaline nuclease is required for efficient processing of viral DNA replication intermediates. J. Virol. 70:2075-2085.

Martz, E. and S. R. Gamble (1992). How do CTL control virus infections? Evidence for prelytic halt of herpes simplex. *Viral Immunol.* **5**:77-87.

McClelland, M., F. Mathieu Daude and J. Welsh (1995). RNA fingerprinting and differential display using arbitrarily primed PCR. *Trends Genet.* 11:242-246.

McGeoch, D. J., M. A. Dalrymple, A. J. Davison, A. Dolan, M. C. Frame, D. McNab, L. J. Perry, J. E. Scott and P. Taylor (1988). The complete DNA sequence of the long unique region in the genome of herpes simplex type 1. J. Gen. Virol. 69:1531-1574.

McGeoch, D. J., A. Dolan, S. Donald and D. H. K. Brauer (1986). Complete DNA sequence of the short repeat region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14:1727-1745.

McGeoch, D. J., A. Dolan, S. Donald and F. J. Rixon (1985). Sequence determination and genetic content of the short unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Mol. Biol. 181:1-13.

McGeoch, D. J. and P. A. Schaffer (1993). Herpes simplex virus. In *Genetic Maps: locus* maps of complex genomes, Sixth Edn., O'Brien, S. J., Ed. Plainview, NY, Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press. 1.147-141.156.

McKendall, R. R., T. Klassen and J. R. Baringer (1979). IgG-mediated viral clearance in experimental infection with herpes simplex virus type 1: role for neutralization and Fc dependent functions but not C1 cytoloysis and C5 chemotaxis. J. Infect. Dis. 151:464-470.

Mehta, A., J. Maggioncalda, O. Bagasra, S. Thikkavarapu, P. Saikumari, T. Valyi Nagy, N. W. Fraser and T. M. Block (1995). In situ DNA PCR and RNA hybridization detection of herpes simplex virus sequences in trigeminal ganglia of latently infected mice. *Virol.* **206**:633-640.

Meinkoth, J. and G. Wahl (1984). Hybridization of nucleic acids immobilized on solid supports. *Anal. Biochem.* 138:267-284.

Mellerick, D. M. and N. W. Fraser (1987). Physical state of the latent herpes simplex virus genome in a mouse model system: evidence suggesting an episomal state. *Virol.* 158:265-275.

Menco, B. P., R. C. Bruch, B. Dau and W. Danho (1992). Ultrastructural localization of olfactory transduction components: the G protein subunit Golf alpha and type III adenylyl cyclase. *Neuron* 8:441-453.

Menco, B. P., F. D. Tekula, A. I. Farbman and W. Danho (1994). Developmental expression of G-proteins and adenylyl cyclase in peripheral olfactory systems. Light microscopic and freeze-substitution electron microscopic immunocytochemistry. J. Neurocytol. 23:708-727.

Mercadal, C. M., S. Martin and B. T. Rouse (1991). Apparent requirement for CD4⁺T cells in primary anti-herpes simplex virus cytotoxic T-lymphocyte induction can be overcome by optimal antigen presentation. *Viral Immunol.* **4**:177-186.

Mercadal, C. M., M. Slaoui, S. M. Brown and B. T. Rouse (1993). Efficacy of the herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 mutant viruses to confer protection against zosteriform spread in mice. *Viral Immunol.* 6:35-42.

Merigan, T. C. and D. A. Stevens (1971). Viral infections in man associated with acquired immunological deficiency states. *Fed. Proc.* **30**:1858-1864.

Mertz, G. J. (1993). Epidemiology of genital herpes infections. Infect. Dis. Clin. North. Am. 7:825-839.

Mertz, G. J., J. Benedetti, R. Ashley, S. A. Selke and L. Corey (1992). Risk factors for the sexual transmission of genital herpes. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **116**:197-202.

Minato, N., L. Reid and B. R. Bloom (1981). On the heterogeneity of murine natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 154:750-762.

Mishkin, E. M., M. Blasiak, D. Giorgio and S. T. Ishizaka (1992). Effects of in vivo depletion of immunocyte populations on herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D vaccine-induced resistance to HSV2 challenge. *Viral Immunol.* **5**:151-161.

Missotten, L. (1994). Immunology and herpetic keratitis. Eye 8:12-21.

Mocarski, E. S., L. E. Post and B. Roizman (1980). Molecular engineering of the herpes simplex virus genome: insertion of a second L-S junction into the genome causes additional inversions. *Cell* 22:243-255.

Mocarski, E. S. and B. Roizman (1982). Herpes virus dependent amplification and inversion of cell associated viral thymidine kinase gene flanked by viral *a* sequences and linked to an origin of viral DNA replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **79**:5626-5630.

Mok, C. H. (1971). Zoster-like disease in infants and young children. N. Engl. J. Med. 285:294.

Morahan, P. S., W. L. Dempsey, A. Volkman and J. Conner (1986). Antimicrobial activity of various immunomodulators: Independence from normal levels of circulating monocytes and natural killer cells. *Infect. Immun.* **51**:87-93.

Morgan, C., H. M. Rose and B. Mednis (1968). Electron microscopy of herpes simplex virus. J. Virol. 2:507-516.

Mosig, G. (1987). The essential role of recombination in phage T4 growth. Ann. Rev. Genet. 21:347-371.

Moskophidis, D., K. Frei, J. Lohler, A. Fontana and R. M. Zinkernagel (1991). Production of random classes of immunoglobulins in brain tissue during persistent viral infection paralleled by secretion of interleukin-6 (IL-6) but not IL-4, IL-5, and gamma interferon. J. Virol. 65:1364-1369.

Mosmann, T. R., H. Cherwinski, M. W. Bond, M. A. Giedlin and R. L. Coffman (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J. Immunol.* **136**:2348-2357.

Mosmann, T. R. and R. L. Coffman (1989). TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Ann. Rev. Immunol.* 7:145-173.

Mou, L., H. Miller, J. Li, E. Wang and L. Chalifour (1994). Improvements to the differential display method for gene analysis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 199:564-569.

Murphy, P. G., J. Grondin, M. Altares and P. M. Richardson (1995). Induction of interleukin-6 in axotomized sensory neurons. J. Neurosci. 15:5130-5138.

Murray, J. S., J. Madri, J. Tite, S. R. Carding and K. Bottomly (1989). MHC control of CD4⁺ T cell subset activation. *J. Exp. Med.* **170**:2135-2140.

Music, S. I., E. M. Fine and Y. Togo (1971). Zoster-like disease in the newborn due to herpes-simplex virus. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **284**:24-26.

Nagafuchi, S., I. Hayashida, K. Higa, T. Wada and R. Mori (1982). Role of Lyt-1 positive immune cells in recovery from herpes simplex infection in mice. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 26:359-362.

Nagafuchi, S., H. Oda, R. Mori and T. Taniguchi (1979). Mechanism of acquired resistance to herpes simplex virus infection as studied in nude mice. *J. Gen. Virol.* 44:715-723.

Nakauchi, H., M. Tagawa, G. P. Nolan and L. A. Herzenberg (1987). Isolation and characterization of the gene for the murine T cell differentiation antigen and immunoglobulin-related molecule, Lyt-2. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **15**:4337-4347.

Naraqi, S., G. G. Jackson, O. Jonasson and H. M. Yamashiroya (1977). Prospective study of prevalence, incidence, and source of herpesvirus infections in patients with renal allografts. *J. Infect. Dis.* **136**:531-540.

Nash, A. A., H. J. Field and R. Quartey-Papafio (1980a). Cell-mediated immunity in herpes simplex virus-infected mice: Induction, characterization and antiviral effects of delayed type hypersensitivity. J. Gen. Virol. 48:351-357.

Nash, A. A. and P. G. H. Gell (1983). Membrane phenotype of murine suppressor T cells involved in delayed hypersensitivity and protective immunity to herpes simplex virus. *Cell. Immunol.* **75**:348-355.

Nash, A. A., A. Jayasuriya, J. Phelan, S. P. Cobbold, H. Waldmann and T. Prospero (1987). Different roles for L3T4⁺ and Lyt 2⁺ T cell subsets in the control of an acute herpes simplex virus infection of the skin and nervous system. J. Gen. Virol. **68**:825-833.

Nash, A. A., J. Phelan, P. G. H. Gell and P. Wildy (1981a). Tolerance and immunity in mice infected with herpes simplex virus: studies on the mechanism of tolerance to delayed-type hypersensitivity. *Immunol.* 43:363-369.

Nash, A. A., J. Phelan and P. Wildy (1981b). Cell-mediated immunity in herpes simplex virus-infected mice: H-2 mapping af the delayed hypersensitivity and the antiviral T cell response. *J. Immunol.* **126**:1260-1262.

Nash, A. A., R. Quartey-Papafio and P. Wildy (1980b). Cell mediated immunity in herpes simplex virus-infected mice: functional analysis of lymph node cells during periods of acute and latent infection, with reference to cytotoxic and memory cells. J. Gen. Virol. **49**:309-317.

Neer, E. J. (1995). Heterotrimeric G proteins: organizers of transmembrane signals. *Cell* 80:249-257.

Nesburn, A. B., J. M. Elliott and H. M. Liebowitz (1967). Spontaneous reactivation of experimental herpes simplex keratitis in rabbits. *Arch. Ophthalmol.* **78**:523-529.

Nesburn, A. B., M. T. Green, M. Radnoti and B. Walker (1977). Reliable *in vivo* model for latent herpes simplex virus reactivation with peripheral virus shedding. *Infect. Immun.* 15:772-775.

Newcomb, W. W. and J. C. Brown (1989). Use of Ar⁺ plasma etching to localize structural proteins in the capsid of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol. **63**:4697-4702.

Newcomb, W. W., F. L. Homa, D. R. Thomsen, Z. Ye and J. C. Brown (1994). Cell-free assembly of the herpes simplex virus capsid. J. Virol. 68:6059-6063.

Nguyen, L., D. M. Knipe and R. W. Finberg (1994). Mechanism of virus-induced Ig subclass shifts. J. Immunol. 152:478-484.

Niemialtowski, M. G., V. L. Godfrey and B. T. Rouse (1994). Quantitative studies on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses against herpes simplex virus type 1 in normal and β 2-m deficient mice. *Immunobiol.* **190**:183-194.

Niemialtowski, M. G. and B. T. Rouse (1992). Predominance of Th1 cells in ocular tissues during herpetic stromal keratitis. J. Immunol. 149:3035-3039.

Nii, S., C. Morgan and H. M. Rose (1968). Electon microscopy of herpes simplex virus. II. Sequence of development. J. Virol. 2:1172-1184.

Nishioka, Y. and S. Silverstein (1977). Degradation of cellular mRNA during infection by herpes simplex virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74:2370-2374.

Notkins, A. L. (1974). Immune mechanism by which the spread of viral infection is stopped. *Cell. Immunol.* 11:478-483.

Nugent, C. T., J. M. McNally, R. Chervenak, R. M. Wolcott and S. R. Jennings (1995). Differences in the recognition of CTL epitopes during primary and secondary responses to herpes simplex virus infection in vivo. *Cell. Immunol.* **165**:55-64.

Nugent, C. T., R. M. Wolcott, R. Chervenak and S. R. Jennings (1994). Analysis of the cytolytic T-lymphocyte response to herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein B during primary and secondary infection. J. Virol. 68:7644-7648.

Oakes, J. E. (1975). Role for cell-mediated immunity in the resistance of mice to subcutaneous herpes simplex virus infection. *Infect. Immun.* 12:166-172.

Oakes, J. E. and R. N. Lausch (1981). Role of Fc fragments in antibody-mediated recovery from ocular and subcutaneous herpes simplex virus infection. *Infect. Immun.* 33:109-114.

Oakes, J. E. and R. N. Lausch (1984). Monoclonal antibodies suppress replication of herpes simplex virus type 1 in trigeminal ganglia. J. Virol. 51:656-661.

Oakes, J. E. and H. Rosemond-Hornbeak (1978). Antibody-mediated recovery from subcutaneous herpes simplex virus type 2 infection. *Infect. Immun.* **21**:489-495.

O'Hare, P. (1993). The virion transactivator of Herpes Simplex virus. Sem. Virol. 4:145-155.

O'Hare, P. and C. R. Goding (1988). Herpes simplex virus regulatory elements and the immunoglobulin octamer domain bind a common factor and are both targets for virion transactivation. *Cell* **52**:435-445.

Openshaw, H., L. V. Shavrina Asher, C. Wohlenberg, T. Sekizawa and A. L. Notkins (1979). Acute and latent infection of sensory ganglia with herpes simplex virus: immune control and virus reactivation. *J. Gen. Virol.* **44**:205-215.

Oxenius, A., M. F. Bachmann, P. G. Ashton Rickardt, S. Tonegawa, R. M. Zinkernagel and H. Hengartner (1995). Presentation of endogenous viral proteins in association with major histocompatibility complex class II: on the role of intracellular compartmentalization, invariant chain and the TAP transporter system. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **25**:3402-3411.

Pannese, E. (1981). The Satellite cells of spinal ganglia, Berlin, Springer-Verlag.

Pannese, E., R. Bianchi, B. Calligaris, R. Ventura and E. R. Weibel (1972). Quantitative relationships between nerve and satellite cells in spinal ganglia. An electron microscope study. I. Mammals. *Brain Res.* 46:215-234.

Pass, R. F., R. J. Whitley, J. D. Welchel, A. G. Diethelm, D. W. Reynolds and C. A. Alford (1979). Identification of patients with increased risk of infection with herpes simplex virus after renal transplantation. J. Infect. Dis. 140:487-492.

Pattengale, P. K., R. W. Smith and P. Gerber (1973). Selective transformation of B lymphocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. *Lancet* 2:93-94.

Paul, W. E. and R. A. Seder (1994). Lymphocyte responses and cytokines. *Cell* 76:241-251.

Pavan-Langston, D. (1984). Ocular Viral Diseases. In Antiviral Agents and Diseases of Man, 2nd Edn., Galasso, G. J., T. C. Merigan and R. A. Buchanen, Eds. New York, Raven Press. 207-246.

Penfold, M. E., P. Armati and A. L. Cunningham (1994). Axonal transport of herpes simplex virions to epidermal cells: evidence for a specialized mode of virus transport and assembly. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**:6529-6533.

Pereira, R. A., D. C. Tscharke and A. Simmons (1994). Upregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex gene expression in primary sensory neurons, satellite cells, and Schwann cells of mice in response to acute but not latent herpes simplex virus infection in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **180**:841-850.

Perry, L. J. and D. J. McGeoch (1988). The DNA sequences of the long repeat region and adjoining parts of the long unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Gen. Virol.* **69**:2831-2846.

Pfeifer, J. D., M. J. Wick, R. L. Roberts, K. Findlay, S. J. Normark and C. V. Harding (1993). Phagocytic processing of bacterial antigens for class I MHC presentation to T cells. *Nature* **361**:359-362.

Pfizenmaier, K., H. Jung, A. Starzinski-Powitz, M. Röllinghoff and H. Wagner (1977a). The role of T cells in anti-herpes simplex virus immunity. I. Induction of antigen specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **119**:939-944.

Pfizenmaier, K., A. Starzinski-Powitz, M. Röllinghoff, D. Falke and H. Wagner (1977b). T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity against herpes simplex virus-infected target cells. *Nature* **265**:630-632.

Poffenberger, K. L. and B. Roizman (1985). Studies on non-inverting genome of a viable herpes simplex virus 1. Presence of head-to-tail linkages in packaged genomes and requirements for circularization after infection. *J. Virol.* **53**:589-595.

Polvino-Bodnar, M., P. K. Orberg and P. A. Schaffer (1987). Herpes simplex virus type 1 *ori*L is not required for virus replication or for the establishment and reactivation of latent infection in mice. *J. Virol.* **61**:3528-3535.

Posavad, C. M., D. M. Koelle and L. Corey (1996). High frequency of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte precursors specific for herpes simplex viruses in persons with genital herpes. *J. Virol.* **70**:8165-8168.

Preston, C. M. (1979a). Abnormal properties of an immediate early polypeptide in cells infected with the herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant *tsK. J. Virol.* **32**:357-369.

Preston, C. M. (1979b). Control of herpes simplex virus type 1 mRNA synthesis in cells infected with wild-type virus or the temperature-sensitive mutant *tsK. J. Virol.* **29**:275-284.

Price, R. W. and J. Schmitz (1978). Reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus infection of the autonomic nervous system by postganglionic neurectomy. *Infect. Immun.* 19:523-532.

Priola, S. A., D. P. Gustafson, E. K. Wagner and J. G. Stevens (1990). A major portion of the latent pseudorabies virus genome is transcribed in trigeminal ganglia of pigs. *J. Virol.* 64:4755-4760.

Pyrmowicz, D., R. N. Moore and B. T. Rouse (1985). Frequency of herpes simplex virusspecific helper T lymphocyte precursors in the lymph node cells of infected mice. *J. Immunol.* **134**:2683-2688.

Quinnan, G. V., H. Masur, A. H. Rook, G. Armstrong, W. R. Frederick, J. Epstein, M. S. Manischewitz, A. M. Mecher, L. Jackson, J. Ames, H. A. Smith, M. Parker, G. R. Pearson, J. Panillo, C. Mitchell and S. E. Strauss (1984). Herpesvirus infections in the aquired immune deficiency syndrome. *JAMA* 252:72-77.

Rader, K. A., C. E. Ackland Berglund, J. K. Miller, J. S. Pepose and D. A. Leib (1993). In vivo characterization of site-directed mutations in the promoter of the herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcripts. J. Gen. Virol. 74:1859-1869. Rager-Zisman, B. and A. C. Allison (1976). Mechanism of immunologic resistance to herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) infection. J. Immunol. 116:35-40.

Rager-Zisman, B., P. C. Quan, M. Rosner, J. R. Moller and B. R. Bloom (1987). Role of NK cells in protection of mice against herpes simplex virus-1 infection. *J. Immunol.* **138**:883-884.

Ramakrishnan, R., M. Levine and D. J. Fink (1994). PCR-based analysis of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency in the rat trigeminal ganglion established with a ribonucleotide reductase-deficient mutant. J. Virol. 68:7083-7091.

Rattray, M. C., L. Corey, W. C. Reeves, L. A. Vontver and K. K. Holmes (1978). Recurrent genital herpes among women: symptomatic versus asymptomatic viral shedding. *Brit. J. Vener. Dis.* 54:252.

Read, G. S. and N. Frenkel (1983). Herpes simplex virus mutants in the virion associated shut-off of host polypeptide synthesis and exhibiting abnormal synthesis of α (immediate early) viral polypeptides. *J. Virol.* **46**:498-512.

Rector, J. T., R. N. Lausch and J. E. Oakes (1982). Use of monoclonal antibodies for analysis of antibody-dependent immunity to herpes simplex virus type-1 infection. *Infect. Immun.* **38**:168-174.

Rixon, F. J. (1993). Structure and assembly of herpesviruses. Sem. Virol. 4:135-144.

Rixon, F. J., C. Addison and J. McLauchlan (1992). Assembly of enveloped tegument structures (L particles) can occur independently of virion maturation in herpes simplex virus type 1-infected cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* **73**:277-284.

Rock, D. L., S. L. Beam and J. E. Mayfield (1987). Mapping bovine herpesvirus type 1 latency-related RNA in trigeminal ganglia of latently infected rabbits. *J. Virol.* **61**:3827-3831.

Rock, D. L. and N. W. Fraser (1983). Detection of HSV-1 genome in central nervous system of latently infected mice. *Nature* **302**:523-525.

Rock, D. L. and N. W. Fraser (1985). Latent herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA contains two copies of the virion DNA joint region. J. Virol. 55:849-852.

Rock, D. L., W. A. Hagemoser, F. A. Osorio and H. A. McAllister (1988). Transcription from the pseudorabies virus genome during latent infection. *Arch. Virol.* **98**:99-106.

Rodriguez, A., M. Sainz De La Maza, J. Missry and C. S. Foster (1991). The role of cyclic nucleotide mediators in latency and reactivation of HSV-1 infected neuroblastoma cells. *Eye* **5**:627-635.

Rodriguez, M., K. D. Pavelko, C. W. McKinney and J. L. Leibowitz (1994). Recombinant human IL-6 suppresses demyelination in a viral model of multiple sclerosis. *J. Immunol.* 153:3811-3821.

Roizman, B. (1996). Herpesviridae. In *Fields Virology*, Third Edn., Fields, B. N., D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley, Eds. Philadelphia, Lippincott - Raven Publishers. 2:2221-2230.

Roizman, B., R. C. Desrosiers, B. Fleckenstein, C. Lopez, A. C. Minson and M. J. Studdert (1995). Family Herpesviridae. *Arch. Virol. Suppl.* 10:114-127.

Roizman, B. and A. E. Sears (1987). An inquiry into the mechanisms of herpes simplex virus latency. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 41:543-571.

Roizman, B. and A. E. Sears (1996). Herpes simplex viruses and their replication. In *Fields Virology,* Third Edn., Fields, B. N., D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley, Eds. Philadelphia, Lippincott - Raven Publishers. **2**:2231-2295.

Romero, P., G. Corradin, I. F. Luescher and J. L. Maryanski (1991). H-2K^d-restricted antigenic peptides share a simple binding motif. *J. Exp. Med.* **174**:603-612.

Rosenthal, K. L., J. R. Smiley, S. South and D. C. Johnson (1987). Cells expressing herpes simplex virus glycoprotein gC but not gB, gD or gE are recognized by murine virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Virol. 61:2438-2447.

Rossol Voth, R., S. Rossol, K. H. Schutt, S. Corridori, W. de Cian and D. Falke (1991). In vivo protective effect of tumour necrosis factor alpha against experimental infection with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol. 72:143-147.

Rouse, B. T., H. S. Larson and H. Wagner (1983). Frequency of cytotoxic T lymphocyte precursors to herpes simplex virus type 1 as determined by limiting dilution analysis. *Infect. Immun.* **39**:785-792.

Rouse, R. J., S. K. Nair, S. L. Lydy, J. C. Bowen and B. T. Rouse (1994). Induction in vitro of primary cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses with DNA encoding herpes simplex virus proteins. *J. Virol.* **68**:5685-5689.

Rubio, N. and A. Sierra (1993). Interleukin-6 production by brain tissue and cultured astrocytes infected with Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus. *Glia* 9:41-47.

Ruby, J., H. Bluethmann, M. Aguet and I. A. Ramshaw (1995). CD40 ligand has potent antiviral activity. *Nature Med.* 1:437-441.

Russell, W. C. (1962). A sensitive and precise assay for herpes virus. *Nature* **195**:1028-1029.

Sabbaga, E. M. H., D. Pavan-Langston, K. M. Bean and E. C. Dunkel (1988). Detection of HSV nucleic acid sequences in the cornea during acute and latent ocular disease. *Exp. Eye Res.* 47:545-553.

Sacks, W. R., C. C. Greene, D. P. Aschman and P. A. Schaffer (1985). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 is an essential regulatory protein. *J. Virol.* **55**:796-805.

Sacks, W. R. and P. A. Schaffer (1987). Deletion mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 exhibit impaired growth in cell culture. *J. Virol.* **61**:829-839.

Sainz de la Maza, W., P. A. Wells and C. S. Foster (1989). Cyclic nucleotide modulation of herpes simplex virus latency and reactivation. *Invest. Opthalmol.Vis. Sci.* 30:2154-2159.

Salvucci, L. A., R. H. Bonneau and S. S. Tevethia (1995). Polymorphism within the herpes simplex virus (HSV) ribonucleotide reductase large subunit (ICP6) confers type specificity for recognition by HSV type 1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Virol. 69:1122-1131.

Sambrook, J., E. F. Fritsch and T. Maniatis (1989). *Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual*, 2nd edn., Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Sanchez Pescador, L., L. Pereira, E. D. Charlebois and S. Kohl (1993). Antibodies to epitopes of herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein B (gB) in human sera: analysis of functional gB epitopes defined by inhibition of murine monoclonal antibodies. J. Infect. Dis. 168:844-853.

Sanger, F., S. Nicklen and A. R. Coulson (1977). DNA sequencing with chain terminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74:5463-5467.

Sanna, P. P., R. A. Williamson, A. De Logu, F. E. Bloom and D. R. Burton (1995). Directed selection of recombinant human monoclonal antibodies to herpes simplex virus glycoproteins from phage display libraries. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**:6439-6443.

Sarmiento, M., M. Haffey and P. G. Spear (1979). Membrane proteins specified by herpes simplex viruses. III. Role of glycoprotein VP7 (B2) in virion infectivity. J. Virol. **29**:1149-1158.

Sawtell, N. M. and R. L. Thompson (1992). Rapid in vivo reactivation of herpes simplex virus in latently infected murine ganglionic neurons after transient hyperthermia. *J. Virol.* **66**:2150-2156.

Schaeffer, H. J., L. Beauchamp, P. de Miranda, G. B. Elion, D. J. Bauer and P. Collins (1978). 9-(2-hydroxyethoxymethyl)guanine activity against viruses of the herpes group. *Nature* 272:583-585.

Schmid, D. S. (1988). The human MHC-restricted cellular response to herpes simplex virus type 1 is mediated by CD4⁺, CD8⁻ T cells and is restricted to the DR region of the MHC complex. *J. Immunol.* 140:3610-3616.

Schmid, D. S. and B. T. Rouse (1992). The role of T cell immunity in control of herpes simplex virus. *Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol.* 179:57-74.

Schmidt, J. R. and A. F. Rasmussen (1960). Activation of latent herpes simplex encephalitis by chemical means. J. Infect. Dis. 106:154-158.

Schneider Schaulies, S., U. G. Liebert, Y. Segev, B. Rager Zisman, M. Wolfson and V. ter Meulen (1992). Antibody-dependent transcriptional regulation of measles virus in persistently infected neural cells. J. Virol. 66:5534-5541.

Schneweis, K. E. (1962). Serologische untersuchungen zur typendiferenzierung des herpesvirus hominis. Zeitung Immuno-Forsch 124:24-28.

Schrier, R. D., L. I. Pizer and J. W. Moorhead (1983). Type-specific delayed type hypersensitivity and protective immunity induced by isolated herpes simplex glycoprotein. *J. Immunol.* **130**:1413-1418.

Schwartz, J. and B. Roizman (1969). Concerning the egress of herpes simplex virus infected cells: electron and light microscope observations. *Virol.* **38**:42-49.

Scriba, M. (1975). Herpes simplex virus infection in guinea pigs: an animal model for studying latent and recurrent herpes simplex virus infection. *Infect. Immun.* 12:162-165.

Scriba, M. (1977). Extraneural localisation of herpes simplex virus in latently infected guinea pigs. *Nature* 267:529-531.

Seder, R. A., W. E. Paul, M. M. Davis and B. Fazekas de St. Groth (1992). The presence of interleukin 4 during in vitro priming determines the lymphokine-producing potential of CD4+ T cells from T cell receptor transgenic mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **176**:1091-1098.

Sethi, K. K., Y. Omata and K. E. Schneweis (1983). Protection of mice from fatal herpes simplex virus type 1 infection by adoptive transfer of cloned virus-specific and H-2 restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Gen. Virol. 64:443-447.

Sethi, K. K., I. Stroehmann and H. Brandis (1980). Human T-cell cultures from virussensitized donors can mediate virus-specific and HLA-restricted cell lysis. *Nature* 286:718-720.

Severini, A., D. G. Scraba and D. L. Tyrrell (1996). Branched structures in the intracellular DNA of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol. 70:3169-3175.

Shankar, V., M. Kao, A. N. Hamir, H. Sheng, H. Koprowski and B. Dietzschold (1992). Kinetics of virus spread and changes in levels of several cytokine mRNAs in the brain after intranasal infection of rats with Borna disease virus. J. Virol. 66:992-998.

Sharma, D. P., A. J. Ramsay, D. J. Maguire, M. S. Rolph and I. A. Ramshaw (1996). Interleukin-4 mediates down regulation of antiviral cytokine expression and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and exacerbates vaccinia virus infection in vivo. *J. Virol.* **70**:7103-7107.

Sheldrick, P. and N. Berthelot (1974). Inverted repetitions in the chromosome of herpes simplex virus. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposium on Quantitative Biology* **39**:667-678.

Shevach, E. M. and A. S. Rosenthal (1973). Function of macrophages in antigen recognition by guinea pig T lymphocytes. I. Requirement of histocompatible macrophages and lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 138:1194-1212.

Shieh, M. T., D. WuDunn, R. I. Montgomery, J. D. Esko and P. G. Spear (1992). Cell surface receptors for herpes simplex virus are heparan sulphate proteoglycans. *J. Cell Biol.* **116**:1273-1281.

Shimeld, C., J. L. Whiteland, S. M. Nicholls, E. Grinfeld, D. L. Easty, H. Gao and T. J. Hill (1995). Immune cell infiltration and persistence in the mouse trigeminal ganglion after infection of the cornea with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Neuroimmunol. 61:7-16.

Shinohara, N. (1992). Cytotoxicity, assays for. In *Encyclopedia of Immunology*, Roitt, I. M. and P. J. Delves, Eds. London, Academic Press. 1:451.

Siegal, F. P., C. Lopez, G. S. Hammer, A. E. Brown, S. J. Kornfeld, J. Gold, J. Hassett,
S. Z. Hirschman, C. Cunningham-Rundles, B. R. Adelsberg, D. M. Parham, M. Siegal,
S. Cunningham-Rundles and D. Armstrong (1981). Severe acquired immunodeficiency
in male homosexuals, manifested by chronic perianal ulcerative herpes simplex lesions. N.
Engl. J. Med. 305:1439-1444.

Simmons, A. (1989). H-2-linked genes influence the severity of herpes simplex virus infection of the peripheral nervous system. J. Exp. Med. 169:1503-1507.

Simmons, A., R. J. Bowden and B. Slobedman (1996). Retention of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences in the nuclei of mouse footpad keratinocytes after recovery from primary infection. *J. Gen. Virol.* in press.

Simmons, A. and A. B. La Vista (1989). Neural infection in mice after cutaneous inoculation with HSV-1 is under complex host genetic control. *Virus Res.* 13:263-270.

Simmons, A. and A. A. Nash (1984). Zosteriform spread of herpes simplex virus as a model of recrudescence and its use to investigate the role of immune cells in prevention of recurrent disease. J. Virol. 52:816-821.

Simmons, A. and A. A. Nash (1985). Role of antibody in primary and recurrent herpes simplex virus infection. J. Virol. 53:944-948.

Simmons, A. and A. A. Nash (1987). Effect of B cell suppression on primary infection and reinfection of mice with herpes simplex virus. J. Infect. Dis. 155:649-654.

Simmons, A., B. Slobedman, P. Speck, J. Arthur and S. Efstathiou (1992a). Two patterns of persistence of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences in the nervous systems of latently infected mice. J. Gen. Virol. 73:1287-1291.

Simmons, A., D. Tscharke and P. Speck (1992b). The role of immune mechanisms in control of herpes simplex virus infection of the peripheral nervous system. *Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol.* **179**:31-56.

Simmons, A. and D. C. Tscharke (1992). Anti-CD8 impairs clearance of herpes simplex virus from the nervous system: implications for the fate of virally infected neurons. *J. Exp. Med.* **175**:1337-1344.

Simon, M. I., M. P. Strathmann and N. Gautam (1991). Diversity of G proteins in signal transduction. *Science* 252:802-808.

Slobedman, B., S. Efstathiou and A. Simmons (1994). Quantitative analysis of herpes simplex virus DNA and transcriptional activity in ganglia of mice latently infected with wild-type and thymidine kinase-deficient viral strains. J. Gen. Virol. 75:2469-2474.

Smiley, J. R., J. R. Fong and W. C. Leung (1981). Construction of a double- jointed herpes simplex viral DNA molecule: inverted repeats are required for segment inversion and direct repeats promote deletions. *Virol.* **113**:345-362.

Smith, P. M., R. M. Wolcott, R. Chervenak and S. R. Jennings (1994). Control of acute cutaneous herpes simplex virus infection: T cell-mediated viral clearance is dependent upon interferon- γ (IFN- γ). *Virol.* **202**:76-88.

Sobel, R. A., A. B. Collins, R. B. Colvin and A. K. Bhan (1986). The *in situ* immune response in acute herpes simplex encephalitits. *Am. J. Pathol.* **125**:332-338.

Sompayrac, L., S. Jane, T. L. Burn, D. G. Tenen and K. J. Danna (1995). Overcoming limitations of the mRNA differential display technique. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:4738-4739.

Spear, P. G. (1993). Entry of alphaherpesviruses into cells. Sem. Virol. 4:167-180.

Speck, P. G. and A. Simmons (1991). Divergent molecular pathways of productive and latent infection with a virulent strain of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol. 65:4001-4005.

Speck, P. G. and A. Simmons (1992). Synchronous appearance of antigen-positive and latently infected neurons in spinal ganglia of mice infected with a virulent strain of herpes simplex virus. *J. Gen. Virol.* **73**:1281-1285.

Spivack, J. G. and N. W. Fraser (1987). Detection of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts during latent infection in mice. J. Virol. 61:3841-3847.

Spivack, J. G., G. M. Woods and N. W. Fraser (1991). Identification of a novel latencyspecific splice donor signal within the herpes simplex virus type 1 2.0 kilobase latencyassociated transcript (LAT): translation inhibition of LAT open reading frames by the intron within the 2.0 kilobase LAT. J. Virol. 65:6800-6810.

Staats, H. F., J. E. Oakes and R. N. Lausch (1991). Anti-glycoprotein D monoclonal antibody protects against herpes simplex virus type 1-induced diseases in mice functionally depleted of selected T-cell subsets or asialo GM1+ cells. J. Virol. 65:6008-6014.

Stackpole, C. W. (1969). Herpes-type virus of the frog renal adenocarcinoma. I. Virus development in tumour transplants maintained at low temperature. J. Virol. 4:75-93.

Stagno, H. and R. J. Whitley (1985). Herpesvirus infections of pregnancy. N. Engl. J. Med. 313:1327-1330.

Stanberry, L. R. (1992). Pathogenesis of herpes simplex virus infection and animal models for its study. *Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol.* **179**:15-30.

Stanberry, L. R., E. R. Kern, J. T. Richards, T. M. Abbott and J. C. J. Overall (1982). Genital herpes in guinea pigs: pathogenesis of the primary infection and description of recurrent disease. J. Infect. Dis. 146:397-404.

Stannard, L. M., O. Fuller and P. G. Spear (1987). Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins associated with different morphological entities projecting from the virion envelope. *J. Gen. Virol.* 68:715-725.

Steiner, I., J. G. Spivack, S. L. Deshmane, C. I. Ace, C. M. Preston and N. W. Fraser (1990). A herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a nontransinducing Vmw65 protein establishes latent infection in vivo in the absence of viral replication and reactivates efficiently from explanted trigeminal ganglia. J. Virol. 64:1630-1638.

Steiner, I., J. G. Spivack, R. P. Lirette, S. M. Brown, A. R. MacLean, J. H. Subak-Sharpe and N. W. Fraser (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcripts are evidently not essential for latent infection. *EMBO J.* 8:505-511.

Stern, S., M. Tananka and W. Herr (1989). The Oct-1 homeodomain directs formation of a multiprotein-DNA complex with the HSV transactivator VP16. *Nature* **341**:624-630.

Stevens, J. G. (1989). Human herpesviruses: a consideration of the latent state. *Microb*. *Rev.* 53:318-332.

Stevens, J. G. and M. L. Cook (1971). Latent herpes simplex virus in spinal ganglia of mice. *Science* 173:843-845.

Stevens, J. G., E. K. Wagner, G. B. Devi-Rao, M. L. Cook and L. T. Feldman (1987). RNA complementary to a herpesvirus α gene mRNA is prominent in latently infected neurons. *Science* 235:1056-1059.

Stohlman, S. A., S. Kyuwa, J. M. Polo, D. Brady, M. M. Lai and C. C. Bergmann (1993). Characterization of mouse hepatitis virus-specific cytotoxic T cells derived from the central nervous system of mice infected with the JHM strain. *J. Virol.* **67**:7050-7059.

Stoker, M. G. P. (1958). Mode of intercellular transfer of herpes virus. *Nature* 182:1525-1526.

Strathmann, M., T. M. Wilkie and M. I. Simon (1989). Diversity of the G-protein family: sequences from five additional alpha subunits in the mouse. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:7407-7409.

Straub, P., I. Domke, H. Kirchner, H. Jacobsen and A. Panet (1986). Synthesis of herpes simplex virus proteins and nucleic acids in interferon-treated macrophages. *Virol.* **150**:411-418.

Sun, N., D. Grzybicki, R. F. Castro, S. Murphy and S. Perlman (1995). Activation of astrocytes in the spinal cord of mice chronically infected with a neurotropic coronavirus. *Virol.* **213**:482-493.

Sunday, M. E. (1995). Differential display RT-PCR for identifying novel gene expression in the lung. *Am. J. Physiol.* **269**:L273-284.

Swain, S. L. (1981). Significance of Lyt phenotypes: Lyt 2 antibodies block activities of T cells that recognize class I major histocompatibility complex antigens regardless of their function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **78**:7101-7105.

Swain, S. L. (1983). T cell subsets and the recognition of MHC class. *Immunol. Rev.* 74:129-142.

Tenser, R. B., R. L. Miller and F. Rapp (1979). Trigeminal ganglion infection by thymidine kinase negative mutants of herpes simplex virus. *Science* 205:915-917.

Thomsen, D. R., L. I. Roof and F. L. Homa (1994). Assembly of herpes simplex virus (HSV) intermediate capsids in insect cells infected with recombinant baculovirses expressing virion proteins. *J. Virol.* **68**:2442-2457.

Tigges, M. A., D. Koelle, K. Hartog, R. E. Sekulovich, L. Corey and R. L. Burke (1992). Human CD8⁺ herpes simplex virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte clones recognize diverse virion protein antigens. *J. Virol.* **66**:1622-1634.

Tognon, M., D. Furlong, A. J. Conley and B. Roizman (1981). Molecular genetics of a mutant defective in ability to form plaques at low temperatures and in a viral function which prevents accumulation of coreless capsids at nuclear pores late in infection. *J. Virol.* **40**:870-880.

Torpey III, D. J., M. D. Lindsley and C. R. Rinaldo Jr (1989). HLA-restricted lysis of herpes simplex virus-infected monocytes and macrophages mediated by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **142**:1325-1332.

Townsend, A. and H. Bodmer (1989). Antigen recognition by class I-restricted T lymphocytes. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 7:601-624.

Townsend, J. J. and J. R. Baringer (1978). Central nervous system susceptibility to herpes simplex infection. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 37:255-262.

Traianedes, K., D. M. Findlay, T. J. Martin and M. T. Gillespie (1995). Modulation of the signal recognition particle 54-kDa subunit (SRP54) in rat preosteoblasts by the extracellular matrix. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**:20891-20894.

Trousdale, M. D., I. Steiner, J. G. Spivack, S. L. Deshmane, S. M. Brown, A. R. MacLean, J. H. Subak Sharpe and N. W. Fraser (1991). In vivo and in vitro reactivation impairment of a herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcript variant in a rabbit eye model. J. Virol. 65:6989-6993.

Trowsdale, M., I. Steiner, J. G. Spivack, S. L. Deshmane, S. M. Brown, A. C. MacLean, J. Subak-Sharpe and N. W. Fraser (1991). Evidence that the herpes simplex virus type 1 latency associated transcripts play a role in reactivation of latent infections in vivo. J. Virol. 65:6989-6993.

Tullo, A. B., C. Shimeld, W. A. Blyth, T. J. Hill and D. L. Easty (1982). Spread of virus and distribution of latent infection following ocular herpes simplex in the non-immune and immune mouse. *J. Gen. Virol.* **63**:95-101.

Tumpey, T. M., S. H. Chen, J. E. Oakes and R. N. Lausch (1996). Neutrophil-mediated suppression of virus replication after herpes simplex virus type 1 infection of the murine cornea. J. Virol. 70:898-904.

Umehara, F., S. Izumo, A. T. Ronquillo, K. Matsumuro, E. Sato and M. Osame (1994). Cytokine expression in the spinal cord lesions in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 53:72-77.

Utans, U., P. Liang, L. R. Wyner, M. J. Karnovsky and M. E. Russell (1994). Chronic cardiac rejection: identification of five upregulated genes in transplanted hearts by differential mRNA display. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**:6463-6467.

Van Strijp, J. A., M. E. van der Tol, L. A. Miltenburg, K. P. Van Kessel and J. Verhoef (1991). Tumour necrosis factor triggers granulocytes to internalize complement-coated virus particles. *Immunol.* **73**:77-82.

Van Strijp, J. A. G., K. P. M. Van Kessel, L. A. M. Miltenburg, A. C. Fluit and J. Verhoef (1988). Attachment of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes to herpes simplex virus-infected fibroblasts mediated by antibody-independent complement activation. *J. Virol.* **62**:847-850.

Van Strijp, J. A. G., K. P. M. Van Kessel, A. C. van der Tol, A. C. Fluit, H. Snippe and J. Verhoef (1989). Complement mediated phogocytosis of herpes simplex virus by granulocytes. Binding or ingestion. J. Clin. Invest. 84:107-112. Varmuza, S. L. and J. R. Smiley (1985). Signals for site-specific cleavage of HSV DNA: maturation involves two separate cleavage events at sites distal to the recognition sequences. *Cell* **41**:793-802.

Vlazny, D., A. Kwong and N. Frenkel (1982). Site specific cleavage/packaging of herpes simplex virus DNA and the selective maturation of nucleocapsids containing full length viral DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **79**:1423-1427.

Vögeli Lange, R., N. Burckert, T. Boller and A. Wiemken (1996). Rapid selection and classification of positive clones generated by mRNA differential display. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 24:1385-1386.

Wadsworth, S., R. J. Jacob and B. Roizman (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. II. Size, composition and arrangement of inverted terminal repetitions. *J. Virol.* **15**:1487-1497.

Wagner, E. K., G. Devi-Rao, L. T. Feldman, A. T. Dobson, Y.-F. Zhang, W. M. Flanagan and J. G. Stevens (1988a). Physical characterization of the herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcript in neurons. J. Virol. 62:1194-1202.

Wagner, E. K., W. M. Flanagan, G. Devi-Rao, Y.-F. Zhang, J. M. Hill, K. P. Anderson and J. G. Stevens (1988b). The herpes simplex virus latency- associated transcript is spliced during the latent phase of infection. J. Virol. 62:4577-4585.

Wagner, E. K. and B. Roizman (1969). Ribonucleic acid synthesis in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Virol. 4:36-46.

Wald, A., J. Zeh, S. Selke, R. L. Ashley and L. Corey (1995). Virologic characteristics of subclinical and symptomatic genital herpes infections. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 333:770-775.

Walz, M. A., R. W. Price and A. L. Notkins (1974). Latent ganglionic infection with herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2: Viral reactivation in vivo after neurectomy. *Science* **184**:1185-1187.

Walz, M. A., H. Yamamoto and A. L. Notkins (1976). Immunological response restricts number of cells in sensory ganglia infected with herpes simplex virus. *Nature* 264:554-556.

Warren, K. G., S. M. Brown, Z. Wroblewska, D. Gilden, H. Koprowski and J. Subak-Sharpe (1978). Isolation of latent herpes simplex virus from the superior cervical and vagus ganglions of human beings. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **298**:1068-1069.

Weiss, S. and B. Bogen (1991). MHC class II-restricted presentation of intracellular antigen. Cell 64:767-776.

Weller, S. K., E. P. Carmichael, D. P. Aschman, D. J. Goldstein and P. B. Schaffer (1987). Genetic and phenotypic characterisation of mutants in four essential genes that map to the left half of HSV-1 UL DNA. *Virol.* **161**:198-210.

Wesselingh, S. L., B. Levine, R. J. Fox, S. Choi and D. E. Griffin (1994). Intracerebral cytokine mRNA expression during fatal and nonfatal alphavirus encephalitis suggests a predominant type 2 T cell response. *J. Immunol.* **152**:1289-1297.

1

Whealy, M. E., J. P. Card, R. P. Meade, A. K. Robbins and L. W. Enquist (1991). Effect of brefeldin A on alpha herpesvirus membrane protein glycosylation and virus egress. J. Virol. 65:1066-1081.

1

Whitley, R., A. D. Lakeman, A. Nahmias and B. Roizman (1982). DNA restrictionenzyme analysis of herpes simplex virus isolates obtained from patients with encephalitis. *The New England Journal of Medicine* **307**:1060-1062.

Whittaker, J. A. and J. E. Hardson (1978). Severe thrombocytopenia after generalized herpes simplex virus-2 (HSV-2) infection. *Sthn. Med. J.* 71:864-865.

Whorton, C. M., D. M. Thomas and S. W. Denham (1983). Fatal systemic herpes simplex virus type 2 infection in a healthy young woman. *Sthn. Med. J.* **76**:81-83.

Wildy, P. (1973). Herpes: History and Classification. In *The Herpesviruses*, First Edn., Kaplan, A. S., Ed. New York, Academic Press. 1-25.

Wildy, P., H. J. Field and A. A. Nash (1982). Classical herpes latency revisited. In Virus Persistence, 33rd Symposium of the Society for General Microbiology, Mahy, B. W. J., A. C. Minson and G. K. Darby, Eds. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. 133-167.

Wildy, P. and D. H. Watson (1963). Electron microscopic studies on the architecture of animal viruses. Cold Spring Harbour Symp. *Quant. Biol.* 27:25-47.

Williams, L. R., S. Varon, G. M. Peterson, K. Wictorin, W. Fischer, A. Bjorklund and F. H. Gage (1986). Continuous infusion of nerve growth factor prevents basal forebrain neuronal death after fimbria fornix transection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:9231-9235.

Witmer, L. A., K. L. Rosenthal, F. L. Graham, H. M. Friedman, A. Yee and D. C. Johnson (1990). Cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for herpes simplex virus (HSV) studied using adenovirus vectors expressing HSV glycoproteins. J. Gen. Virol. 71:387-396.

Worthington, M., M. A. Conliffe and S. Baron (1980). Mechanism of recovery from systemic HSV infection. I. Comparative effectiveness of antibody and reconstitution of immune spleen cells on immunosupressed mice. J. Infect. Dis. 142:163-174.

Wright, H. T. (1973). Cytomegaloviruses. In *The Herpesviruses*, First Edn., Kaplan, A. S., Ed. New York, Academic Press. 353-388.

Wu, L. and P. S. Morahan (1992). Macrophages and other nonspecific defenses: role in modulating resistance against herpes simplex virus. *Curr. Topics Microbiol. Immunol.* **179**:89-110.

Wu, T. J., G. Monokian, D. F. Mark and C. R. Wobbe (1994). Transcriptional activation by herpes simplex virus type 1 VP16 in vitro and its inhibition by oligopeptides. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14:3484-3493.

Wudunn, D. and P. G. Spear (1989). Initial interaction of herpes simplex virus with cells is binding to heparan sulfate. J. Virol. 63:52-58.

Yamada, M. and H. Hatanaka (1994). Interleukin-6 protects cultured rat hippocampal neurons against glutamate-induced cell death. *Brain Res.* 643:173-180.

Yasukawa, M., A. Inatsuki and Y. Kobayashi (1989). Differential in vitro activation of CD4⁺CD8⁻ and CD8 CD4 herpes simplex virus-specific human cytotoxic T cells. *J. Immunol.* **143**:2051-2057.

Yasukawa, M., T. Shiroguchi and Y. Kobayashi (1983). HLA-restricted T lymphocytemediated cytotoxicity against herpes simplex virus-infected cells in humans. *Infect. Immun.* **40**:190-197.

Yasukawa, M. and J. M. Zarling (1984a). Human cytotoxic T cell clones directed against herpes simplex virus-infected cells. I. Lysis restricted by HLA MB and DR antigens. *J. Immunol.* **133**:422-457.

Yasukawa, M. and J. M. Zarling (1984b). Human cytotoxic T cell clones directed against herpes simplex virus-infected cells. II. Bifunctional clones with cytotoxic and virus-induced proliferative activities exhibit herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2 specific or type common reactivities. *J. Immunol.* **133**:2736.

Zawatsky, R., I. Gresser, E. DeMaeyer and H. Kirchner (1982). The role of interferon in the resistance of C57BL/6 mice to various doses of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Infect. Dis. 146:405.

Zeng, J., R. A. Gorski and D. Hamer (1994). Differential cDNA cloning by enzymatic degrading subtraction (EDS). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:4381-4385.

Zhang, H., R. Zhang and P. Liang (1996). Differential screeening of gene expression difference enriched by differential display. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 24:2454-2455.

Zhang, X., S. Efstathiou and A. Simmons (1994). Identification of novel herpes simplex virus replicative intermediates by field inversion gel electrophoresis: implications for viral DNA amplification strategies. *Virol.* **202**:530-539.

Ziegler, R. J. and R. E. Herman (1980). Peripheral infection in culture of rat sensory neurons by herpes simplex virus. *Infect. Immun.* 28:620-623.

Zigman, J. M., G. T. Westermark, J. LaMendola, E. Boel and D. F. Steiner (1993). Human G(olf) alpha: complementary deoxyribonucleic acid structure and expression in pancreatic islets and other tissues outside the olfactory neuroepithelium and central nervous system. *Endocrinology* **133**:2508-2514. Zinkernagel, R. M. and A. Althage (1977). Antiviral protection by virus-immune cytotoxic T cells: infected target cells are lysed before infectious progeny is assembled. *J. Exp. Med.* **145**:644-651.

Zinkernagel, R. M. and P. C. Doherty (1974). Restriction of *in vitro* T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. *Nature* 248:701-702.

Zisman, B., M. S. Hirsh and A. C. Allison (1970). Selective effects of anti-macrophage serum, silica and anti-lymphocyte serum on pathogenesis of herpes virus infection of young adult mice. *J. Immunol.* **104**:1155-1159.